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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

With the pandemic being on the wane, offline physical classes have resumed normal

operations, and our frontline educators who have received proactive training during
the pandemic have come into sight one by one. They got off to a good start in
terms of student enrollment for the new academic year and some of their courses
have reached maximum enrollment limit in the early stage of enrollment, thanks

to their well-established reputation on the market. | have reiterated that the
direction of tutoring in Hong Kong is no longer focusing on “star tutors”.
Beacon is a wellknown brand and its brand value is based on its ceaseless
diligence for the past 30-odd years. Education must be people-oriented; it is

not about idolatry, but about helping students to find the most suitable teachers

on an extensive platform. In the future, Beacon will offer more diversified
courses and continue fo expand its feaching feam, so that more choices can be
provided fo students. Also, we teach students to achieve their best results according
to their abilities and ensure that they have the right for selection. Subsequently, the
Group will also attain a healthy longferm development along with our students.

As the market is volatile, we have not only provided students with different education services to cover every stage of their learning
process, but have also sfrengthened the training of our frontline staff to help students and parents in gaining a better understanding of
students’ own learning needs, as well as selecting the most suitable leaming methods and courses for them through consultation with
our staff. Our education services are provided via one-on-one sessions, small groups and large classes with the combination of live,
live broadcast, video and joint broadcast classes and courses using English, Cantonese and Putonghua as the media of instruction.

Moreover, the Group has successfully completed a number of mergers and acquisitions and investment projects during the year
ended 31 July 2023. To cope with the Hong Kong SAR Government's talent development, refention and attraction initiatives, as well
as the Top Talent Pass Scheme and the Quality Migrant Admission Scheme, the Group has launched a variety of high-end services
relating to further education and career planning since last year, which not only provide students with the latest professional services
of further education consultation, but also add value to the operation of large-scale tutorials. In particular, the Group has achieved
remarkable results, by providing advice on subject selection, psychological counseling, background enhancement, pre- and post-
tutoring advice and follow-up services, global education information and advice, personal statement preparation and professional
service industry shadowing projects. Our expansion of business scope can also be seen in pre-school education and on=site school
services sectors.

Furthermore, the infernational education sector in mainland China is booming. The HKDSE education plays a pivotal role in opening
the door for fostering global talents. In September 2022, Beacon established a strategic cooperation in respect of the HKDSE
education with Beijing Normal University-Hong Kong Baptist University United Infernational College (UIC), being the first university
jointly founded by higher education institutions of mainland China and Hong Kong. Thanks to the efforts of both parties, a teaching
and research team has been formed in less than one year and has already started its operation. Besides, Beacon collaborated with
a school in mainland China to provide HKDSE-related courses and further education services, and satisfactory results have been
achieved in Shenzhen in just two years. To ensure our service quality, and to make sure that every student receives the utmost care,
we have prudently selected quality partners and pragmatically maintained limited expansion. On the one hand, we have mobilized
our experienced teaching and research staff from Hong Kong; on the other hand, we have actively recruited talents from mainland
China and abroad, making Beacon's international education service team stable and highly motivated. With our continuously
outstanding services, the Group's international education-related services in mainland China will grow steadily and become one of
its signature businesses.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

With the rapid development of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area ("Greater Bay Area”), HKDSE, as an
infernationalized education curriculum, has affracted more and more attention in mainland China. There are currently over 200,000
students with Hong Kong citizenship living in mainland China. However, this figure has not taken into account schoolage children
who have moved to mainland China with their family from Hong Kong, not to mention 10 million-plus students who may shift fo
take international examinations and courses in high school and further education after the Academic Test for the Junior High School
Students every year. It is notable that children who grow up in mainland China with Hong Kong citizenship are increasingly in need
of support from Hong Kong education talents and complementary resources. The number of overseas Chinese students from Hong
Kong, Macao and Taiwan taking the Joint Entrance Examination increased from 5,048 in 2022 to 7,238 in 2023. Of these 7000-
odd students, 5,097 candidates had Hong Kong citizenship. These figures show the awareness of the HKDSE among Hong Kong
citizens living in mainland China is not sufficient and more promotion is needed. In view of this, | have started uploading around fen
videos on social media platforms in Hong Kong and mainland China in my capacity as the chairman of the Group since July this
year, and the hit rate has exceeded 5 million within three months. Other experienced educators of the Group from Hong Kong and
mainland China have also appeared in the videos with confents covering the latest information of different academic levels in Hong
Kong, mainland China and abroad in order to assist parents and students of different backgrounds in making informed decisions on
what is the most suitable for them.

Beacon not only nurtures students but also helps our teaching staff and partners to grow with us and achieve their full potential while
nurturing the students. All of our educators with different talents and backgrounds can unleash their potential in our Group.

The development of an education enferprise is never a smooth journey, but because of this, we have learnt to cope with changes in
society and ifs policies. VWe will insist on making our own way step by step.

Thank you for all of your continuous encouragement and support along the way.
Education never fades. | hope BExcellent will leave its mark on more and more people at different stages of their lives.
Never forget why you started, and your goal will ultimately be achieved.

BExcellent, be excellent. We are always there for you.

Leung Ho Ki, June

Hong Kong
27 October 2023

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Introduction

Our Group is a leading provider of private supplementary secondary school education services in Hong Kong. We principally
engage in the provision of private supplementary secondary school education services and the operation of private secondary
day schools in Hong Kong. We dlso offer ancillary education services and products targefed at pre-school, kindergarten, primary
and secondary school students and individuals pursuing further education, other interest learning or personal development. We
provide private supplementary education services in feaching centres located on Hong Kong Island, in Kowloon and the New
Territories. During the year, our Group extended our ancillary services to education instituions in mainland China. Certain amounts
and percentage figures set out in this secfion “Management Discussion and Analysis” have been subject o rounding adjustments for
ease of presentation. Accordingly, figures presented herein may not be an arithmetic sum of such figures. As at 31 July 2023, we
operated 10 teaching centres, with a total of 80 classrooms, which, in accordance with the EDB's guidelines, allow a maximum
classroom capacity of 2,273 students to attend class at any one time.

Throughout the year ended 31 July 2023, the private supplementary secondary school education services industry in Hong Kong
faced numerous difficulties due to the formidable business landscape resulting from i) the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly in the first
half of the financial year; and ii) the changes in the HKDSE curriculum. Our Group recorded a decrease in revenue from HK$141.8
million for the year ended 31 July 2022, to HK$131.2 million for the year ended 31 July 2023, representing a decrease of
HK$10.7 million or 7.5%.

The Group's summer courses enrollment and revenue experienced a significant decline due to the fifth wave of the COVID-19
pandemic, which prompted local schools to reschedule their summer break to March and April 2022. Consequently, students were
obligated to atfend regular schooling during July and August 2022 and the demand for summer courses in such period significantly
dropped. The students’ learning momentum did not fully recover as shown in regular courses enrollment which commenced in
September 2022. Furthermore, the replacement of Liberal Studies with Citizenship and Social Development from HKDSE 2024
onwards, where Liberal Studies will no longer be graded, and the streamlining of the Chinese language curriculum with fewer
papers from HKDSE 2023 onwards affected the students’ enrollment in private supplementary secondary school education services
and thus the revenue.

The decrease in revenue sfarted to narrow for infensive courses as public health measures gradually eased in December 2022. Our
Group's strategy of business diversification and proactive marketing measures yielded positive outcomes, narrowing the decline in
revenue in the second half of the financial year. Our Group also witnessed an encouraging growth in cerfain new business inifiafives.
Notably, our school services in mainland China and Hong Kong, and the newly acquired business specializing in postHKDSE
education services showcased a pleasant upward momentum. These positive frends indicated a gradual recovery for the Group's
business.

Revenue

We offer a range of education programmes and services in Hong Kong and mainland China under the following three categories:
i) private supplementary secondary school education services;

i) private secondary day school services; and

i)  ancillary education services and products.

Set out below is a summary of our revenue for each category of services which we provided for each of the years ended 31 July
2023 and 2022:

For the year ended 31 July

2023 2022

Private supplementary secondary school education services 87,008 113,942
Private secondary day school services 11,570 8,784
Ancillary education services and products 32,584 19,103
131,162 141,829

Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

i)

Private supplementary secondary school education services

Our Group provides private supplementary secondary school education services for students from Secondary 1 to Secondary
6 under our “Beacon College” (I E4R) brand. The following table sefs forth the gross revenue, the number of session
enrollments of each category and the average course fee of private supplementary secondary school education services for

each of the years ended 31 July 2023 and 2022:

For the year ended 31 July

2023 2022
Session Session

enrollment Revenue enrollment Revenue

‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000

Regular courses 93 64,247 117 81,034

Infensive courses 26 14,545 27 13,838

Summer courses 13 8,216 35 19,070

Total 132 87,008 179 113,942
Average course fee per session

enrollment (HK$) 659 637

The Group experienced a decline in revenue from private supplementary secondary school education services, amounting fo a
decrease of 23.6% or HK$26.9 million compared to that of the previous financial year. Such decline was attributed to various
factors. Firstly, the COVID-19 pandemic led to the local schools’ summer breck being brought forward to early 2022, resulting
in a substantial decrease in session enrollment for summer courses, specifically a decline of 62.9% or 22,000. The leaming
momentum among students did not show a noticeable improvement in regular courses immediately after the resumption of
normal school hours, leading to a further decline of 20.5% or 24,000 in session enrollment for regular courses. Secondly,
the changes in the HKDSE curriculum affected students” intention 1o seek private supplementary secondary school education
services for exam preparation. Specifically, the replacement of liberal Studies with Citizenship and Social Development, as
well as the cancellation of papers in the Chinese Language subject, affected students’ demand for these services. However, it
is worth nofing that these changes may enhance the learning momentum in English language and other subjects, as students
are able to reallocate their learning time fo critical subjects fo better suit their study plans or plans of further studies. The Group
offered less allowances and bursaries after the COVID-19 pandemic, which resulted in a higher average course fee per
session enrollment.

Private secondary day school services

We operated two private secondary day schools located respectively in Yuen long and Mong Kok under our “Beacon Day
School” (32 B#R) brand. Due fo the increase in the number of student enrollments in our private secondary day school during
the year ended 31 July 2023, the revenue increased by 31.7% when compared with that in the previous financial year. There
was no change of school fee during the year.

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

Ancillary education services and products

Our Group aimed to diversify our education business in recent years and we offers various ancillary education services
and products such as (i) IELTS and foreign language courses under our “Beacon BExcellent” brand; (i) mock examination
services; [iii) education services to schools and instfitutions in Hong Kong and mainland China under our “Diverse Learning
Club" (%88 ), "1% Group Education” (E{k#A) and "Hong Kong Beacon International Education” (278 12 B R
#A) brands respectively; [iv] VIP selfstudy services; (v] tutorial and consultation services, interview preparation, language
and supplementary primary school education under our childhood education brands, educational services under our “Ascent
Prep” brand, BTEC level 3 Certificate in Enterprise and Entrepreneurship and language courses under “Beacon CAPE” brand,
products including but not limited fo online course scheduling and management services, as well as online retail and education
businesses under our “Beacon Living” and “CourseZ" brands respectively. The table below shows the revenue components of
the ancillary education services and products for each of the years ended 31 July 2023 and 2022:

For the year ended 31 July

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

School services 16,354 3,961
Beacon BExcellent 4,570 5,468
Mock examination services 3,690 3,942
VIP selfstudy services 909 853
Childhood and other education services 7,061 4,879
Total 32,584 19,103

Note: Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

School services became the largest revenue contributor of our ancillary education services and products during the year. We
offered various school services fo education institutions in both Shenzhen of mainland China and Hong Kong. With respect
fo the policy and advocacy of integration among cities in the Greater Bay Area, there is an increasing demand for HKDSE-
related education services in mainland China and the provision of consultancy services and support to various education
institutions resulted in this strong growth. Moreover, our Group offered various academic and activity-based programmes fo
around 150 schools in Hong Kong, the relaxation of anti-epidemic measures imposed by the Education Bureau on schools
during late 2022 has released the demand of schools acquiring education services from third parties. Our newly acquired
business under our “1% Group Education” (EkZ4E) brand that assisted educational institutions in the execution of student
recruitment plans and offered mentorship services fo students also contributed to the revenue growth. Our revenue derived from
school services increased significantly by HK$12.4 million or 313% from HK$4.0 million for the year ended 31 July 2022 to
HK$16.4 million for the year ended 31 July 2023.

The revenue of Beacon BExcellent decreased by HK$0.9 million or 16.4% from HK$5.5 million for the year ended 31 July
2022 to HK$4.6 million for the year ended 31 July 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the revenue decline in IELTS
courses which were affributable to, amongst others, the rising popularity of alternative language proficiency tests like Duolingo,
the increasing availability of free online resources and seltstudy materials, and the economic downtum in Hong Kong.

The revenue of mock examination services slightly decreased by HK$0.3 million or 6.4% from HK$3.9 million for the year
ended 31 July 2022 to HK$3.7 million for the year ended 31 July 2023. This decrease was primarily atfributed to the decline
in the demand for the mock examination services for Liberal Studies. Due to the chonge in the HKDSE curriculum, starting from
HKDSE 2024 onwards, liberal Studies will be replaced by Citizenship and Social Development, which will not carry grades
in the HKDSE. As a result, students anficipated a high passing rate for the last examination cohort of Liberal Studies and,
consequently, there was a reduced demand for mark examination services for the subject.

Childhood and other education services comprise revenue arising from i) the provision of childhood education services; i)
certain postHKDSE courses such as BTEC level 3 Certificate in Enterprise and Entrepreneurship and language courses; iii
onine learning platforms, such as CourseZ.com and Junewing.com; and iv] online store namely Beacon Living. The relevant
revenue increased by HK$2.2 million or 44.7% from HK$4.9 million for the year ended 31 July 2022 to HK$7.1 million for
the year ended 31 July 2023. Such an increase was mainly attributed fo the revenue generated from the new course, BTEC
level 3 Certificate in Enterprise and Enfrepreneurship, which was designed for students who have completed HKDSE and are
looking fo pursue confinuous education.

Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The business environment of private supplementary secondary school education services in Hong Kong continues to pose challenges
to our Group, including the recent decrease in population and, consequently, the decrease in number of secondary school students,
as well as the changes in the HKDSE curriculum. However, we remain steadfast in our commitment to adapt to the changing
landscape in order fo ensure our viability and prosperity. Since the public health measures related to COVID-19 have gradually come
to an end and crossborder travel between Hong Kong and mainland China has resumed since in February 2023, we anticipate
a more vibrant business environment in the coming financial year. This presents a welcomed opportunity as students who stayed in
mainland China during the COVID-19 pandemic are expected to refum to Hong Kong for their studies.

To capitalize on these developments, we will continue to explore ways to enhance the profitability of the private supplementary
secondary school education services in Hong Kong. This includes enhancing our teaching team by recruiting more high-caliber tutors
and providing classes with different learning modes, including one-on-one services, small groups, and large classes. Additionally,
we are incorporating a combination of live sessions, live broadcasts, video contents, and joint broadcast classes to enrich students’
learning experience. Our courses are also designed fo cater fo the diverse linguistic needs of our students, utilizing English,
Canfonese, and Putonghua as the media of instruction.

In line with our commitment to diversification, we have also acquired a subsidiary that operates various postsecondary programmes
to diversify our business portfolio and generate a steady stream of income. In addition fo this acquisition, we have also established
a strategic business combination through an investment in an associate. This collaboration allows us to leverage synergies and
streamline our services in overseas studies consultation, which further strengthens our position in this market segment. At the same
time, the development of our education services fo school is expecting an even more pleasant growth, extending its reach to more
schools and institutions in Hong Kong and mainland China.

As we move forward, our Group will take strategic steps to develop the international education market in mainland China and
offer more HKDSE-related and other international-curriculum-related services, such as HKDSE education services to schools, student
assessments, and Hong Kong and overseas sfudies consultation services. The remarkable growth we have witnessed in the provision
of education services in mainland China is expected fo continue in the coming financial year as our expansion efforts bear fruits.
Looking ahead, we will remain vigilant in identifying potential investment and collaboration opportunities that align with our strategic
objectives and add value to our business portfolio, ensuring a sustainable growth and continuous enhancement of our education
services.

Despite the challenges we face, we maintain an optimistic outlook regarding the future of the private supplementary secondary school
education services industry in Hong Kong. With our resilient management team and our unwavering commitment to adapting fo the
constantly changing landscape, we are well-positioned to capitalize on opportunities and achieve sustainable growth in the times
ahead. Our proactive approach in identifying and pursuing growth opportunities reflects our dedication to maintaining a competitive
edge and delivering long-erm value to our stakeholders.

As we look forward, we are confident in our ability to navigate in the evolving business environment, expand our international
presence, and continue diversifying our education services. By doing so, we will enhance our position as a leading provider of high-
quality feaching services while capturing growth opportunities in both Hong Kong and mainland China.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the components of our revenue, please refer to the section headed “Business Review” above.
The Group's total revenue decreased by HK$10.7 million, or 7.5%, from HK$141.8 million for the year ended 31 July 2022
to HK$131.2 million for the year ended 31 July 2023. This was mainly due to the revenue decline from the provision of private

supplementary secondary school education services, partially offset by the revenue growth in both private secondary day school
services and ancillary education services and products.

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

Revenue from the provision of private supplementary secondary school education services decreased by HK$26.9 million, or 23.6%
from HK$113.9 million for the year ended 31 July 2022 to HK$87.0 million for the year ended 31 July 2023, which was largely
due to the decrease in the number of the Group's session enrollments by 47,000 or 26.3% from 179,000 for the year ended 31
July 2022 to 132,000 for the year ended 31 July 2023. Revenue from the provision of the ancillary education services and products
increased by HK$13.5 million, or 70.6% from HK$19.1 million for the year ended 31 July 2022 to HK$32.6 million for the year
ended 31 July 2023. Such an increase was mainly atiributed fo the boost of income of school services from both mainland China
and Hong Kong, and the increase in the revenue from childhood and other education services.

Other income

Other income primarily consists of government subsidies, T service income, rental income from an investment property, interest
income from bank deposits and advertising income. Other income decreased by HK$4.0 million or 26.4%, from HK$15.0 million
for the year ended 31 July 2022 to HK$11.1 million for the year ended 31 July 2023. The decrease was mainly attributed to the
reduction in government subsidies amounting to HK$10.7 million, with the absence of the “Anti-epidemic Fund” during the year
ended 31 July 2023.

Maijor costs component

The summary below shows the major costs components of our Group among which approximately 55.4% (2022: approximately
60.2%) is related to labour costs (comprising of staff costs and tutor service fees), followed by printing and other operating expenses,
shortterm lease, variable lease and low-value lease payments, depreciation of rightof-use ("ROU") assets, and advertising and
promotion expenses:

2023 2022
HK$'000 % of revenue HK$'000 % of revenue
Staff costs 67,167 51.2 70,047 49.4
Tutor service fees 26,168 20.0 33,012 23.3
Depreciation of ROU assets 12,152 9.3 14,619 10.3
Shortterm lease, variable lease and
low-value lease payments 12,256 9.3 11,012 7.8
Advertising and promotion expenses 5,666 43 4,288 3.0
Printing and other operating expenses 44,997 34.3 38,320 27.0
Staff costs

As at 31 July 2023, the Group had 189 fulHime employees and maintained an accumulated pool of 86 parttime employees for
seasonal and cyclical business needs.

Staff costs mainly consist of (i) salaries, allowances and bonus; (i) pension costs and (i) share-based payment incurred for our
employees.

The staff costs decreased by approximately HK$2.9 million or approximately 4.1% from approximately HK$70.0 million for the year
ended 31 July 2022 to approximately HK$67.2 million for the year ended 31 July 2023. Such decrease was mainly attributable to
the continuous effort in corporate savings and compensated by the increase in sfaffing fo support the Group's business expansion in
mainland China.

Tutor service fees

Tufor service fees include service agreements and share-based payments. Typically, we offer a revenue sharing scheme to our
tutors and thus the tutor service fees are in general positively correlated to our Group's revenue. Such expenses decreased from
approximately HK$33.0 million or 20.7% for the year ended 31 July 2022 to approximately HK$26.2 million for the year
ended 31 July 2023. The decrease was mainly affributable to the decrease in revenue from the provision of private supplementary
secondary school education services.

Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

Depreciation of ROU assets and short-term lease, variable lease and low-value lease payments

Depreciation of ROU assets and shortterm lease, variable lease and low-value lease payments are part of the largest components
of the Group's operating costs, accounting for 9.3% and 9.3% respectively (2022: 10.3% and 7.8%) of the Group’s fotal revenue.
During the financial year, the Group continued its negotiations with landlords for rental concessions and more favorable lease terms
in respect of the renewal of lease contracts. The Group has taken steps to continuously review the utilisation and efficiency of the
classroom resources by taking into account factors including but not limited to the occupancy rate, the rent and the lease terms.
During the year ended 31 July 2023, there was no material change in classroom capacity within our feaching centre network except
for the commencement of our new teaching centre in Causeway Bay in September 2022. The overall lease payment for the year
ended 31 July 2023 decreased as a result of the continuous feaching centre network optimization conducted in recent years.

Advertising and promotion expenses

In recent years, our regular promotion and advertisement strategically shifted to online channels and social media platforms such
as Google, Instagram and Facebook, which were relatively more effective and efficient than traditional offline channels such as
billboard, advertisement on transportation, foamboard and banners. Short videos and live broadcast marketing for promotional
purpose were made periodically. With the gradual resumption of normal schooling, the Group has put more resources in both
traditional and digital markefing channels and campaigns, which resulted in an increase in advertising and promotion expenses
by HK$ 1.4 million or 32.1% from HK$4.3 million for the year ended 31 July 2022 to HK$5.7 million for the year ended 31 July
2023.

Printing and other operating expenses

Printing and other operating expenses primarily consist of the printing expenses, building management fees, service fees to
freelancers, legal and professional fees, utilities and other administrative expenses. These expenses increased by HK$6.7 million or
17.4%, from HK$38.3 million for the year ended 31 July 2022 to HK$45.0 million for the year ended 31 July 2023. The increase
was mainly attributable 1o the service fees to freelancers by HK$3.6 million from HK$4.0 million for the year ended 31 July 2022
to HK$7.6 million for the year ended 31 July 2023 in order fo support the significant growth in the business of school services right
after the COVID-19 pandemic under the “Diverse learning Club” (2702 %&%5) brand. On the other hand, cerfain mergers and
acquisitions during the year also contributed to an increase of legal and professional costs by approximately HK$ 1.1 million.

Income tax expense

The income tax expense for the year ended 31 July 2023 was HK$0.2 million (2022: 1.9 million). The decrease in tax expenses
by HK$1.7 million or 91% was mainly attributable to the decrease in deferred tax in relation to share-based compensation and
accounting depreciation of HK$0.8 million and HK$ 1.1 million, respectively for the year ended 31 July 2023.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a loss of HK$26.9 million for the year ended 31 July 2023. The loss during the year was mainly due to the

decrease in revenue.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

As at 31 July 2023, the Group's net current asset value was HK$10.5 million, which mainly consisted of accounts receivables,
deposits, prepayments and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents less other payables, contract liabilities, current income
tax payable, borrowings and lease liabilities. The Group's current assets decreased from HK$126.7 million as at 31 July 2022
to HK$111.4 million as ot 31 July 2023. Such an decrease in current assets was primarily due to the decrease in cash and cash
equivalents from HK$103.9 million as at 31 July 2022 to HK$75.3 million as at 31 July 2023. As at 31 July 2023, the current
ratio of the Group (expressed as current assets divided by current liabilities) was 1.10, compared with 1.44 as at 31 July 2022.
Such a decrease in current ratio was mainly attributed fo the increase in borrowing from HK$55.1 million as at 31 July 2022 to
HK$63.6 million as at 31 July 2023.

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

Material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

i)

Acquisition of 51% Equity Interest in Ottorino Consultants (International) Limited (“OCIL”)

On 25 October 2022, Beacon Holdings Limited ["BHL", being an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), entered
into a subscription and sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Cheng Hong Fu and Ms. Ng Mei Yee (“Mr. Cheng and Ms.
Ng”) and OCIL (@ company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) {"OCIL Agreement”], pursuant to which, (i) BHL
condifionally agreed to subscribe for 25,500 new farget shares to be allotied and issued by the OCIL af the subscription
consideration of HK$3,187,500 payable in cash at completion; and (i) BHL conditionally agreed to purchase, and Mr.
Cheng and Ms. Ng conditionally agreed to sell, a total of 25,500 issued shares in OCIL held by Mr. Cheng and Ms. Ng af
the acquisition consideration of HK$3,187,200 to be seffled by the allotment and issue of 3,984,000 consideration Shares
at the issue price of HK$0.80 per consideration Share under the general mandate (which was granted to the Directors by the
Shareholders af the Annual General Meeting held on 8 December 2021 1o allot, issue and deal with up to 100,000,000
Shares) by the Company fo Mr. Cheng and Ms. Ng. The 3,984,000 consideration Shares represent: (i) approximately 0.80%
of the number of issued Shares as af the date of the OCIL Agreement; and [ii) approximately 0.79% of the number of issued
Shares as enlarged by the allotment and issue of the consideration Shares upon completion.

All of the conditions precedent under the OCIL Agreement have been fulfilled and the complefion took place on 30 November
2022. Upon complefion, OCIL is held as to 51% by BHL and becomes an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Details of this transaction were disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 25 October 2022 and 30
November 2022 respectively.

Investment in Linkedu Overseas Education Limited (“Linkedu”)

On 30 March 2023, Glocal Development Group Limited ["GDGL"), the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary, entered
into the agreement for sale and purchase of and subscription for shares in Linkedu with Linkedu, Mr. Ng Yu Ting and Mr.
Llau Chun Tat ("Mr. Ng and Mr. Lau”) [“linkedu Agreement”), pursuant to which (i) GDGL condifionally agreed to purchase,
and Mr. Ng and Mr. Llau conditionally agreed fo sell, a tofal of 210,000 issued shares in linkedu at the consideration of
HK$3,968,400 to be setiled by (i) cash consideration of HK$1,050,000; and |ii) the allotment and issue of 3,648,000
consideration Shares under the general mandate (which was granted to the Directors by an ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders passed at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 14 December 2022 to allot, issue and dedl
with up to 100,796,800 Shares) by the Company at the issue price of HK$0.80 per consideration Share to Mr. Ng and
Mr. Llau af Q0:10 ratio upon complefion of the said sale and purchase; and (i) GDGL conditionally agreed to subscribe for
90,000 new shares to be allotied and issued by linkedu at the subscription price of HK$5,211,600, which is to be regarded
as safisfied in whole by the transfer of all the ordinary shares in Academic Advisers Limited ("AA”") and Glocal Education
Services Limited ("GES"), both the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries immediately before completion of the said
subscription, such that GDGL shall hold 30% of the total shares in issue in Linkedu immediately after completion of the said sale
and purchase and subscription.

All of the conditions precedent under the Linkedu Agreement have been fulfilled and the completion ook place on 31 May
2023. Upon completion, GES and AA were no longer subsidiaries of the Group and GDGL holds 30% of Linkedu and the
invesiment is accounted for under “Interests in Associates” as set ouf in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements on
page 94 of this Annual Report. Defails of this transaction were disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 30

March 2023 and 31 May 2023 respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the year ended 31 July 2023.

Charges on the Group’s Assets

The Group has an investment property with carrying value of approximately HK$18.0 million pledged to secure borrowings and

general banking facilities granted to the Group. There was no charge on the Group's other asses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

Gearing ratio

As at 31 July 2023, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated based on bank borrowings amounting to approximately HK$63.6 million
and lease liabilities amounting to approximately HK$19.4 million divided by equity atfributable to the owners of the Company as at
the year-end date amounting to approximately HK$77.1 million) was approximately 107.6% (31 July 2022: 74.9%).

Contingent liabilities

The Group did not have any material confingent liabilities as at 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).

Dividends
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LEUNG Ho Ki, June (REH), aged 58, is a cofounder of our Group, the Chairman of our Company and was appointed as
a Director on 15 April 2015 and designated as an executive Director on 21 June 2018. Ms. June leung is a director of Beacon
Enterprise Limited which, as af the date of this Annual Report, is a controlling shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the
Company and whose interest is further disclosed in the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report. Ms. June leung is also a director of 3
subsidiaries of our Group. During her 34 years with our Group, she has been responsible for the overall management of our private
supplementary education services as well as strategic planning and development of our Group. Ms. June Leung performs a leadership
role in moniforing and evaluating our business, strategic planning and major decision making for our Group. In particular, she has
developed our Group's overall business model and product portfolio as well as formulated our adverfising and markefing sfrategy.
Prior fo assuming her role as Chairman, Ms. June leung held the position of a teacher and a manager of our Group. Ms. June
Lleung graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a degree in Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in December 1989 and obtained a
Doctorate of Business Administration from the European University in May 2011 through distance learning. She was registered as a
teacher under the Education Ordinance section 45(1) in February 1999. Ms. June Leung is the spouse of Mr. Tam Wai lung, Chief
Executive Officer of our Company and executive Director and aunt of Mr. Li Man Wai, executive Director.

Ms. June leung is currently the chairperson of the board of Plan International Hong Kong, which strives for a just world that advances
children’s rights and equality for girls. She also serves as the executive vice president in the Merchants Support for Rehabilitated
Offenders Committee. In 2019, Ms. June leung was awarded as an Honorary Fellow of The Professional Validation Centre of
Hong Kong Business Sector. Ms. June Lleung was also honoured with “Golden Bauhinia Women Enfrepreneur Award 2017", which
was conferred by the Golden Bauhinia VWWomen Entfrepreneur Association for recognising her outstanding business achievements
and entrepreneurship in 2017; the Greater Bay Area Outstanding Women Enfrepreneur Award presented by Hong Kong Small
and Medium Enterprises Association and FM 104 Metro Finance in 2018; Junzi Enfrepreneur Award presented by The Hang Seng
University of Hong Kong in 2019 for her devotion in sustainable entrepreneurship; and "CEO Marketer of the Year” in the “Market
Leadership Award” presented by Hong Kong Insfitute of Marketing in 2021.

Mr. TAM Wai Lung (#%Z&8E), aged 58, the Chief Executive Officer of our Company, was appointed as a Director on 15 April
2015 and designated as an executive Director on 21 June 2018. Mr. Tam is a direcfor of Beacon Enterprise Limited which, as at
the date of this Annual Report, is a controlling shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company and whose inferest is
further disclosed in the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report. Mr. Tam is also a direcfor of 15 subsidiaries of our Group. Throughout
the past 23 years, Mr. Tam has focused on private supplementary tutorial services, executive management and the strategic
development of our Group. During his 25 years of service in our Group, he has been responsible for the overall operations, finances
and administration of our education services, as well as strategic planning and development. Mr. Tam is the spouse of Ms. leung Ho
Ki, June, Chairman of our Company and executive Director and uncle of Mr. Li Man Wai, executive Director.

Mr. CHAN Tsz Ying, Wister (BR ¥ 3%), aged 62, is the head principal of day school for our Group and was appointed as a Director
on 9 September 2015 and designated as an executive Director on 21 June 2018. Mr. Chan is also a director of 4 subsidiaries of
our Group. Mr. Chan has been a teacher for over 30 years and is focused primarily on secondary day school education services.
During his 33 years with our Group, he has been responsible for the establishment and management of our private secondary day
school operations. Prior to his role as head principal of our private secondary day school, Mr. Chan held the position of a teacher
at Wellwisher Foundation Primary School from 1986 to 1987 and at A.D. & F.D. of Pok Oi Hospital Mrs. Cheng Yam On Primary
School from 1987 to 1990. Mr. Chan was awarded a Teachers Certificate from the Northcote College of Education (now known
as The Education University of Hong Kong] in July 1986 and graduated from University of Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom
with a Bachelor of Education in June 1997. Mr. Chan was registered as a teacher under the Education Ordinance section 45(1) in
November 1986.

Mr. LI Man Wai (Z3018), aged 51, is our Deputy Chief Executive Officer of our Company and was appointed as a Director
on @ September 2015 and designated as an executive Director on 21 June 2018. Mr. li is also a director of 28 subsidiaries of
our Group. He has, since the establishment of our Group, acquired experience in the education business, focusing on operation,
administration and marketing of tutorial services and secondary school education services. Mr. Li joined our Group in 1989 and was
appointed as Deputy Chief Executive Officer of our Group in 2000. During his 34 years with our Group, he has been responsible
for the marketing of our Group's education services, as well as tutorial and course management and leasing arrangements. Mr. Li
is a nephew of Mr. Tam Wai lung, Chief Executive Officer of our Company and executive Director, and Ms. leung Ho Ki, June,
Chairman of our Company and executive Director.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWAN Chi Hong (B8 E), aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 November 2017,
having served the Company for approximately 6 years. Mr. Kwan has over 20 years of managerial and senior management
experience in the commercial and public sector. Mr. Kwan is currently the chairman of Zebra Wellness Group Limited. He served as
an executive director of Bamboos Health Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 2293) since the group’s establishment from 2009 to
2019. During his managerial stint in the public sector, from February 1995 to December 2007, he worked as an executive officer
in various government departments including Regisfration and Electoral Office, Urban Services Department, Home Affairs Department,
Hong Kong Police Force and Chief Secretary for Administration’s Office Government Secretariat. Mr. Kwan was a parttime teacher
of certain bachelor/diploma courses in Chinese Medicine conducted by HKU School of Professional and Continuing Education from
2013 to 2016. Mr. Kwan was awarded the Young Entrepreneur of the Year 2012 from the Hong Kong Business Awards hosted
by DHL Express and South China Morning Post and the EY Entrepreneur of the Year 2013 China — Emerging Entrepreneur hosted by
EY.

Mr. Kwan obtained a bachelor's degree in Economics and a master’s degree in Economics from The University of Hong Kong
in January 1995 and December 2005 respectively. Mr. Kwan has complefed a programme in Executive MBA and obtained a
master’s degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2007. Mr. Kwan is currently an
independent non-executive director of Stream Ideas Group Llimited (sfock code: 8401) whose shares are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Kwan was an independent nonexecutive director of China Brilliant Global Limited (stock code: 8026) from
February 2018 to November 2021, and Janco Holdings Limited (stock code: 8035) from May 2021 to October 2022, whose
shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. LI Kai Sing (Z=RE), aged 61, was appoinfed as an independent non-executive Director on 21 June 2018, having served
the Company for approximately 5 years. He is currently an executive director of Focus Films Limited and has working experience
in various fields including accounting, film and enfertainment business. From July 1985 to January 1989, he worked at Coopers &
Lybrand (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers), an accounting firm, with the last position held as a Supervisor II. From January
1989 to June 1992, he then worked at Management Investment & Technology Company Llimited with the last position held as a
senior accounting manager where he was responsible for planning and managing the daily accounting and financial operation of
the company. From July 1992 to December 1993, he was the vice-president, finance of leading Spirit (Holdings) Company Llimited
[now known as leading Spirit High-Tech (Holdings) Company Limited). Mr. Li was the financial controller of China Star Entertainment
Limited (stock code: 326), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, between June 1999 and July 2000.
From August 2000 to September 2003, he was the chief financial officer of Team Work Corporation Limited and was responsible
for developing and implementing the strategic plans and monitoring the infernal control system of the company.

Mr. Li was an independent non-executive director of Brightstar Technology Group Co., ltd (formerly known as In Technical
Productions Holdings Limited) (stock code:8446) from May 2017 to May 2022, its shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Li has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1988, an associate of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants in 1988 and a member of the Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong since 2004. Mr. Li
graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1985 with a bachelor degree of social science and from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology with an executive master degree of business administration in 2007

Professor WONG Roderick Sue Cheun (E#2), aged 79, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 21 June
2018, having served the Company for approximately 5 years. Professor WWong obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from San
Diego State College [now known as San Diego State University) in the United States in November 1965 and a degree of Doctor
of Philosophy in mathematics from the University of Alberta in Canada in November 1969. Professor Wong is currently an Emeritus
Professor of Mathematics at City University of Hong Kong, and he was the Chair Professor of Mathematics at City University of Hong
Kong before his refirement in 2019. He is a fellow of the Royal Society of Canada and Chevalier dans I'Ordre National de la
Légion d'Honneur of France, and a member of the European Academy of Sciences.

Professor Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of Sam VWoo Construction Group Limited (stock code: 3822) and
G&M Holdings limited (stock code: 6038) whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHOI Shing Wai (£#i1&), FCPA, aged 41, is the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and company
secretary of our Group. Mr. Choi joined our Company in December 2014, having served the Group for approximately @ vears,
and is primarily responsible for the overall operations, financial management of our Group as well as strategic planning, overseeing
accounting, company secrefarial and interal control matters of our Group. Mr. Choi has over 18 vears of experience in professional
accounting and auditing practice. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Choi worked as an auditor in the assurance division of Grant
Thornton, a certified public accountants firm, from September 2004 to November 2006. Mr. Choi then worked as a senior
associate and was promoted to manager of the assurance division of PricewaterhouseCoopers in October 2009. Mr. Choi was
then transferred to the Capital Market Accounting Advisory Service Group of PricewaterhouseCoopers in December 2011 and was
later promoted to senior manager in October 2012 and up to his joining our Group in December 2014.

Mr. Choi obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration {Honours) in Accountancy and Management Information Systems
from City University of Hong Kong in November 2004. Mr. Choi has become an associate member and a fellow of the Hong Kong
Insfitute of Certified Public Accountants since April 2008 and March 2019 respectively.

Mr. TAM Lin Bong (B#RFE), aged 45, is the Chief Operating Officer of our Group and is responsible for human resources
management, recruitment and employment policies, internal control matters and external liaison of our Group. Mr. Tam joined our
Group as a teaching assistant in September 2002, having served the Group for approximately 21 years since then, and became the
human resources manager of Beacon College in April 2012. Mr. Tam was appointed as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of our
Group in June 2013 and the Chief Operating Officer in August 2018. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Tam worked as a teaching
assistant in Kwun Tong Government Secondary School (E13&E 32 # £) from February 2002 to July 2002.

Mr. Tam obtained a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) from Hong Kong Baptist University in December 2001
and graduated with a Master of Business Administration degree with distinction from University of lowa, the United States in August
2015. Mr. Tam also obtained a diploma in teaching English as a second language from the School of Continuing Studies of The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in January 2005. Mr. Tam was awarded the Certificate in Employment Ordinance by the Hong
Kong Management Association in April 2013. Mr. Tam has also completed several training workshops organised by the Hong Kong
Council for Accreditation of Academic and Vocational Qualifications in 2014.

Mr. CHEUNG Chi Keung (3R #), aged 44, was appointed as the Chief Information Officer of the Group in January 2019, having
served the Group for approximately 4 years. Mr. Cheung graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology
with a bachelor's degree of Engineering in Computer Science in 2002. Mr. Cheung has over 19 years of solid experience in IT and
systfem design. He has been the director of Vioo Company Limited prior to joining the Group and handled a variety of IT projects in
insurance, finance and education industry, and helped companies fo digitalize their business. Mr. Cheung was awarded The 24th
Innovative Entrepreneur Award presented by the Junior Chamber International Hong Kong in 2020.

Mr. NG Wai Lun (R1&%%), aged 35, is the Deputy Chief Operating Officer of our Group and is responsible for course
management, overseeing marketing and design plans and public relations of our Group. Mr. Ng joined our Group in June 2010
as the administration assistant of Beacon College, having served the Group for approximately 13 years since then. Mr. Ng was
appointed as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of our Group in July 2013. Mr. Ng obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social
Science from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2010.

Dr. LUO Guanzhong (B5EH), aged 68, was appointed as the Chief Assessment Scienfist of the Group in March 2019, having
served the Group for over 4 years. Dr. Luo held a doctorate degree of philosophy in Mathematical Psychology obtained from
Murdoch University in 1995. Prior to joining the Group, Dr. luo was the Director — Assessment Technology and Research (D-ATR) at
the HKEAA and had been serving the authority for almost 15 years. Before his sfint af the HKEAA, Dr. Luo had held various academic
posifions as professor and adjunct professor at a number of universities in mainland China, Singapore and Australia. Currently Dr.
Luo holds professorship in Jiangxi Normal University of the People’s Republic of China. Dr. luo's major areas of research include
development of various psychometric models and parameter estimation algorithms for achievement and attitude measurements. His
publications are internationally recognized, in particular the computer programmes for test data analysis and processing developed/
codeveloped by him are widely used by numerous major examination organisations and academic researchers in the education
industry globally.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Shing Wai (8% {&), FCPA, was appointed as our company secrefary with effect from @ September 2015. Further
information on Mr. Choi is set forth in the section headed “Senior Management” above.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board is pleased fo present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
July 2023.

INCORPORATION AND LISTING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 April 2015 as an exempted company with limited liability. The Shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is a leading provider of private supplementary secondary
school education services in Hong Kong and principally engages in the provision of private supplementary secondary school
education services, the operation of private secondary day schools and offer ancillary education services and products targeted at
pre-school, kindergarten, primary and secondary school students and individual pursuing further education offer interest learning and/
or personal development. The Company and a maijority of its subsidiaries operate principally in Hong Kong. A list of the Company's
principal subsidiaries, together with their places of incorporation and principal activities, is set out in note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements on page 93.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 July 2023, including discussion and analysis of the Group's
financial performance and future business developments, as required by Schedule 5 fo the Companies Ordinance, is set out in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 1 to 2 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 12. Discussion
of the particulars of important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the end of the year ended 31 July 2023 up to
the date of this Annual Report (if any) is set out on page 31 of this Annual Report. These discussions form part of this Annual Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties related to the business of the Group are as below:

*  Our Group has substantial reliance on our Top Five Tutors, in particular, a significant proportion of our revenue, profitability
and business is generated from courses and products provided by our Top Five Tutors during the year ended 31 July 2023.
Our operations and profits may be materially and adversely affected if we cannot retain or maintain a good relationship
with our tufors or our tutors fail to deliver high-quality teaching. Moreover, if our Group is not able to enforce the restrictive
covenants of the employment contracts or services agreements against our futors fo prevent them from immediately and directly
competing with our Group within and/or after the restrained period, our business, operating and financial results may be
materially and adversely affected.

e Our Group's business is dependent on the market recognition of our brand and reputation; any negative publicity to our
teaching feam could cause damage to our brand and reputation and would materially and adversely affect our business.

e Profection of infellectual property rests a prioritized responsibility of the Group's teaching team and the business. Any
infringement claims against our Group could expose us fo litigation risk or could adversely affect our reputation.

e Our business is subject fo the regulation of the Education Ordinance and its subsidiary legislations, in particular, valid relevant
registrations or exemptions are substantial fo our business operation. In the event of failure in obtaining or maintaining such
registrations or exemptions or other non-compliances with the aforesaid legislations, our operation may be suspended and our
business, operating and financial results may be materially and adversely affected.

The above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised fo make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the Shares.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31 July 2023 by business activities is sef out in nofe 5 to the consolidated
financial statements on page 81.
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RESULTS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 July 2023 and the state of affairs of the Group as at that date are sef out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 108.

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For defermining the entilement to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM to be held on Tuesday, 19 December 2023 (or at any
adjournment of i), the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 14 December 2023 to Tuesday, 19
December 2023, both days inclusive, during which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order fo be eligible to attend and vote
at the forthcoming AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 13 December 2023.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the last five financial years, and the published audited financial statements,
is set out on pages 109 to 110 of this Annual Report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

The Group held investment property and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income during the year ended 31
July 2023. Defails of investment property and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income of the Group as af
31 July 2023 are sef out in note 17 and note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

As at 31 July 2023, the Group had approximately HK$63.6 million bank borrowings (as at 31 July 2022: HK$55.1 million).
Defails of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 July 2023 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Defails of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in nofe 32 to the consolidated financial statements on page
101 of this Annual Report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Defails of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group during the year ended 31 July 2023 are set out in notes 39
and 34 1o the consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to 108 and page 101 respectively and in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 60. As at 31 July 2023, the Company had no reserve available for distribution to shareholders (2022:
approximately HK$11.2 million).

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 July 2023 and up fo the date of this Annual Report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Our customers primarily consist of students and individuals enrolling in our courses. Given the nature of our business, we had no
cusfomer who confributed, or any five customers who collectively contributed, to 30% or more of our fofal revenue during the year

ended 31 July 2023.

During the year ended 31 July 2023, the aggregate remuneration payable fo our Top Five Tutors accounted for approximately
14.8% of our total staff costs and service fees; and the aggregate remuneration payable to our Top One Tutor accounted for
approximately 4.6% of our total staff costs and service fees. None of our Directors, their respective close associates, or any of the
existing Shareholders (which to the knowledge of our Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of the Company) had
any inferest in any of our Top Five Tutors (including without limitation the Top One Tutor) during the year ended 31 July 2023 and up
to the date of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS

The Directfors of the Company during the year ended 31 July 2023 and as at the date of this Annual Report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. leung Ho Ki, June (Chairman)

Mr. Tam Wai lung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Wister

Mr. Lli Man Wai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong
M. Li Kai Sing
Professor Wong Roderick Sue Cheun

Biogrophico| details of the Directors and senior management as at the date of this Annual Report are set out in the section “Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 13 to 15 of this Annual Report.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Arficles of Association, Mr. Tam Wai lung, Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Wister and Mr. Li Kai Sing shall
refire by rofation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, would offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM and
notwithstanding the aforesaid, may continue fo act as executive Directors and independent non-executive Director throughout the
forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTER OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered info a service confract with the Company with effect for a term commencing from the
date of his/her appointment/redesignation as an executive Direcfor for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date which shall continue thereafter unless and until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the service contract,
including without limitation by either party giving to the other party not less than three months’ prior nofice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has/had entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a period of
three years commencing from 13 July 2021, which may be terminated earlier in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
appointment lefter, including without limitation by either party serving on the other party a prior writien nofice of not less than three
months.

Save as aforesaid, no Director proposed for reelection at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not deferminable by the Company or its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory compensation.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The transactions disclosed in nofe 38 to the consolidated financial statements fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or
"continuing connected fransaction” (as the case may be) and are exempted from annual reporting requirement in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements and in the section “Connected and Related Party Transactions”
above, no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the year ended 31 July 2023 or at the end of the year, and no contract of significance for the
provision of services fo the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted during the year ended 31 July 2023 or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in nofe 38 fo the consolidated financial statfement and in the section “Connected and Related Party Transactions”
above, there was no transaction, arrangement or confract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which any of the Directors or an enfity connected with a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material interest,
subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 July 2023 or at any fime during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or the confrolling shareholders of the Company had any interest in a business that competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 31 July 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 July 2023, the inferests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of

the Company, as recorded in the register required o be kept by the Company pursuant fo section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Long

positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Group

Total interest
Interestin ~in shares and ~ Approximate

Number of underlying underlying  percentage of
Name of company  Name of Director Nature of interest shares held shares shares  shareholding
The Company Ms. Leung Ho Ki, June Deemed interests held jointly 375,000,000 — 375,000,000 73.9%
Note with another person;
inferest in a controlled
corporation
Beneficial owner — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.2%
Note 2
Interest of spouse = 3,500,000 3,500,000 0.7%
Note 3
Mr. Tam Wai lung Deemed interests held jointly 375,000,000 — 375,000,000 73.9%
Nofe with another person;
interest in a confrolled
corporation
Beneficial owner - 3,500,000 3,500,000 0.7%
Note 2
Inferest of spouse — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.2%
Note 3
Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Wister Beneficial owner — 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.4%
Note 4
Mr. li Man Wai Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.2%
Note 2
Beacon Enterprise Ms. leung Ho Ki, June Beneficial owner 3,600 — 3,600 60%
limited
Note 5
Mr. Tam Wai lung Beneficial owner 1,560 — 1,560 26%
Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Beneficial owner 180 S 180 3%
Wisfer
M. li Man Wai Beneficial owner 180 = 180 3%
Notes:

The Company is held as to 73.9% by Beacon Enterprise Limited upon Listing. Beacon Enterprise Limited is beneficially owned as to 60%, 26%,
4%, 4%, 3% and 3%, respectively, by Ms. leung Ho Ki, June, Mr. Tam Wai lung, Ms. Leung Ho Yan, Irene, Mr. Ng King Hang, Mr. Chan
Tsz Ying, Wister and Mr. Li Man Wai. Pursuant fo the Deed of Acting in Concert, each of Ms. Lleung Ho Ki, June, Ms. Lleung Ho Yan, lrene,
Mr. Ng King Hang and Mr. Tam Wai Llung (the “Core Shareholders”) has agreed to jointly control their respective interests in the Company
and decisions as fo the business and operations of the Group shall be in accordance with the unanimous consent of all Core Shareholders.
Each of the Core Shareholders shall exercise their respective voting rights in the Company in the same way. Hence, each of the Core
Shareholders is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by the Core Shareholders in aggregate by virtue of the SFO.

These inferests in underlying Shares represent the interests in outstanding options granted by the Company on 23 January 2019 pursuant to the
PosHPO Share Option Scheme approved and adopted by the Company on 21 June 2018 and effective from 13 July 2018 to subscribe for
the relevant number of Shares.

Ms. leung Ho Ki, June and Mr. Tam Wai Lung are spouses of each other, they are deemed to be interested in all the Shares and underlying
Shares in which one another is inferested by virtue of the SFO.
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4. These interests in underlying shares represent the inferests in outstanding options granted by the Company on 23 January 2019 and 1 April
2019 pursuant to the PostlPO Share Option Scheme approved and adopted by the Company on 21 June 2018 and effective from 13 July
2018 to subscribe for the relevant number of shares.

5. The Company is held as to 73.9% by Beacon Enterprise Limited upon Listing. Beacon Enterprise Limited is beneficially owned as to 60%, 26%,
4%, 4%, 3% and 3%, respectively, by Ms. leung Ho Ki, June, Mr. Tam Wai lung, Ms. leung Ho Yan, Irene, Mr. Ng King Hang, Mr. Chan
Tsz Ying, Wister and Mr. Li Man Wai.

6. Save as otherwise specified, the shares and underlying shares mentioned above refer to ordinary class of shares and underlying shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 July 2023, neither the chief executives nor any of the Directors of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including inferests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant o the Model
Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 July 2023, so far as is known to any Directors or chief executives of the Company, the following persons (other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company) or corporations who had inferest or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company which were required fo be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required fo be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Total
interest in
Interest in Shares and  Approximate
Number of underlying underlying  percentage of
Name of Shareholder ~ Nature of inferest Shares held Shares Position Shares  shareholding
Beacon Enterprise Beneficial owner 375,000,000 — long 375,000,000 73.9%
Limited
Ms. Lleung Ho Yan, lrene  Inferests held jointly with 375,000,000 — long 375,000,000 73.9%
Note ] another person; interest in
controlled corporation
Mr. Ng King Hang Interests held jointly with 375,000,000 = long 375,000,000 73.9%
Note ] another person; interest in
controlled corporation
Note:

1. The Company is held as to 73.9% by Beacon Enterprise Limited upon listing. Beacon Enterprise Limited is beneficially owned as to 60%,
26%, 4%, 4%, 3% and 3%, respectively, by Ms. leung Ho Ki, June, Mr. Tam Wai lung, Ms. leung Ho Yan, Irene, Mr. Ng King Hang, Mr.
Chan Tsz Ying, Wister and Mr. Li Man Wai. Pursuant fo the Deed of Acting in Concert, each of such Core Shareholders has agreed to jointly
control their respective inferests in the Company and decisions as fo the business and operations of the Group shall be in accordance with the
unanimous consent of all the Core Shareholders. Each of the Core Shareholders shall exercise their respective voting rights in the Company in
the same way. Hence, each of the Core Shareholders is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by the Core Shareholders in aggregate
by virtue of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 July 2023, the Directors and the chief executives of the Company are not aware of any other
person or corporation having an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would require
to be disclosed fo the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” below, at no time during the year ended 31 July 2023
were rights fo acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate
granted to any of the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective associates [as defined in the Listing Rules), or
were any such rights exercised by any of them: or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement enabling
the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective associates fo acquire such rights.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No confracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company [not
being a confract of service with any Director or any person engaged in the fulime employment of the Company) were entered into
or existed for the year ended 31 July 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

SHARE SCHEMES

To recognise the confribution of, and to provide an incentive to, the employees, officers, agenfs, consultants, contractors, service
providers, representatives and sales partners of the Group who have contributed or will contribute to the Group; and to enable the
Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and affract and refain human resources that are valuable to the Group, the Group
adopted the Pre-lPO Share Option Scheme and the PostlPO Share Option Scheme on 21 June 2018 and both schemes were
effective from 13 July 2018.

For details of the terms of the PrelPO Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section headed “Share Option Schemes” in the
Direcfors' Report included in our 2022 Annual Report.

After the lapse of all the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 July 2022, no share
schemes other than the PostIPO Share Option Scheme were in effect during the year ended 31 July 2023.
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POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

1.

Summary of the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The following is a summary of the principle ferms of the PosHPO Share Option Scheme adopted by a written resolution passed
by our Shareholders on 21 June 2018 which became unconditional and effective on 13 July 2018.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Purpose

The purpose of the PosHPO Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to the Participants (as defined in paragraph (c|
below) to contribute to our Group and fo enable our Group to recruit and refain high-calibre employees and attract and
refain human resources that are valuable to our Group.

Period of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The PostlPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date on
which the PostlPO Share Option Scheme becomes unconditional affer which period no further options will be granted
and accepted; and thereafter for so long as there are any outstanding unexercised options and in order to give effect
fo the exercise of any such options or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the PosHPO
Share Option Scheme.

Who may join

The Board may grant (subject fo acceptance in accordance with the terms of the PostlPO Share Option Scheme) an
option fo subscribe for such number of Shares as it may determine at a price determined in accordance with paragraph
|d) below to any individual being an employee, officer, tutor, agent, consultant or representative of any member of
our Group |including any execufive or non-executive director of any member of our Group) who, as the Board may
defermine in its absolute discretion, has made valuable contribution to the business of our Group based on his/her
performance and/or years of service, or is regarded to be a valuable human resource of our Group based on his/her
working experience, knowledge in the industry and other relevant factors (the “Participant”), subject to such conditions
as the Board may think fit, provided that no grants shall be made except to such number of Participants and in such
circumstances that our Company will not be required under applicable securities laws and regulations to issue a
prospectus or other offer document in respect thereof; and will not result in the breach by our Company or its Directors
of any applicable securities laws and regulations or in any filing or other requirements arising.

Subscription price for the Shares under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The subscription price for the Shares on the exercise of opfions under the PostPO Share Option Scheme shall be a
price determined by the Board and notified fo the relevant Participant at the time the grant of the options (subject to any
adjustments made pursuant to paragraph (q) below) is made fo (subject to acceptance by) the Participant and shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the
date on which the option is granted, which date must be a business day; i) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the date on which
the option is granted; and {iii) the nominal value of the Share.
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(e)

f)

(9)

Maximum number of the Shares available for subscription

The limit on the fofal number of the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the PostPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemel(s| of our Company must
not exceed 30% of the total number of the Shares in issue from time fo time. Options lapsed or cancelled in accordance
with the terms of the PostIPO Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemel(s) of our Company shall not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the said 30% limit. In addition, subject o below as provided in this paragraph,
the total number of the Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options o be granted under the PosHPO Share
Option Scheme, together with all options to be granted under any other share option schemels) of our Company, must
not in aggregate exceed 50,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of the Shares in issue as at the Listing
Date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit’). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the PosHPO Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemel(s) of our Company shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit. Our Company may seek separate approval from our Shareholders in general meeting to renew the
Scheme Mandate Limit but in any event the total number of the Shares in respect of which options may be granted by
the Board under the PosHPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemel(s) of our Company shall not
exceed 10% of the total number of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the renewed Scheme Mandate
Limit. Options previously granted under the PostHPO Share Option Scheme and any ofher share option schemels) of
our Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the PostHPO Share Option Scheme
or exercised options] will not be counted for the purpose of calculating such renewed Scheme Mandate Limit. On 28
September 2020, the Shareholders approved the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit. Accordingly, the Scheme
Mandate Limit has been refreshed to be 50,000,000 Shares, being 10% and approximately 9.85% of the total number
of Shares in issue as af the date of such Shareholders” approval and as at the date of this Annual Report respectively.
Our Company may also seek separate approval from our Shareholders in general meetfing in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules for granting options to specified Participants beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit (or
the renewed Scheme Mandate Limit) in respect of such number of the Shares and on such terms as may be specified in
such approval.

Maximum number of options fo each Participant

The tofal number of the Shares issued and fo be issued upon exercise of the opfions granted to each Participant, together
with all options granted and to be granted to him/her under any other share option schemel(s| of our Company, within
the 12-month period immediately preceding the proposed date of grant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) shall not exceed 1% of the total number of the Shares in issue as at the proposed date of grant. Any further
grant of options to a Participant in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject fo the Shareholders” approval of cur Company
with such Participant and his/her close associates (or his/her associates if such Partficipant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting. The number and terms of the options to be granted to such Participant shall be fixed before the
Shareholders’ approval of the grant of such options.

Grant of options to connected persons

Where any grant of options is proposed fo be made to a Parficipant who is a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder (each has the meaning as ascribed under the Listing Rules) of our Company or any of their respective
associates, such grant must first be approved by the independent non-executive Directors of our Company (excluding
independent non-executive Director who is the Participant]. Where the Board proposes to grant any option to a
Parficipant who is a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director of our Company or any of their
respective associates and such option would result in the Shares issued and which may fall fo be issued upon the
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding]
to such person under the PostPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s| of our Company in
the 12-month period up fo and including the proposed date of grant for such options: (i) representing in aggregate
more than 0.1% of the number of the Shares then in issue; and {ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange daily quotations sheef on each relevant date of the grant (subject
to acceptance) of the options, in excess of HK$5,000,000, then such grant of options must first be approved by
our Shareholders in general meefing at which such person, his/her associates and all core connected persons of our
Company shall absfain from voting on the relevant resolution. Any vote taken af the meeting to approve the proposed
grant of such opfions must be taken on a poll.
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Restrictions on the time of grant of options

No option shall be granted after an inside information event in relation to the securities of our Company has occurred
or an inside information matter in relation to the securities of our Company has been the subject of a decision, unfil an
announcement of such inside information has been published in accordance with the Listing Rules. Further, no option
shall be gronfed within the period commencing one month immediofe\y preceding the earlier of: (a) the date of the
Board meeting (as such date is first notified fo the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules| for the approval
of our Company’s quarter, interim or annual results for any financial period; and (b) the deadline for our Company tfo
publish its quarter, interim or annual results announcement for any financial period under the Listing Rules, and ending
on the date of such results announcement. No option may be granted during any period of delay in publishing a result
announcement.

No option shall be granted to a Participant who is a Director during the periods or times in which our Directors are
prohibited from dealing in Shares pursuant to the Model Code or any corresponding code or securities dealing
restrictions adopted by our Company.

Offers and acceptance

A grant of an option shall be made fo a Participant by lefter in such form as the Board may from fime fo time defermine
requiring the Participant to undertake fo hold the option on the terms on which it is fo be granted including but not limited
to the minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised [if any) and to be bound by the
provisions of the PostlPO Share Option Scheme and shall remain open for acceptance by the Participant for a period of
28 days from the date of grant provided that no such grant shall be open for acceptance after the expiry of the ten-year
period during which the PosHPO Share Option Scheme is valid and effective or affer the PostPO Share Option Scheme
has been terminated.

An option shall be regarded to have been accepted when the duplicate letter, comprising acceptance of the option duly
signed by the Participant who accepts the grant of any option to subscribe for Shares in accordance with the terms of
the PostlPO Share Option Scheme or (where the confext so permits| a person enfifled under the PostHPO Share Option
Scheme to exercise any option in consequence of the death of the original grantee (the “Grantee”), together with a
remittance in favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is received by our
Company.

Transferability of options

An option shall be personal to the Grantee and shall not be assignable and no Grantee shall in any way sell, fransfer,
assign, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any inferest in favour of any third party over or in relation fo any option
or purport to do any of the foregoing. Any breach of the foregoing shall entitle our Company to cancel the relevant
Grantee's outstanding options in whole or in part.

Performance target

No performance target needs to be achieved by the Grantee before the options can be exercised, unless otherwise
stated in the grant lefter referred to in the paragraph (i) above.

Time of exercise of options

An opfion may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the PostlPO Share Option Scheme and such other
terms and conditions upon which an option was granted, at any time during the option period after the option has
been granted by the Board but in any event, not longer than 10 years from the date of grant. An option shall lapse
automatically and not be exercisable (io the extent not already exercised) on the expiry of the option period.
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(m)

(n)

(o]

(p)

Rights on ceasing employment

If the Grantee ceases to be an employee (including any executive director, officer (including any non-executive director),
agent, consultant or representative of the relevant member of our Group for any reason other than on death, ill health,
disability or insanity or the termination of employment, office, agency, consultancy or representation on certain grounds
specified in the PosHPO Share Option Scheme, then, if the option period has not af the date of cessation commenced,
the option shall lapse; and if the option period has commenced, the Grantee may exercise the option up to his/her
entilement af the date of cessation (o the extent not already exercised) until whichever is the earlier of the date of expiry
of the option period or the date falling 1 month from the date of such cessation, and such cessation date shall be the
last actual day of employment, office, agency, consultancy or representation with the relevant member of our Group
whether payment in lieu of notice is made or not (if applicable). For the purposes of this paragraph [m), a Grantee shall
not be regarded as ceasing to be an employee (including any executive director), officer (including any non-executive
director), agent, consultant or representative of the relevant member of our Group if he/she ceases to hold a position of
employment, office, agency, consultancy or representation with a particular member of our Group but at the same time
takes up a different position of employment, office, agency, consultancy or representation with another member of our
Group.

Rights on death, ill health, disability or insanity

If the Grantee ceases fo be an employee (including any executive director), officer (including any non-executive director),
agent, consultant or representative of the relevant member of our Group by reason of death, ill health, disability or
insanity before exercising the option in full and none of certain events which would be a ground for termination of his/
her employment, office, agency, consultancy or representation specified in the PostlPO Share Option Scheme arises,
the Grantee or his/her legal personal representative(s) shall be entilled after commencement of the option period
until whichever is the earlier of the date of expiry of the option period or the date falling 12 months from the date of
cessation (or such longer period as the Board may defermine) to exercise the option [to the extent not already exercised)
up to his/her entitlement.

Rights on takeover

If a general offer to acquire the Shares (whether by takeover offer, merger, privatisation proposal by scheme of
arrangement between our Company and our Shareholders or otherwise in like manner) is made to all our Shareholders (or
all such holders other than the offeror and,/or any person controlled by the offeror and/or any person acting in concert
with the offeror) and such offer, having been approved |if required) in accordance with applicable laws and regulatory
requirements, becomes or is declared unconditional, the Grantee (or his/her legal personal representativels|) shall, even
though the option period has not yet commenced, be entitled o exercise the option (to the extent not already exercised)
at any time until whichever is the earlier of the date of expiry of the option period or the date falling 14 days from the
date on which the offer becomes or is declared unconditional, after which the option shall lapse.

Rights on winding-up

If a notice is given by our Company to our Shareholders to convene a general meeting for the purposes of considering,
and if thought fit, approving a resolufion to voluntarily wind up our Company, our Company shall on the same date as
or soon affer it despatches such nofice to each Shareholder give notice thereof to all Grantees and thereupon, each
Grantee [or his/her legal personal representative(s)) shall be entitled o exercise all or any of his/her options at any time
not later than 5 business days prior to the proposed general meeting of our Company by giving nofice in writing to our
Company, accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of the aggregate subscription price for the Shares in respect
of which the notice is given whereupon our Company shall as soon as possible and, in any event, no later than the
business day immediately prior to the date of the proposed general meeting referred to above, allot the relevant Shares
to the Grantee credited as fully paid.
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Effect on reorganisation of capital structure

In the event of any capitalisation issue, rights issue, open offer, consolidation, sub-division or reduction of the share
capital of our Company (other than an issue of the Shares as consideration in respect of a transaction), corresponding
adjustments (if any) shall be made in:

[} the number or nominal amount of the Shares subject to options so far as unexercised:;
[i)  the subscription price in relation fo each outstanding option; and/or
[iii)  the method of exercise of the options,

provided that any such adjustments shall be made such that the proportion of the issued share capital of our Company
to which an option entitles the Grantee to subscribe after such adjustment must be the same as that to which the option
entitled the Grantee to subscribe immediately before such adjustment, but so that no such adjustment shall be made to
the extent that the effect of such adjusiment would be to enable any Share to be issued af less than its nominal value.
In respect of any adjusiment required by the foregoing provisions, other than any adjustment made on a capitalisation
issue, an independent financial adviser or the auditor for the time being of our Company must also confirm to the Board
in writing that the adjustments satisfy the foregoing provisions and fairly and reasonably satisfy the requirement that
any such adjustment shall be made in compliance with the provisions stipulated under the Listing Rules or such other
guidelines and supplementary guidance on the inferpretation of the Listing Rules issued or as may be issued by the Stock
Exchange from time fo time.

Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted and issued upon the exercise of an option will be subject to all the provisions of the Articles
of Association for the time being in force and will rank pari passu with the fully paid Shares in issue on the dafe of
allotment or, if that date falls on a day when the register of members of our Company is closed, the first day of the
reopening of the register of members and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate in all dividends or other
disfributions paid or made on or after the date of allotment other than any dividend or other disfribution previously
declared or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the record date thereof is before the date of allotment. A
Share issued upon the exercise of an option shall not carry any voting rights until the registration of the Grantee (or any
other person) as the holder thereof.

Cancellation of options

The Board may effect the cancellation of any options granted but not exercised on such terms as may be agreed
with the relevant Grantee, as the Board may in its absolute discretion see fit and in a manner that complies with all
applicable legal requirements for such cancellation. Where our Company cancels any options granted but not exercised
and granfs new option fo the same Grantee, the grant of such new options may only be made under the PostHPO Share
Option Scheme if there is available unissued options [excluding the cancelled options| within each of the 10% limits as
referred fo in paragraph [e] above and there is available options [excluding the cancelled options) under the 1% limit for
each Participant as referred to in paragraph (f) above.
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(1

(u)

v

Lapse of options

An option shall lapse automatically (to the extent not already exercised) on the earliest of:
[} the expiry of the option period;
[i)  the expiry of any of the other pericds referred to in paragraphs (I), (m) or (n};

[iii)  subject to paragraph (p) above, the earliest of the close of business on the 5th business day prior to the general
meeting referred to in paragraph (p) above or the date of commencement of the winding-up of our Company;

liv)  save as otherwise provided in paragraph (o) above or by the Court in relation to the PosHPO Share Option
Scheme in question, upon the sanctioning pursuant to the Companies law by the Grand Court of the Cayman
Islands of a compromise or arrangement between our Company and our Shareholders or creditors for the
purposes of or in connectfion with a scheme for the reconstruction of our Company or its amalgamation with any
other company or companies;

[v)  the dafe on which the Grantee ceases to be an employee (including any executive director), officer (including any
non-executive director), agent, consultant or representative of any relevant member of our Group by reason of the
termination of his/her employment, office, agency, consuliancy or representation on certain grounds specified in
the PostlPO Share Option Scheme including but not limited to, guilty of misconduct, bankrupfcy or insolvency,
having made any arrangement or composition with his creditors generally, or conviction of any criminal offence
involving his integrity or honesty or (if so determined by the Board) on any other ground on which an employer
or principal would be enfifled fo terminate his/her employment, office, agency, consultancy or representation
af common law or pursuant fo any applicable laws or under the Grantee's service confract, terms of office, or
agency, consuliancy, or representation agreement or arrangement with the relevant member of our Group; or

[vi)  the date on which the Board exercises our Company'’s right fo cancel the option because of a breach by the
Grantee of the rules summarised in paragraph (j).

Alteration of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

The terms of the PostIPO Share Option Scheme may be altered in any respect by resolution of the Board except that the
provisions of the PosHPO Share Option Scheme relating to matters contained in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules shall nof
be altered fo the advantage of Participants or the prospective Participants without the prior approval of our Shareholders
in general meefing with the Grantees, the Parficipants and their associates abstaining from voting. No such alteration
shall operate fo affect adversely the terms of issue of any option granted or agreed fo be granted prior to such alteration
except with the consent or sanction of such maijority of the Grantees as would be required of the Shareholders under the
Articles of Association (as amended from time to time) for a variation of the rights attached to the Shares.

Any alterations to the ferms and conditions of the PosHPO Share Option Scheme which are of a material nature or any
change to the terms of options granted must first be approved by our Shareholders in general meeting, except where the
alterations take effect automatically under the existing terms of the PosHPO Share Option Scheme. The amended terms
of the PostIPO Share Option Scheme or the options must still comply with the relevant requirements of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

Termination of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

Our Company may by ordinary resolution in general meefing terminate or the Board may af any time terminate the
operation of the PosHPO Share Option Scheme and in such event no further options will be granted but in all other
respects the provisions of the PosHPO Share Option Scheme in relation to any outstanding options shall remain in full
force and effect. All options granted and accepted prior to such termination and not then exercised shall continue to be
valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance with the PosHPO Share Option Scheme.
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OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER THE POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The validity period of the following options granted shall be 10 years from the grant date and the options shall lapse at the expiry of
the validity period or earlier if the service or employment relationship between the Company and the respective grantee of the opfions
has terminated prior fo the expiry of the validity period, subject to the terms and conditions of the PostHPO Share Option Scheme.

The following table discloses movements in the outstanding optfions granted to all grantees under the PostlPO Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 July 2023.

Number of
Options options
granted held as ot
during the Options 31 July
Number of period  exercised or Options 2023
Vestingand ~ Exercise price options  (number of cancelled lopsed ~ (number of
exercisable period per share heldat  underlying  duingthe  duringthe  underlying
Grantee Grant date Note 1 option 1 August 2022 Shares) period period Shares)
Directors
Ms. Leung Ho Ki, June 2312019 23.1.2020-22.1.2029 HK$0.493 1,000,000 = = - 1,000,000
Mr. Tam Wai Lung 2312019 23.1.2020-22.1.2029 HK$0.493 3,500,000 = = - 3,500,000
Mr. li Man Wai 2312019 23.1.2020-22.1.2029 HK$0.493 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Wister ~ 23.1.2019  23.1.2020-22.1.2029 HK$0.493 1,000,000 = = - 1,000,000
1.4.2019 1.4.2020- 31.3.2029 HK$0.730 1,000,000 = = - 1,000,000
Employees of the Group 23.1.2019  23.1.2020-22.1.2029 HK$0.493 8,200,000 = = (180,000 8,020,000
Note 3) 142019 1.4.2020- 31.3.2029 HK$0.730 2,940,000 = = (120,000 2,820,000
Dr. lam Yot Ming as 29.7.2020  16.10.2020 - 28.7.2030 HK$0.600 20,000,000 = — (20,000,000} =
consultan of the Group Note J)
Note 4)
Notes:

1

The options granted to Directors and employees of the Group on 23 January 2019 and 1 April 2019 are vested in and exercisable in the
following manner:

J 30% of the options shall vest in and be exercisable from the first anniversary of the grant date;
. 30% of the options shall vest in and be exercisable from the second anniversary of the grant date; and
J 40% of the options shall vest in and be exercisable from the third anniversary of the grant date.

The options granted fo Dr. Lam Yat Ming on 29 July 2020 were vested in and exercisable in the following manner:

J 30% of the options shall vest in and be exercisable from the date on which the grant of the options becomes unconditional on 16

October 2020;
. 30% of the options shall vest in and be exercisable from the first anniversary of the grant date; and
J 40% of the options shall vest in and be exercisable from the second anniversary of the grant date.

The grant of the 20,000,000 options on 29 July 2020 was conditional upon the following: (a) the approval of the Shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting convened and held on 28 September 2020 for the grant of the 20,000,000 options fo the grantee; (b) the
grantee being a holder of at least 0.7% of the total number of Shares in issue as of the grant date, i.e. at least 3,500,000 Shares (500,000,000
Shares [being the total number of Shares in issue as at the grant date) x 0.7%); and (c) the Stock Exchange granting the approval for the
listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of 14,400,000 of the total 20,000,000 options
(which is in excess of the then existing Scheme Mandate Limit). The grant of the 20,000,000 options to the grantee on 29 July 2020 fulfilled
the aforementioned conditions and became unconditional on 16 October 2020. Pursuant fo the terms and conditions of the grant of the
20,000,000 options fo the grantee, Dr. Lam Yat Ming, the grantee, underfakes, amongst others, nof to transfer or otherwise dispose of any
Shares allotted to him pursuant to any exercise of the option at a price per Share which is lower than HK$1.08, being the final price per Share
offered under the initial public offering and Listing of the Company on 13 July 2018, during the period of 10 years from the initial grant date.
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3:  The employees of the Group fall within the meaning of “employee participants” under Chapter 17 of Listing Rules and include employees
working under employment contracts that are regarded as “continuous contracts” for the purposes of the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57
of the Laws of Hong Kong). None of the options granted to any of such employee participants would result in the shares issued and fo be
issued in respect of all options granted to such person (excluding any options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the PosHPO Share Option
Scheme) in the 12-month period up fo and including the date of such grant to represent in aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue.

4: Dr. lam Yat Ming was appointed by the Company as Strategic Development Consultant on 29 July 2020. The terms of the 20,000,000
options granted to Dr. lam are defailed in the announcement and circular of the Company dated 29 July 2020 and 7 September 2020
respectively. The rationale for and benefits of making the grant of opfions to Dr. Lam are set out in the circular of the Company dated 7
September 2020. Pursuant fo the PostlPO Share Option Scheme, the 20,000,000 options lapsed one month after the cessation of Dr. lam's
service af the Company during the year ended 31 July 2023.

The options granted under the PostPO Share Option Scheme would not have a dilutive effect on the eamings per Share for the year
ended 31 July 2023. For the options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group on 23 January 2019 and 1 April 2019
respectively, the exercise price per opfion represents the average closing price of the Shares as sfated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotation sheets for the five consecutive business days immediately preceding the relevant grant date; for the options granted on 29
July 2020 to Dr. Lam Yat Ming, the exercise price payable in respect of each Share upon the exercise of the options is defermined
in accordance with the ferms of the PostHIPO Share Option Scheme, which exceeds HK$0.378, being the average closing price per
Share as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the grant date.
For the options granted with exercise price per option of HK$0.493, HK$0.730 and HK$0.600 as detailed above, the closing
price of the Shares on the relevant grant date was HK$0.490, HK$0.700 and HK$0.360 respectively.

The number of options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit (i.e. the total number of Shares which may be issued
in respect of all options to be granted under the PosHPO Share Option Scheme) refreshed on 28 September 2020 as of 1 August
2022 is 35,600,000 and as of 31 July 2023 is 50,000,000. There is no sublimit on the total number of Shares that may be

issued in respect of options to be granted fo service providers under the existing PostPO Share Option Scheme.

Save and except as disclosed above, no other options have been granted or agreed fo be granted respectively by the Company
under the PostIPO Option Scheme as at the date of this Annual Report.

For the value of the share options granted by the Company and the relevant accounting policy adopted, please refer to note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 July 2023, the Group has 189 fulltime employees (2022: 329) and maintained an accumulated pool of 86 (2022:
167 active] part+ime employees for seasonal and cyclical business needs. The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, working experience and the prevailing market price. Other employee benefits include mandatory provident fund,
insurance and medical coverage and training.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended by the remuneration committee and determined by the Board of
the Company, by reference 1o the prevailing market conditions, the performance and operating results of the Group as well as the
Director’s individual expertise.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands or under the Articles of Association of the
Company that require the Company fo offer new Shares on a prorata basis fo its existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained the public float as required by the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 July 2023 and up to the
date of this Annual Report, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors as af the date of this Annual Report.

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 July 2023 amounted to approximately HK$66,500 (2022:
approximately HK$28,000).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association and subject 1o the provisions of the Companies Ordinance, the Direcfors, company secretary, the
officers of the Company or every auditor acfing in relation fo any of the affairs of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, cosfs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them may incur or susfain in or about the execution of their duty in their respective offices.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operations of the Group during the year ended 31 July 2023.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2023

There is no significant event affecting the Group occurred after 31 July 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2023 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will
refire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-oppointment. A resolution for the re-oppointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Leung Ho Ki, June
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 October 2023

Annual Report 2023

31



32

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 July
2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board has committed to maintaining high corporate governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the inferests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability.

During the year ended 31 July 2023 and up tfo the date of this Annual Report, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, which
will be further illustrated in this Corporate Governance Report for Shareholders’ evaluation.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own securities dealing code fo regulate all dealings by Directors and relevant
employees of securities in the Company and other matters covered by the Model Code.

Specific enquiries have been made of all the Directors and the relevant employees and they have confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the year ended 31 July 2023 and up fo the date of this Annual Report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board currently comprises four executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 July 2023 and as at the date of this Annual Report is as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. leung Ho Ki, June (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Tam Wai Lung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Wister

Mr. i Man Wai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwan Chi Hong
Mr. Li Kai Sing
Professor Wong Roderick Sue Cheun

The Board consists of a diverse mix of Board members in terms of age, gender and tenure of office. Besides, the Board members
come from different backgrounds and have a diverse range of business, academic and professional experiences. Current female
Direcfor accounts for about 14.3% of the Board (one female out of 7 Directors). The board considers that gender diversity is currently
achieved in the Board and is committed fo mainfaining gender diversity in the Board.

The biogrophico| information of the current Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior /\/\onogemem” in this
Annual Report.

Ms. leung Ho Ki, June is the spouse of Mr. Tam Wai Llung and aunt of Mr. Li Man Wai. Ms. leung Ho Ki, June is an executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Tam Wai Lung is an executive Director, the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and a member of the Nomination Commitiee and the Remuneration Committee respectively.
Mr. Li Man Wai is an executive Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship among members
of the Board to the best knowledge of the Company.

The composition of the Board is reviewed from fime to time to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills and experiences suitable
for the businesses of the Group and there is a sfrong independent element on the Board to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of chairman and chief executive officer are held by Ms. Lleung Ho Ki, June and Mr. Tam Wai Lung respectively (the
"Chairman” and the “Chief Executive Officer”, respectively). There is a clear, separate and effective division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a balance of power and authority. The Chairman is responsible
for the effective and timely functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company'’s business
development and the daily management and operations in general.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choi Shing Wai, FCPA, the company secrefary, is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters and
ensuring that Board policy and procedures, and applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

The company secretary undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 July 2023.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board at all times met the requirements of the Llisting Rules relafing to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Direcfors representing over one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
qualifications or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director a written confirmation in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines sef out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board
still considers that all independent non-executive Directors are independent. The independence of the independent non-executive
Directors will be assessed by the Nomination Committee from time to time.

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure that independent views and input are available to the Board, including
without limitation fo reviewing whether the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate qualifications and expertise from
time to time with sufficient time commitment to the Group, that the number of independem non-executive Directors comp|\/ with the
requirements of the Listing Rules, and that channels are esfablished (including without limitation by questionnaires or by enquiry at
Board meetings) fo assess and evaluate the independent non-executive Directors’ confribution and views. The implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms will be reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code provision B.2.2 states that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be subject fo election by the Shareholders at
the first general meefing after appoiniment and that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
refirement by rofation af least once every three years.

All Directors during the year 31 July 2023 and as at the date of this Annual Report including the independent non-executive Directors
had/have been appointed for a fixed term of three years. The Articles of Association requires that at every AGM one-third of the
Directors for the fime being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest fo, but nof less than, one-
third) shall refire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term] shall be subject to
refirement by rotation af least once every three years.

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performances and is also collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising its offairs.
The Board also makes decisions on matters, such as, approving the annual results and inferim results of the Group, nofifiable and
connected transactions of the Company, appoiniment and re-appointment of Directors, dividend and adopting accounting policies,
etc. Details of the experiences and qualifications of Directors are sef out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”
in this Annual Report. The Board takes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Direcfors, including the independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experiences,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
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The Group's senior management is responsible for the day-fo-day management of the Group's businesses and overseeing the general
operation, business development, finance, marketing, and operations as delegated by the Board. When the Board delegates
different aspects of its management and administrative functions to the senior management, it has given clear directions in relation
to the scope of powers of the senior management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances, the senior management maintains
regular communications and reports their progress to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code, which include (i) developing and reviewing policies and pracfices of the Company on corporate governance
and moking recommendation to the board; |ii) reviewing and monitoring the fraining and continuous professiono| deve|opmenf
of Directors and senior management; (iii) reviewing and monitoring po|icies and practices of the Compony on comp\ionce with
legal and regulatory requirements; [iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manudl, if any,
applicable to employees and Directors; and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report. Up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board has determined and reviewed (i) the
Company's corporate governance functions including without limitation, those areas disclosed in this Corporate Governance Report;
(i) the Company's director nomination policy, board diversity policy, shareholders’ communication policy, anti-corruption policy and
whistleblowing policy pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code; and (iii) the Company's environmental, social and governance
policy to be disclosed in this Annual Report.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ COMPLIANCE WITH DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Our Directors believe that there are adequate corporate governance measures in place fo manage the conflict of inferests arising
from any competing business and to safeguard the interests of our Shareholders.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation on the compliance with, and enforcement of, the terms of the Deed of
Non-competition from each of the confro||ing shareholders of the Compony. Based on such confirmation, the independem non-
executive Directors consider that the confro”ing shareholders have comp|ied with all the Underfokings under the Deed of Non-
competition during the year ended 31 July 2023.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Comnmitiee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these committees is established with defined written
terms of reference approved by the Board. The terms of reference of the Board committees are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange respectively.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman and
members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed “"Corporate Information” in this Annual Report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Llisting Rules and the Corporate Governance Code.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee are inter alia, fo (i) review and supervise the financial reporting, financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, i) review and approve connected transactions; and (i) advise the Board in
relation to the foregoing, in accordance with the model set out in the code provision D.3.3 of the Corporate Governance Code.

The Audit Committee consists of three members: Mr. Li Kai Sing, Mr. Kwan Chi Hong and Professor VWWong Roderick Sue Cheun, all
of whom are independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Li Kai Sing is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

In the meetings of the Audit Commitiee during the year ended 31 July 2023, the Audit Committee reviewed among other matters, [i)
the auditor’s report for the audit of final results of the Group for the year ended 31 July 2022; |ii) the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 July 2022 with a recommendation to the Board for approval; {iii] the preliminary
announcement and annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 July 2022 with a recommendation fo the Board for publication
and approval; (iv) significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems of the Group; [v] any new continuing connected transaction of the Company for the year ended 31 July 2023 with a
recommendation to the Board for approval; (vi] the independence, objectivity and effectiveness, scope of work and appointment
of the external auditor with a recommendation to the Board for the re-appointment of the current external auditor at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and the Board endorsed the Audit Committee’s recommendation; (vii] the inferim report and
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the inferim results announcement for the six months ended 31 January 2023; and (viii) the anticorruption policy and whistleblowing
policy, with a recommendation fo the Board for approval.

Subsequent to the year ended 31 July 2023, the Audit Commitiee reviewed the draft annual report and the draft annual results
announcement, the report on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems, the continuing connected
transactions of the Company [if any) and the appointment, independence, objectivity and effectiveness and scope of work of the
existing audifor for the year ended 31 July 2023, with recommendations to the Board for approval.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are, inter alia, to review and make recommendations to
the Board regarding the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior
management in accordance with the model set out in the code provision E.1.2(cl(ii) of the Corporate Governance Code, and the
esfablishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam Wai lung and Mr. i Man Wai, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwan Chi Hong, Professor Wong Roderick Sue Cheun and Mr. Li Kai Sing. Mr.
Kwan Chi Hong is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the meeting of the Remuneration Commitiee held in the year ended 31 July 2023, the Remuneration Committee reviewed,
inter alia, (i the remuneration policy and the current remuneration practice of the Group; (i) the terms of Directors’ service contracts;
and (i) the remuneration packages of and overall benefits payable to the Directors and senior management of the Group, and
assessed the performance of executive Directors, and made relevant recommendations to the Board.

Details of the remuneration paid/payable to each Director for the year ended 31 July 2023 are set out in note 8a) to the
consolidated financial statfements.

The remuneration of the members of senior management [including all executive Directors) by band for the year ended 31 July 2023
is set out below:

Number of
Remuneration Bands individuals
HK$1 - HK$500,000

1
HK$500,001 - HK$ 1,000,000 4
HK$ 1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1
2
1

HK$ 1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000

Total 9

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Commitiee was established in compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance
Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are, infer alia, (i) to review the sfructure, size, composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience| and diversity of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company's corporate strategy; i) to make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated to be Directors; [iii) to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors; (iv) to defermine the
Company'’s policy for nomination of Directors; and [v] fo make recommendations to the Board on the appoiniment or re-appointment
of Direcfors and the management of Board succession, in accordance with the model set out in the code provision B.3.1 of the
Corporate Governance Code.

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors, namely Ms. leung Ho Ki, June and Mr. Tam Wai lung; and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Professor Wong Roderick Sue Cheun, Mr. Kwan Chi Hong and Mr. i Kai Sing. Ms.
leung Ho Ki, June is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 July 2023, the Nomination Committee in its meeting (i) reviewed the structure, size and composition
and diversity of the Board; (i) assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (iii) reviewed the board
diversity policy and the director nomination policy of the Company; (iv) consider the proposed re-election of the Directors refiring
at the previous Annual General Meeting; and (v] consider the independence of the independent non-executive Directors, with
recommendations to the Board for approval.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings were held for the purposes of, among others, considering and approving the results of the Group. Notice of
the Board meeting, agenda and Board papers were sent to the Directors in a timely manner before the meeting. Save as disclosed
below, all members of the Board were present in every Board meeting. The Company has convened, and expects fo convene at
least four regular meetings in each financial year at approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with code provision C.5.1 of
the Corporate Governance Code. The company secretary will ensure that the procedures of the Board meetings are observed and
provide to the Board opinions on matters in relation to compliance with the procedures of the Board meetings. Minutes of the Board
meetings (as well as those of Board committees meetings) are kept by the company secretary. Set out below are the attendance
records of Directors in general meetings and meetings of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee respectively:

Number of meetings attended for year ended 31 July 2023

Audit  Remuneration Nomination

General Board Committee Committee Committee

Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Ms. Lleung Ho Ki, June 1/1 4/4 — — 1/1
Mr. Tam Wai Lung 1/1 4/4 — 1/1 1/1
Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Wister 1/1 4/4 — — —
Mr. li Man Wai 1/1 4/4 — 1/1 —
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong 1/1 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
M. Li Kai Sing 1/1 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
Professor WWong Roderick Sue Cheun 1/1 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1

No Director has attended any of the above meetings by his or her altfernate.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company adopted a director nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) that sets out the considerations and procedures for
selecting and nominating directors of the Board, and for succession planning of our Company's directors. In assessing a candidate’s
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board, the Nomination Committee would consider a number of aspects, including the
candidate’s personal and professional ethics and infegrity, achievement and competence, and skills that are complementary to those
of the existing Board. The Nomination Committee will identify, consider and recommend suitable individuals to act as directors in the
Board, and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and their succession planning.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the ultimate responsibility for selecting and appointing directors rests with the entire Board.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”), that sets out the Company’s approach to achieve diversity of
the Board. The Company embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

Pursuant fo the Diversity Policy, the Company continues to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of aspects,
including, but not limited to, gender, age, culture and educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
indusfry and regional experiences.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve as a director of the Company, the Nomination Committee would consider
the above criteria necessary fo complement the corporate strafegy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Commitiee will review the Diversity Policy annually, to ensure its effectiveness and
will discuss annually any measurable objective for implementing the diversity of the Board and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

Workforce Diversity

The gender ratfios in the workforce by categories of employees are set out in the section headed “B1: Employment” in the
Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) Report in this Annual Report.

The Board considers that gender diversity is currently achieved and is committed to maintain gender diversity in respect of the
workforce level.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy [the “Dividend Policy”] which is the policy of the Board, in considering the payment of
dividends, fo strike a balance between maintaining sufficient capital to grow the Group's business and rewarding the Shareholders.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution rafio and the Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the Shareholders, subject to the compliance with applicable lows and regulations including the laws of the Cayman
Islands and the Arficles of Association and the following factors: (i) the Group's overall results of operation, financial position, capital
requirement, cash flows and future prospects; (i) the amount of distributable reserves of the Company; and {iii) other factors that the
Board deems relevant. The Board will continue to review the Dividend Policy from fime to time.

CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Direcfors keep abreast of the responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the conduct, business acfivities and development of
the Company.

The Company pericdically provides training fo the Directors, senior management and sfaff to develop and refresh their knowledge in
areas which are relevant fo the performance of their daily duties and the growth of the businesses of the Group under the changing
economic environment.

In particular, training on corporate ethics and anti-corruption were delivered to all Directors during the year ended 31 July 2023.

The Directors are committed to complying with the code provision C.1.4 of the Corporate Governance Code on directors’ training.
All directors have provided to the Company a record of the training they received during the year ended 31 July 2023. Participation
of continuous training of the Directors and the nature of training are set out below:

Reading journals, publications
and/or other materials on
various topics Mo 7/

Executive Directors

Ms. Lleung Ho Ki, June

Mr. Tam Wai lung

Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Wister
Mr. i Man Wai

ANENENEN

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong

M. Li Kai Sing

Professor WWong Roderick Sue Cheun v

AN

Note:

1. Topics include without limitation the Company's business and corporate governance matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
July 2023.

The Direcfors are not aware of any material uncertainties relafing to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to confinue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 53 to 56 in this Annual Report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 July 2023, the total fees payable, excluding disbursements, in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers are set out below:

Services rendered for the Group Fees payable
HK$'000

Audit services:

Annual audit and auditrelated services 1,000

Non-audit services:

Tax advisory services 15

Total 1,015

During the year ended 31 July 2023, the fees paid or payable in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by
other external auditors amounted to approximately HK$204,000 and HK$ 103,000, respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for establishing and maintaining the Group's risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The risk management and infernal control measures are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board is primarily in charge of managing the overall risks of our Group. Significant business decisions that involve material risk
exposures are subject fo assessment, consideration and approval of the ways to resolve the said risk exposures by the Board.

The Audit Committee is de|egofed with the responsibihfy to review the financial controls, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group af least annually, to consider any major investigation findings on risk management and infernal control matters
and the response of the management to such findings, in performance of the Company’s internal audit function. The Audit Committee
also reviews the external independent auditor's management letter, if any, and any material queries raised by the auditor about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and management's response. The Audit Committee reports fo the Board
on the matters considered by the Audit Committee and its recommendations to the Board.

The Group appoinfed an extemnal consultant to conduct enterprise risk assessment and fo perform internal audit function fo review
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems for the year ended 31 July 2023. As part of the
risk management system of the Group, the annual enterprise risk assessment identifies and evaluates the risk level of the Group's
operafions and business, including the strategic, operational, financial reporting, ESG and compliance risks.

As part of the infernal control system of the Group, internal audit was conducted at least annually with the objectives of, amongst
others, assessing and identifying significant weaknesses in risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The internal
audit for the year ended 31 July 2023 covered the review on [i) the risk management system; (i) cost of services, expenditures
and payments; (i) human resources and payroll management; (iv) corporate governance practices according fo the corporate
governance code in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules; and (v) the follow up on the findings identified in last year's report.

The Board considered the enterprise risk assessment report and internal audit report and concluded (i) the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group; and (i) the process for financial reporting and compliance on Listing Rules effective and
adequate. Upon the Board's annual review, the Board considered and ensured the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the issuer’'s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, as well as
those relating to the Group's ESG performance and reporting.

The Group has formulated internal control system manuals on corporate governance, operations, management, legal matters, finance
and audifing setting out the infernal approval and review procedures pursuant to which our employees are mandated to comply with.

The Group has also adopted an information disclosure policy which sefs out comprehensive guidelines in respect of handling
and dissemination of inside information of the Group. The Board is responsible for monitoring and implementing the procedural
requirements under the information disclosure policy. Release of inside information shall be overseen by the Board. Unless authorised
by the Board, the sfaff members of the Group shall not disseminate inside information relating to the Group to any external parties
and shall not respond to media or market speculation which may materially affect the trading price or volume of the Shares on the
market.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, sufficient notices of the general meetings are given to the shareholders and a
separate resolution is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll subject to the Listing Rules and the poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange respectively after each general meeting.

CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING (“EGM”) AND PUTTING
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT EGM

Pursuant fo Article 58 of the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM.

General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members deposited at the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s), provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of
the requisition (in aggregate] not less than onetenth of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, in the share capital of the
Company which carries the right of vofing at general meefings of the Company. Such general meefing shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
general meefings may be convened by the Board, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

The requisition must state clearly the name of the requisitionist(s), his (their) shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene an
EGM, the agenda proposed fo be included and the details of the business(es) proposed fo be transacted in the EGM and be signed
by the requisitionist(s).

There is no provision allowing Shareholders to put forward proposals at general meeting under the Articles of Association or the
Companies law of the Cayman Islands. If Shareholders wish to do so, they may request to convene an EGM as described above
and specify the proposals in such written requisition.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing invesfor relations and investors’
understanding of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company adopted a shareholders” communication policy (the
“Shareholders” Communication Policy”), which sets out the channels for shareholders to communicate their views on matters affecting
the Company and for the Company fo solicit and understand the views of Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
endeavours fo mainfain an on-going diclogue with Shareholders and in particular, through AGM and other general meetings. At the
forthcoming AGM, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Board will review the Shareholders’” Communication Policy at least annually to ensure its effectiveness. Having reviewed the
different channels of communication with Shareholders, the Board is satisfied that the Shareholders” Communication Policy has been
properly implemented during the year and is effective.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not
normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send any comments or enquiries to the Board by email to ir@beacon.com.hk or in writing to the company
secretary af the Company'’s principal office in Hong Kong.
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INTRODUCTION & APPROACH TO ESG AND REPORTING

The Group is a leading provider of private supplementary secondary school education services through a network of 10 teaching
cenfres in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 July 2023, the Group had approximately 132,000 enrollments/registrations in our private supplementary
secondary school education services. Our feaching delivery is managed by a professional team, comprising of tutors, day school
teachers, fulltime and partime teaching assistants.

As a prominent force in the private supplementary education services in Hong Kong, the Group recognizes the significance of
potential impacts our business could make on the lives of our students, our staff, and society. We also see the opportunities of
being a role model and educating our students and staff by acting responsibly and committing to maintaining the wellness of the
environment and the public.

Our Group's subsidiary, Beacon College, has been awarded the "15 Year Plus Caring Company logo” by The Hong Kong Council
of Social Service for inspiring corporate social responsibility through caring for the community, the employees, and the environment
for 15 consecutive years (from 2008 to 2023).

ESG Governance Structure

The Group acknowledges the need to have effective and strong ESG governance in place. Good governance ensures accountability
and a balance of authority by clearly defining the roles and responsibilities of different parties within the Group. The Board has the
overall responsibility for the Group's ESG strategy and reporting. An ESG Committee has been set up and its Terms of Reference
was approved by the Board of Directors. The ESG Committee focuses on the sustainability issues at board level and comprises an
executive Director and other senior management, inc|uding, Depuf\/ Chief Executive Officer/Chief Finance Officer, senior manager,
manager and assisfant manager. A Board Statement was approved fo guide our strafegy to achieve a better ESG performance in
different areas of works, such as the process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-related risks fo our business. The
Board will continue fo review the progress made against the ESGrelated goals and the targets related to our business (as explained
in the following sections of this ESG Report) in the regular board meetings. In addition, the ESG Committee is required to provide a
follow-up acfion plan to address any shortfall in the ESG-related goals and the targets to the Board. If necessary, an interim report on
the progress of the follow-up action plan will also be submitted to the Board.

Reporting Period and Scope

This Environment, Social and Governance Report ("ESG Report’) issued by the Group summarises the Group’s material policies and
practices, as well as compliance status in the areas of environment protection, sustainable development, and social responsibility.

This ESG Report has been prepared by the Company for the financial year ended 31 July 2023 ("Reporting Period”) in compliance
with the requirements of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide ("ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix
27 1o the Listing Rules. In particular, the Company has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in Part C of the ESG
Reporting Guide.

This ESG Report focuses primarily on the Group's private supplementary secondary school education services in Hong Kong. The
reporting boundary of this ESG Report is set o include the Company and all of its subsidiaries and the Group's operations. During
the Reporting Period, the Group offered a wide range of education programmes and services under the following three categories:

e Private supplementary secondary school education services (accounting for approximately 66.33% of the total revenue of the
Group), which are offered to students from Secondary 1 to Secondary 6;

*  Private secondary day school services (accounting for approximately 8.82% of the total revenue of the Group), which are
provided fo Secondary 4, 5 and 6 students in accordance with the HKDSE curriculum; and

e Ancillary education services and products (accounting for approximately 24.85% of the fotal revenue of the Group), which
targeted pre-school, kindergarten, primary and secondary school students and individuals pursuing further education, other
interest learing or personal development.
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Materiality Assessment by Stakeholder Engagement

In order to report the sufficiently important ESG information to our investors and other stakeholders, in 2022, we identified the ESG
issues based on the feedback from a series of discussions among the Directors, key management members, employees and external
parties. Our Directors believe that it is of paramount importance to keep the ESG-related goals and targets in mind while operating
and growing our business going forward. This business philosophy has helped us build a sustainable business model and enhanced
our reputation which, together with other factors, can differentiate our brands from other competitors in the private supplementary
secondary school education services industry.

In order to assess the materiality of ESG issues more accurately, telephone interviews were conducted with more than 15 major
stakeholders, including members of the teaching team, students, employees and suppliers. They were asked to rank the importance
of the ESG aspects with reasons. In general, they shared the same viewpoint that the social aspects are of higher importance
than the environmental aspects because of the nature of our education business which has minimal impact fo the environment. The
stakeholders, especially the employees including the teachers and members of the teaching team are more concerned with the
employment, health and safety issues. The stakeholders generally treated product responsibility and governance as important ESG
issues.

We welcome comments and suggestions from our stakeholders. If you have any questions or comments on this ESG Report, please
contact us by email af if@beacon.com.hk.

Quantitative Assessment

Our assessment standards, methodologies, calculation tools, source of conversion factors used are mainly based on the document
"How to prepare an ESG Report” issued by the Stock Exchange. The environmental key performance indicators (collectively, “KPls”)
are calculated based on its Appendix 2 “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”, while the social KPls are calculated based on
its Appendix 3 "Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs".

Consistency Assessment

In this ESG Report, there is no change to the methods or KPls used or any other relevant factors affecting a meaningful comparison of
this ESG report with previous reports.

A: ENVIRONMENT

After reviewing the nature of business and operation in providing private supplementary education services, our Directors and the
Group's external environment consultant share the view that the risk of our business causing significant and undesirable impacts on
the environment is relatively low. However, we are well aware of the fact that, regardless of our minimal environmental footprint as
an education service provider, our business operation inevitably generates a small amount of carbon emissions with solid wastes
discharged info the environment, as well as consuming certain natural resources.

A1: EMISSIONS

A key part of the Group's environmental policy is to monitor the carbon emission and the volume of wastes generated from our
business operation. The Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group, relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Our business offers education services, which typically do not generate air pollutants, greenhouse gases, or regulated discharges
from our operation. In our operation, the emissions are limited to the use of company vehicles, whereas discharges are limited fo the
usual sewage from an office seffing. As a result, the amount of air emissions and water discharges are minimised.

However, associated with the amount of printing activities for teaching purposes, paper wastes are generated in the normal course
of our business operation. Daily use of prinfers and photocopiers would result in regular replacement of cartridges and ink toners,
disposal of which would generate wastes containing chemical residuals that require special handling. Other non-hazardous wastes
generated from our operation include aging equipment and electronics used in the feaching centres and the head office, as well as
daily consumables, such as office stationery and teaching aids, etc. We are not aware of any hazardous wastes generated from our
operation.

Annual Report 2023

41



42

ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT

The Group's policy in this aspect goes by the principle of "Reduce, Reuse, and Recycle” to the extent that is practical and cost
effective.

e REDUCE: We keep our company vehicles in regular maintenance and examination so that they operate in good condition
with gas emissions below the regulated thresholds. Equipment gadgets and electronics are maintained and repaired regularly
as needed to extend their lifespans which would reduce the need for replacement and disposal. Reminders are placed around
printers and photocopiers fo alert employees and teaching staff to avoid excessive printing that generates unnecessary paper
wasfes.

*  REUSE: Rather than replacing the depleted carfridges and ink toners, refillers are used to minimise the wastes of cartridge or
foner casings. Some of the office stationery (e.g. binders, folders, efc.] are often reused if possible, and are not immediately
disposed of after onetime usage.

e RECYCLE: Wastes for disposal are first separated info “non-recyclable” and “recyclable” categories, and “special care”
category. Recyclable wastes are further collected separately by nature, namely (i) waste papers, [ii) plastics, and {iii) metals.
They are then handled accordingly for recycling or proper disposal fo minimise environment impacts. “Special care” items, like
carfridges and ink foners, are returned to suppliers/manufacturers for professional handling.

The Group does not foresee any material change in the nature of its business activities and its operation does not materially generate
air pollutants, greenhouse gases and regulated discharges. As such, the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311) and Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358), as well as their associated regulations are considered less relevant to our operation. Our
Directors were pleased to confirm that the Group was in full compliance with the provisions related to motor vehicle emissions under
the Road Traffic Ordinance (Cap. 374). No fines or penalties were levied by the government against the Group because of air
emissions or water discharges during the Reporting Period.

The Group also follows the general provisions of the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354), which prohibits dumping wastfes in
public places or on private premises without the consent of the owner or occupier. Our Directors confirmed that the Group and its
teaching centres were in full compliance with the general provisions of this ordinance is applicable to the entire operation during
the Reporting Period. We are not aware of any fines or penalties levied by the goverment against the Group for improper wastfe
handling or disposal.

Air emissions

The air emissions were mainly from company vehicles and the figures below are based on our internal estimation of the kilometers
travelled. In general, we managed to lower the total air emissions by reducing use of company vehicles, and electric vehicles will be
introduced gradually.

NO, SO, PM

Nitrogen oxides Sulphur oxides Particulate Matter
For the year ended 31 July 2022 20,735¢g 327 g 1,527 g
For the year ended 31 July 2023 9,700 g 319¢g 7149

Greenhouse gas emissions

Scope 1 emissions were mainly from company vehicles and the figures below are based on our infernal estimation of the kilometers
travelled. In general, we managed to lower the tofal Scope 1 emissions by reducing use of company vehicles.

CO, CH, N,O
CO, equivalent emissions Carbon dioxide Methane Nitrous oxide
For the year ended 31 July 2022 52.56 tonnes 0.158 tonne 6.522 tonnes
For the year ended 31 July 2023 51.21 tonnes 0.154 tonne 6.353 tonnes

For Scope 2 energy indirect emissions, the CO, equivalent emissions mainly from purchased electricity were approximately 302
tonnes (2022:274 tonnes). The total greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2) were approximately 360 tonnes (2022:
approximately 333 fonnes). The slight increase of the use of electricity was mainly due fo the full re-opening of the leaming centres
after the COVID-19 pandemic during the Reporting Period.

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited



ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT

Non-hazardous solid wastes, mainly the domestic and commercial wastes, generated from our offices during our operations in the
Reporting Period amounted to 10.7 tonnes (non-hazardous waste) (2022: approximately 5.07 tonnes) which was mainly due to the
resumption of operation of our teaching centres during the Reporting Period after the relaxation of COVID-19 pandemic measures.
We will continue to pay effort fo minimise the wasfes.

Hazardous wastes of batteries and toners were recorded at approximately 0.099 tonne (2022 approximately 0.052 tonne) and
0.037 tonne (2022 approximately 0.04 tonne| respectively. The rising usage of batteries was due to the resumption of operations
after the COVID-19 pandemic, while the increased use of electronic handouts that led to the small decreased use of toners. All the
toners were disposed off fo recycling companies.

We have sef the target to reduce 20% in air and greenhouse gas emissions over the five-year period from the year 2019/20. The
Group-wide energy saving measures have been implemented in all our teaching centres and offices fo reduce the use of vehicles and
electricity. These measures include increasing the number of reminders to the staff members to conserve the energy and increasing the
adoption of online meetings instead of physical meetings fo reduce air and greenhouse gas emissions generated from transportation.
In view of the positive progress made, the Group is on the right frack fo achieving the targets set.

For non-hazardous and hazardous waste management, we mainly adopted the waste prevention approach. The staff members
are encouraged to reduce waste production by reducing printing and using rechargeable batteries. They were also reminded to
use their own reusable containers for foods and drinks. We have set the farget to reduce 20% on both the non-hazardous and
hazardous wastes over the five-year period from the year 2019/20. In view of the positive progress, the Group is on the right track
to achieving the targets set.

A2: USE OF RESOURCES

Part of the Group's ESG strategy is to make efficient use of resources, including energy, water and raw materials, and leverage eco-
friendly alternatives, where practically and economically feasible in the business operation. Generally, provision of education services
does not consume significant amount of resources as compared with that of other commercial or industrial operations. Yetf, we have
identified and targeted energy consumption and paper usage as two key areas where our ESG initiatives can achieve the biggest
fofal impact on the environment in our business operation.

e Energy Consumption

We recognise that the carbon footprint arising from our business operations primarily attributed to energy consumption, even
though it is relatively insignificant as compared with other commercial or industrial operations. Our teaching centres and the
head office have relatively long operating hours, in which lighting, ventilation, airconditioning, teaching and office equipment
are powered by electricity, generation of which by conventional power plants often emits carbon dioxide during the process.

The goal of our policy in energy saving is to minimise unnecessary waste of electricity. This involves creating awareness by
issuing company memos and sefting up reminders to achieve behavioural changes of our employees and teaching staff in the
use of electricity. Specific measures include switching off idle equipment, lighting, and airconditioning that are not in use and
after work as well as the setup of various zones to maximise the utilisation of |ighﬂng and air condHioning. The Group has also
increosing|y invested in energy efficient alternatives, such as LED or energy-efficiem |ighﬂng, equipment with energy-saving
mode and timer control function, efc. Maintenance and c\eoming of equipment are regu|or\y performed to optimise equipment
performance and energy efficiency.

e  Paper Usage

Paper is offen used in the course of teaching and markefing, and as a form of keeping administrative records in the normal
course of our business. Our teaching classes are supplemented by lesson handouts and study materials, which are paper-
based. Part of our advertising and markefing campaigns involve production of brochures, leaflets, and directmailing materials.
Moreover, paper used for administrative work inevitably exist in our teaching centres and the head office.

“"Reduce, Reuse, and Recycle” is our strategy to address the issue of paper usage. In light of the extensive adoption of
technology by the young generation, the Group has increasingly shifted from distributing paperbased study materials fo
leveraging digital technology for delivery of teaching content. This helps to significantly reduce in paper consumption in our
teaching centres. The Group continues to upgrade ifs computer systems to minimise manual, paperbased tasks in different
streams of work flows.
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During the Reporting Period, we have a substantial increase in facetoface education services due to the resumption of face-
toface classes after the COVID-19 pandemic situation, our paper usage was increased from 0.061 tonne in 2022 to 0.142
fonne in 2023. However, we will continue to encourage students to use electronic notes. In addition, the growing utilisation
of online enrollment system and online teaching mode will further reduce the use of paper by the paperless operations, for
instance, we have introduced electronic receipts to further reduce paper usage in our business operation. We also encourage
using emails for communication and online platforms for broadcasting messages or dissemination of information to minimise
paper consumption. Other best practices include doublesided printing and printingto-exactquantity, reusing paper from the
recycling bins, replacing disposable cups with reusable ones in our office, and using paperless administrative systems for
handling expense claims, managing annual leaves and circulating agendas of meetings, efc.

Water and Electricity Usage

In our business operation, water consumption is limited to drinking and cleaning uses, and packaging materials are modestly
used. In view of the purposes for which water is used, there is no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Consumption
of water and packaging materials are thus considered immaterial from our standpoint. In order to increase the awareness of
environmental profection, we encourage employees 1o use their personal utensils for drinks and meals so as to minimise the use
of disposables.

For the year ended 31 July

Use of resources Unit 2022 2023
Electricity kWh 696,168 737,750
Electricity intensity kWh per HK$ 1 million revenue 4,903 5,625
Water Cubic meter 308 273
Water intensity Cubic meter per HK$ 1 million revenue 217 2.08

Below is the direct and indirect energy consumption of the Group in the year ended 31 July 2023:

Energy consumption (kWh)

Energy type 2022 2023
Petrol 215,836 210,266
Electricity 696,168 737,750
Total Q12,004 948,016
Intensity (kWh per revenue of HK$1 million) 6,423 7,228

We have set the farget to reduce 10% of the use of energy resources in terms of intensity over the five-year period from the
year 2019/20. Energy conservation measures have been implemented in all our teaching centres and offices to reduce
the use of electricity by raising the temperature for airconditioning system from 23 to 26 degree Celsius. In addition, we
have also set the target to reduce 10% of the use of water resources in terms of intensity over the five-year period from the
year 2019/20. Although the water consumption for the Group's business is immaterial, we will continue to remind our staff
members fo use less water for cleaning purposes. In view of the positive progress made in the Reporting Period, our reductions
are on the right frack and our 5-year target should be achieved.

Since the Group is engaged in the service industry, the traceable packaging materials are mainly paper used in gifts. The
Group confinues fo mainfain a total elimination of all the use of plastic packaging materials in current year.

Paper Plastic
For the year ended 31 July 2022 0.061 tonne Nil
For the year ended 31 July 2023 0.142 tonne Nil
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A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

Our policy on environment protection centres around the principle of “Reduce, Reuse, and Recycle”. To achieve the desired results of
minimising impacts on the environment and natural resources, we must begin with regular monitoring and communication which are
crifical to raising awareness and changing pre-existing mindsets and behaviour of our employees and stakeholders in this aspect. To
priorifise our efforts, we fargeted key areas (namely energy consumption, paper usage, and wasfe generation] where our initiatives
could have the most impact on the environment and natural resources. As discussed above, we do not only educate our employees
and share best practices in achieving efficient use of energy and paper resources, but also invest in and encourage the use of new
technology and ecofriendly equipment that can minimise wastes and consumption of resources in our operation.

Our goal is more than simply complying with the relevant laws and regulations. VWe also aim to promote environment protection and
efficient use of natural resources to our next generation by being a good role model in this subject matter.

A4: CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change may impact our core business when teaching activities are disrupted due to adverse and extreme weather such as
more frequent and intense rainfall, flooding and typhoons. Our policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which may impact the Group include but not limited to, the adoption of online teaching and closely monitoring the weather in
advance to execufe confingency plans accordingly.

The physical risks of climate change are controllable because our operations are all situated in modern buildings which are resilient
against extreme weather. The transition risks of climate change are manageable as our core business, education, is already a low-
carbon business model.

Adverse and extreme weather brought by climate change may hinder the transportation and travelling of both our teachers, tutors and
students coming to our feaching centres. As a result, classes may have to be cancelled and revenue loss may incur. Rescheduling and
make-up classes may also result in additional administrative costs and loss of business. To minimise the impact of climate change,
online teaching platforms and equipment are available and will be continuously enhanced to suit the needs of the teachers and the
students. In view of all these measures, the impact on our revenue due to the risk of climate change was estimated to be less than 5%
on average during the Reporting Period.

B: SOCIAL

Our reputable brands, people-oriented principle and high teaching quality are our key differentiators from our competitors in the
private supplementary education services industry. \We are committed to high standards of teaching, and believe that this commitment
has contributed to the success of our business and the development of our brands.

Working together as a team, our teaching staff and non-eaching employees enable the Group fo provide lessons and support,
course planning and development, course material development and publication, course management as well as advertising,
markefing and media promotion in order fo serve our students and promote our brand. As at 31 July 2023, the Group had 189 full
time employees and maintained a pool of 86 partime employees, helping to make our success happen.

Having a high-quality teaching team is a key factor to success in our indusiry. Our teaching professionals are the ones who deliver
high-quality teaching to the students and represent our brand on the front line. Our teaching team was made up of 109 individuals,
comprising tutors, 19 day-school teachers, 5 fulime and 55 parttime teaching assistants. They worked diligently and taught
responsibly fo serve a sizable group of students which made a tofal of approximately 132,000 session enrollments for our courses
and services during the Reporting Period.

Apart from expressing gratitude to our entire staff, we are dedicated to being a good employer that cares for all of our employees.
Furthermore, in refurn for the frust given to us by the students and their parents, we dedicate ourselves to providing high-quality
teaching and education services to our customers so that they can have an enhanced leaming experience.

B1: EMPLOYMENT

Our Directors believe that success in hiring, training and refaining experienced teaching staff and employees is critical fo providing
reliable and high-quality education services in our business.
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We strive fo adopt a stringent recruitment process that allows us to engage and develop qualified teaching and non-feaching
staff. Our selection criteria include relevant academic qualifications, personality, experience and skills. In addition, we perform
background checks and use inferviews and demonsiration classes (for teaching staff) to determine an applicant’s suitability prior to
making recruitment decisions.

The Group has developed an Employee Handbook with reference to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) in Hong Kong. It
contains our human resources policy that covers various matters relating to wages and compensation, rest days and other types of
leaves, termination of employment, recruitment and promotion, working hours, other benefits and welfare, efc. The Group offers 14-
week maternity leave as required by sfatute in Hong Kong with effect from 11 December 2020.

We offer competitive remuneration and benefits, with reference to the market conditions, individual responsibilities, performance and
qualifications. All of our tutors are engaged either under (fulltime or parttime) employment contracts or service agreements, and they
are typically remunerated on revenue sharing scheme so as fo create a strong incentive for tutors to develop and deliver high-quality
teaching services. The Group has also joined the Mandatory Provident Fund benefit scheme in accordance with the arrangements
prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485). In addition, our employee benefits include medical
benefits for eligible staff and 5-day full-pay paternity leaves, etc.

The Group is an equal opportunity employer, hiring people based on their abilities, aptitude and knowledge. We value workforce
diversity and follow the government's Code of Practices on Employment under the Sex, Disability, Family Status, and Race
Discrimination Ordinances (Caps. 480, 487, 527 and 602) in our recruitment process. Our Directors confirmed that the Group
was in full compliance with the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. In particular, the Group’s policy
relating fo compensation and dismissal of its employees adheres to the relevant provisions in the Employment Ordinance. In addition,
to support the government's initiative for retaining employees due to COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has joined the Employment
Support Scheme for both the first and second rounds.

Our Directors confirmed that (i} there were no major disputes and we generally maintained a good relationship with our employees;
and (i) we had not faced any material recruitment and retention difficulties in respect of our employees during the Reporting Period.

The number of employees and the tumnover rate of each employee groups are set out as below:

Number of Employees
Number of full-time and part-time employees Number of employees by age group
by gender during the Reporting Period during the Reporting Period
Total employees: 275 Total employees: 275
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250 |
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Number of employees by geographic location during the Reporting Period
Total employees: 275
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Employees Turnover Rate by Gender, Age and Geographic Location

Male Female
27% 32%
Aged under 30 Aged 30 - 50 Aged over 50
51% 19% 11%
Hong Kong Mainland China
32% 1%

Among the nine senior management members of the Group, one of them is female, accounting for 11.1% of the senior management
team. The Group is striving for further gender diversity to obtain a more balanced view on the Group's strategic and tactical
developments.

The turnover rate of employees has decreased and was back to a normal ratio when compared to the previous financial year, since
the COVID-19 pandemic has improved, allowing business operation to return to normal.

B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

It is our main responsibility to provide a safe working environment to protect our employees from occupational hazards, and
fo provide our students with a healthy and safe leaming environment. All of our teaching centres are registered or provisionally
registered as schools under the Education Ordinance. This means that our teaching facilities have complied with the fire safety
requirements under the relevant regulations of the Fire Services Department. Besides, we properly put in place a number of security
measures, including CCTV, authorised access, security alarms and fire equipment, efc. fo keep our employees and students safe
while working and leaming in our facilities. Training sessions have been given fo our employees on proper routines in keeping
facilities safe and providing special arrangements for emergency situations. Guidelines have been esfablished and communicated to
our staff regarding workplace safety, including prevention of sexual harassment.

The Group is also committed to providing a healthy working environment for the employees. VWe regularly alert our employees to
occupational health risks arising from prolonged use of display screen equipment, incorrect sitting posture, wrong lifting position and
poor indoor air quality. Accumulation of occupational sfress can adversely affect health, interpersonal relationships, work and other
aspects in life. We therefore encourage having worklife balance among our employees, and find ways to help employees and
teaching staff reduce work sfress. In connection with this, we occasionally organised health talks and lunch or dinner gatherings for
our employees as one of the measures to manage and monifor the occupational health of our employees and teaching staff.

There have never been any work-related fatalities since the Group's establishment and in each of the past 3 years including the year
ended 31 July 2023. In the year ended 31 July 2023, there is no days' loss due to work injury.
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Due to COVID-19 pandemic and in order to reduce the risk of disease transmission in our teaching centres, the Group purchased
and maintained enough anti-epidemic materials, such as masks and cleaning & disinfecting supplies in our teaching centres for our
staff members and students. All the teaching centres are regularly disinfected and the Group has also implemented Work-From-Home
[WFH) policy when necessary fo lower the risk of infection. In addition, antiepidemic guidelines and notification mechanism are all
in place.

The Group has upgraded the equipment and provided additional training and safety guidelines to the maintenance and repair staff
accordingly. The Group has also issued reminders and scheduled monthly inspection visits fo ensure that fire exits are kept clear of
obstacles in each of its teaching centres. The Directors confirmed that there was no material injury or accident af the Group's facilities
and there was no violation of relevant laws and regulations during the Reporting Period.

B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Training and retaining quality staff are crifical fo the sustainability and success of our business. Part of our strategy is to offer good
development and training opportunities fo improve staff's knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work and to affract and refain
good and qualified falents.

We provide specific fraining to new employees to familiarise them with our working environment and operational procedures. From
fime fo fime we seek fo help our teaching assistants whom we believe possess the requisite qualities and affributes in advancing to
become tutors. Our Directors believe that our platform and infrastructure offer our teaching assistants the opportunities to develop their
teaching careers as tutors within our Group.

In order fo maintain consistency in our feaching pedagogy, lead tutors, who have their own teaching feam, sometimes pair up with
teaching assistants that have accumulated enough experiences and exposure to provide courses together. Team resources such as
teaching material and promotion will be shared so that the less experienced tutors can also benefit from the lead tutors.

For the top tutors of great potential, the Group provides support to them in their professional growth and development through
personal brand development, cooperation with internationally recognised brands and professional training.

In the Reporting Period, the Group did not provide official training to the employees due to the 5th wave of the outbreak of COVID
-19 pandemic and limited resources. However, our onthe-job training, coaching and mentorship has not stopped at individual and
departmental levels from time to time. Certain official trainings are planned to launch in the coming year.

B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

Our recruitment guidelines follow the labour standards and requirements under the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong,
including without limitation the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57). The Group prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour by
strictly adhering to the recruitment policy in our human resources function. We also conducted surprise inspection on the compliance
and execution of this policy. All of our tutors providing private supplementary secondary school education services and day school
teachers must be eligible fo teach under the Education Ordinance and/or Exemption Order.

As part of the recruitment protocol, our Human Resources Department reviews personal data, identity documents, and credential
certificates of job applicants for reference and verification. At least two rounds of inferviews are usually conducted with the applicants
for the teaching positions to ensure that they meet the suitability, eligibility, and legal requirements for the job vacancies, including
without limitation to avoiding child or forced labour.

Our Directors confirmed that the Group has complied with the laws and regulations in Hong Kong with regard to the prevention of
child and forced labour throughout the Reporting Period. The Group constantly takes actions to ensure that we do not use any form
of child labour or forced labour in its operations. For example, we would check the original identity documents of candidates during
the recruitment process and provide compensatory leave fo eligible employees who agree to work overtime on weekdays and rest
days. In any event, if we discovered any violation of labour standards and requirements, we will immediately take remedial and/or
compensation measures in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited
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B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

During the normal course of our business operation, we procure office supplies and equipment for our teaching centres and the head
office. To manage environmental and social risks of the supply chain, we make sure that our procurements are fair and transparent
and avoid engaging suppliers of questionable reputation and product quality. Our office and teaching equipment are primarily
purchased from manufacturers with brands known for good performance, reliability, durability and energy efficiency. We promote
environmentally preferable products and services when selecting suppliers. The products are monitored and measured against the
manufacturer’s promise and our expectation in these dimensions for replacement purchases in the future. We believe this practice of
procurement, though not formalised as a policy, will help minimise the impact on the environment by saving energy and reducing
wastes for disposal. The ESG Committee reviews the Group's relationship with our key tutors and feaching staff from time to time and
adopts necessary measures fo secure the continuity of the supply confracts by adjusting the terms agreeable o both parties.

We also purchase licences for using the copyrights of other organisations in preparing the study and teaching materials. We
regularly frain our teaching staff on copyright policy and communicate the ethical expectations on practitioners in the education
industry and our Group's corporate culture. Furthermore, we try our best to make our procurement with minimal harm fo the
environment by selecting sustainable products and services with green labels or certification. The table below shows our major
suppliers” geographical locations:

Hong Kong Mainland China North America Others
Number of suppliers 62 (2022 76) 1(2022: 2) 31(2022: 4) 0(2022: 0)
Total number of major suppliers 66 (2022: 82)

B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

We are commitfed to high standards of teaching, and believe that this commitment has contributed fo the success of our business and
the development of our brands. As the quality assurance procedures, our Group has adopted the following measures to maintain the
teaching standards and quality of our teaching team:

*  maintaining a record of our students’ results in the HKDSE Examinations as a KPI of the respective tufors [e.g. with 5**/5%);

and
e external monitoring of tutors via safisfaction surveys conducted through marketfing consultants.

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating fo products and services provided by the Group throughout the Reporting Period.

In order to observe and protect intellectual property rights, we have set up the Publication Censorship Committee to review and
scrufinise the course materials and study nofes fo ensure that they are up-o-date, accurate, relevant and free from copyright
infringement risks.

To increase our student safisfaction and enhance their learing experience, we have been upgrading the [T infrastructure, teaching
facilities and equipment in our centres (e.g. our upgraded student portal and [T infrastructure support more course delivery modes such
as live broadcasts, videos and joint broadcast classes to cope with the increasing demand for non-face-oface classes), especially
during the facefoface class suspension period in light of the COVID-19 pandemic situation. We have also implemented complaint
handling procedures to address customers' complaints in respect of issues relating to our services and operations. The Group has
no customers’ complaints during the Reporting Period. Whilst the business of the Group predominantly involves the provision of
services, no products sold are subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. The policy of the Group in relation to supply chain
management as disclosed in the section above shall apply to ensure the quality and safety of any products or materials provided/
sold by the Group and the health of their recipients. Since our Group principally engages in the provision of education services,
recall procedures are not relevant fo our core business. There were no recalls conceming the provision of products and services in
relation to safety and health reasons during the Reporting Period.
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In addition, the Group recognises the importance of keeping personal data of the students in sirict confidence, and thus has engaged
an independent infemet security service provider fo assist in ensuring that the personal information and data be managed with strict
care and preventing any unauthorised access and careless leakage of such personal data. Our independent internet security service
provider has experienced security personnel working at its security operations cenfres to monitor and analyse the data network
information regularly for daily information security management. In addition, virus scanning and internet protection software were also
installed on servers and individual stoff's computer.

The Group strives to provide clear information and avoid exaggeration or false claim about its services fo students. As a confrol
procedure, the contents of our advertisements were reviewed and approved by our senior management or Directors before
distribution or publication.

We are not aware of any breach or violation under the laws and regulations related to consumer data protection, including without
limitation the Supply of Services (Implied Terms) Ordinance (Cap. 457) in Hong Kong. Our Directors also confirmed that the Group
was in full compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) in Hong Kong during the Reporting Period.

B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

Integrity is an important part of education to develop and shape an individual's character. We strive fo be a good role model to our
next generation and hold ourselves to high standards of ethics in our business and personal life. The Group adopts a zero-tolerance
policy against improper behaviours or acts, including but not limited to bribery, corruption, collusion, extortion, frauds and money
laundering.

The Employee Handbook has been developed and updated fo reflect the spirits and provisions of the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) ("POBO") in Hong Kong. Our Directors and employees are also regularly informed of the Group's
expectations and guidelines on professional and ethical conducts during the normal course of business as part of their anti-corruption
fraining. Resfrictions and infernal procedures for reporting and approval are clearly specified regarding the offer and receipt of gifts,
entertainment, travel and fraining to our emp|oyees and feoching staff.

We have also put in place infernal controls and policies fo prevent the occurrence of fraud, theft, bribery, corruption and other
misconducts involving employees, customers and other third parties including implementing the Group's Anti-Corruption Policy, which
will be reviewed periodically by the Audit Commitiee and approved by the Board. In the event that employees come across any
questionable behaviours, they are encouraged to report to the Group's Audit Committee for further investigation.

As a Hong Kongisted company, the Group complies with the Corporate Governance Code issued by the Stock Exchange, which
requires the audit committee of a listed company to review internal reporting procedures such that its employees are able to raise
concerns about possible or actual improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The Group has implemented
its Whistleblowing Policy, which shall be reviewed periodically by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board, with proper
mechanisms in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters, as well as for appropriate follow-up action.

The Group has complied with the POBO together with all other applicable laws relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering throughout the Reporting Period. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group or its employees did not encounter any
incidents nor legal cases regarding corrupt practices during the Reporting Period. The Directors are of the view that the Group has
proper and adequate infernal controls and policies in place. In the Reporting Period, all the Directors were provided with the fraining
information in relation to anti-corruption in listed companies obtained from ICAC, and they were required to sign off upon completion
of the study.
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B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

We not only dedicate ourselves to providing private education services of highest quality, but also carry a social mission of cultivating
and advocating the idea of giving back to society among the young generation. It is our desire fo create a caring and giving culture
in our business operation. The Group had worked with Plan International Hong Kong to sef up a child safeguarding policy to build
in our organisation culture, value and environment which is safe for children in respect of any inferaction with our employees. Despite
the absence of specific company policies in this aspect, the Group actively gives back o the community and strongly encourages our
staff and students to do the same, so as to understand and respond to the needs and inferests of society.

e Charity and community services

The Group makes genuine efforts fo support charitable organisations and raise awareness among students and sfaff to poor
minorities and those in critical needs. While the Group continues to participate and sponsor different charity events, our staff
have also volunteered fo form community services teams for different good causes. Our Chairman, Ms. Leung Ho Ki, June, also
serves as the chairperson of the board of Plan International Hong Kong to support the campaigns and activities organised by
this infernational charitable organisation.

During the Reporting Period, we raised funds for Uplift Educational Charity Foundation Limited by setting up donation boxes af
our teaching cenfres. We also continued to support (i) The Hong Kong Federation of Youth Groups through providing online
video sharing of HKDSE examination strategies; (i) Yan Chai Hospital Group in delivering education seminars in its affiliate
secondary schools; and [iii) Orbis as a media sponsor in its Orbis Student Ambassador Campaigns. Other community services
partners included Red Cross (Blood Donation Drive) and Hong Kong Ladies Dynamic Association (Community Care).

e Financial assistance to facilitate knowledge sharing

As an educafor in society, we believe that knowledge changes fate. Our teaching teams have volunteered to work with “Principal
Chan Free Tutorial World” since 2013 by providing free workshops and educational services to students of high academic
aspirations but \ocking financial means. During the Reporting Period, we continued with our sponsorship in providing free
Beacon teaching materials to “Principal Chan Free Tutorial World”. We also launched a “Bumning Passion Tutoring Scheme”
during May 2022 to August 2022, and engaged over 20 youngsters to provide free tutoring services fo the members of
"Principal Chan Free Tutorial World”. Our objective is fo set good examples to empower all teaching professionals and our
next generation fo contribute to the community through voluntary knowledge sharing.

In addition, the Group has established the “Beacon Uprising Fund” ("&I23&2") since 2012 fo provide financial assistance
fo low-income families or families under the Comprehensive Social Security Assistance so that their children can enroll in our
tutorial classes. Thousands of students have benefited from this financial assistance scheme since its launch. Our goal is to
equip students in financial need with knowledge and learning opportunities so that they can achieve their dreams in the future.
In addition, Beacon College together with the Uplift Educational Charity Foundation Limited offered the “Uplift Scholarship
Programme” ("M 5 22ENET ") fo students who have strived for success despite facing challenges and difficult circumstances
during the Reporting Period.

o SC/Jo/arsh/ps fo c/eve/op academic talents

The Group also established meritbased scholarships to students studying Chinese and Chinese Literature at The Chinese
University of Hong Kong who have demonstrated outstanding academic performance and allround personal development.
These scholarships are intended fo help students to pursue their academic goals and explore new horizons.

Through our extensive community networks, we have esfablished a close partnership with organisations in different welfare
sectors. During the Reporting Period, our contribution to society eamed us the “15 Year Plus Caring Company Llogo” awarded
by the Hong Kong Council of Social Services in recognition of our efforts in actively shouldering social responsibility.
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AWARDS IN 2022-23

Awards received:

Year Award Awarding Organization

2023 Beacon College Hong Kong Top Brand Mark Scheme Hong Kong Top Brand Mark scheme

2023 Beacon College Partner Employer Award The Hong Kong General Chamber of
Small and Medium Business

2023 Beacon College Caring Company 15+ Hong Kong Council of Social Service

2022 Beacon College The Most Outstanding Brand in Asia Award  International Brand Festfival Asia

2022 Beacon College Social Capital Builder Awards 2022 Community Investment & Inclusion Fund and
Home and Youth Affairs Bureau

2022 Beacon College Smiling Enferprise 5+ year Award Mystery Shopper Service Association

2022 Beacon College Smiling Employer 5+ year Award Mystery Shopper Service Association

2022 Beacon College Happinessatrwork 2023 Promoting Happiness Index Foundation

2022 Beacon College Hong Kong Top Service Brands Hong Kong Brand Development Council
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

i

To the Shareholders of BExcellent Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of BExcellent Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and ifs subsidiaries (the "Group”), which
are set out on pages 57 to 108, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 July 2023;

e the consolidated stafement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Qur opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 July 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards {"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants {"HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ["HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters identified in our audit is as follows:

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Carrying values of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets relating fo its core business

Refer to notes 2.5, 2.7(b), 2.71c), 2.8, 2.23 and 4f] to the

consolidated financial statements

The core business of the Group is the provision of private
supplementary secondary school education services and the
operation of private secondary day schools in Hong Kong.

As at 31 July 2023, the Group had property, plant and
equipment, rightof-use assets and intangible assets relating to
its core business with carrying values totalling HK$4,375,000,
HK$ 16,805,000 and HK$4,033,000 respectively (collectively
the "Core Business Nonfinancial Assets”).

The post-pandemic learning momentum among students had
not yet improved noficeably and the Group incurred loss for
the year ended 31 July 2023. Accordingly, management
considered that there were indicators of pofential impairment
of the Core Business Non-Financial Assets and performs an
impairment assessment of the Core Business Non-financial
Assets.

In carrying out the impairment assessment, management
considered its core business as one cash generating unit
["CGU"]. Judgements and estimates were involved in
determining the recoverable amount of the CGU, which was
based on value-inuse calculation. The value-in-use calculation
took into consideration the cash flow projection of the CGU
based on financial budget approved by management and a
number of estimates and assumptions made by management,
including revenue growth rates and ferminal growth rate used in
the cash flow projection and the discount rate applied to bring
the future cash flows back to their present values.

Based on the impairment assessments carried out by
management, there was no provision for impairment of the Core
Business Non-Financial Assefs for the year ended 31 July 2023.

We focused on this area because of the financial significance
of the balances, subjectivity of judgements and estimation
uncerfainty involved.

Our audit procedures in relafion to management's assessment
of the carrying values of the Core Business Non-Financial
Assefs included:

*  We understood and reviewed management's impairment
assessment process, including the identification of
indicators of impairment, determination of CGU and
appropriateness of the value-in-use calculation models
used, and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and the subjectivity of judgement involved in
determining assumptions fo be applied.

*  We fested the mathematical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculation and agreed input data used by management
fo supporting evidence such as actual results and financial
budget approved by management.

*  We compared the current year actual results with the prior
year's financial forecasts to assess the reasonableness of
management financial budgets.

*  We involved our infernal valuation experts fo assess the
reasonableness of the discount rafe by benchmarking to
other comparable companies in the same industry.

*  We assessed the reasonableness of key estimates and
assumptions applied in the financial budget including
revenue growth rates and ferminal growth rate applied by
management by comparing them with historic results and
latest economic and industry forecasts.

*  We performed sensifivity analyses by making adjusiments
fo the key assumptions in management’s impairment
assessment and considering whether any reasonably
possible adjustments, in isolation or as a combination,
would result in material change in recoverable amounts.

Based on our procedures, we considered that the risk
assessment of the recoverable amount of the Core Business
Non-Financial Assets remained appropriate, and the
judgements, esfimates and assumptions made by management
in determining the recoverable amount of Core Business Non-
Financial Assefs are supportable by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information included
in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is fo read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required fo report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The direcfors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such infernal control as the directors defermine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concemn basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or fo cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are fo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due fo fraud or error, and to issue an audifor's report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatfements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and mainfain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecfing a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intenfional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant fo the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriafe in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's infernal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the direcfors.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concem basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability fo continue as a going concem. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required fo draw
affention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, fo modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up fo the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group fo cease fo continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business acfivities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. Ve remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in infernal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we defermine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in exiremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected fo outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement pariner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Chan Chui Man.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 October 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31 July 2023

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Revenue 5 131,162 141,829
Other income 6 11,050 15,011
Other gains/(losses) - net 6 3,490 (1,102)
Staff costs J (67,167) (70,047)
Tutor service fees (26,168) (33,012
Shortterm lease, variable lease and low-value lease payments (12,256) (11,012)
Advertising and promotion expenses (5,666) (4,288)
Prinfing and other operating expenses (44,997) (38,320)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 15,16, 18 (16,330) (22,890)
Reversal of impairment loss on financial assets 3.1(b) 245 460
Operating loss (26,637) (23,371)
Finance costs 10 (2,670) (1,224)
Share of profits of associates 2,535 270
Loss before taxation 11 (26,772) (24,325)
Taxation 12 (169) (1,8806)
Loss for the year (26,941) (26,211)
Other comprehensive loss
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Change in the fair value of equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income 21 (128) (@1)
Other comprehensive loss for the year (128) (@1)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (27,069) (26,302)
Loss attributable to
— Owners of the Company (27,844) (25,500)
— Non-confrolling inferests 903 (705)
(26,941) (26,211)
Total comprehensive loss for the year afiributable to
— Owners of the Company (27,972) (25,597)
— Non-confrolling interesfs 903 (705)
(27,069) (26,302)
Loss per share for loss attributable 1o the owners
of the Company (expressed in HK cent per share):
Basic loss per share 13(a) (5.53) (5.10)
Diluted loss per share 13(b) (5.53) (5.10)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 July 2023

2023 2022
Nofe HK$'000 HK$'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 9,022 10,787
Rightofuse assets 16 30,866 33,205
Investment property 17 18,000 19,100
Infangible assets 18 8,240 4,732
Inferest in associates 20 5,104 271
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income 2] 66 194
Deferred income tax assefs 23 4,594 4,660
Financial assets af fair value through profit or loss 22 335 —
Deposits and prepayments 25 2,068 2,064
78,295 75,013
Current assets
Accounts receivables 24 2,626 2,499
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 25 16,403 20,255
Income tax recoverable 1 22
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 22 17,092 —
Cash and cash equivalents 26 75,283 103,888
111,405 126,664
Total assets 189,700 201,677
Equity
Share capifal 32 124,135 120,956
Other reserves 34 6,575 9,054
Accumulated losses 33 (53,637) (28,078)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 77,073 101,932
Non-controlling inferests 35 1,424 (1,605)
Total equity 78,497 100,327
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 July 2023

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Other payables 28 14,189 16,982
Contract liabilities 27 12,896 7,285
Current income tax payable 193 140
Borrowings 30 63,565 55,074
Lease liabilities 16 10,043 8,758
100,886 88,239
Non-current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities 29 941 585
Deferred income tax liabilities 23 16 11
Lease liabilities 16 9,360 12,515
10,317 13,111
Total liabilities 111,203 101,350
Total equity and liabilities 189,700 201,677

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statfements on pages 57 to 108 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 October 2023 and

were signed on its behalf.

Mr. Tam Wai Lung

Director

Mes. Leung Ho Ki, June

Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 July 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share
capital
and share
premium

Note HK$'000

Other
Reserves

HK$'000

Accumulated
losses

HK$'000

Total
HK$'000

Non-
controlling
interests

HK$'000

Total equity
HK$'000

Balance at 1 August 2021
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss for the year

Change in the fair value of equity
investment af fair value through
other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners
Share-based compensation
Release of sharebased

compensation reserve upon
lapse of share options
Acquisition of a subsidiary

Total transactions with owners
in their capacity as owners

Balance at 31 July 2022

Balance at 1 August 2022

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss for the year

Exchange difference arising on
franslation of financial statements

Change in the fair value of equity
investment af fair value through
other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners

Issuance of shares

Release of share-based compensation
reserve upon lapse of share options

Transaction with non-controlling
inferests

Business combination

Disposal of subsidiaries

Total transactions with owners
in their capacity as owner

Balance at 31 July 2023

120,956

16,676

(10,737)
(25,500

126,895
(25,500)

(1)

(90T)
(705)

125,094
(26,211)

(1]

[25,500)

(25,597)

(705)

(26,302)

634

634

[7,531)

634

1

635

120,956

19
37

9,054

(28,078)

101,032

(1,605

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying nofes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 July 2023

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations 36(a) (8,791) (7,9106)
Income tax [paid)/refund (24) 960
Net cash used in operating activities (8,815) (6,956)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,549) (2,368)
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 37 (3,417) —
Dividends received from an associate 200 —
Purchase of intangible assets (675) (547)
Sales proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment — 15
Payments for investment in associates (1,050) (1)
Interest received 1,440 175
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9,259 —
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (21,263) —
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 213 —
Cash outflow from disposal of subsidiaries (504) —
Net cash used in investing activities (17,346) (2,7206)
Cash flows from Financing activities
Principal elements of lease payment 36(b) (11,456) (13,570)
Interest elements of lease payment 36(b) (861) (849)
Proceeds from borrowings 36(b) 9,000 48,000
Repayment of borrowings 36(b) (509) (5171)
Inferest paid 36(b) (1,809) (375)
Proceeds from capital injection 3,188 —
Payments fo acquire non-controlling interests 19 (10) —
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (2,457) 32,695
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (28,618) 23,013
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 103,888 81,148
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents 13 (273)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 26 75,283 103,888

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited [the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act, Cap 22 (law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands and
listed (the “Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 13 July 2018.
The address of the Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and ifs subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally
engaged in the provision of private supplementary secondary school education services, the operation of private secondary
day schools and offer ancillary education services and products in Hong Kong. The ultimate holding company is Beacon
Enterprise Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Hong Kong dollar (“"HK$'000"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This nofe provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financia
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stafed.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”), and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These consolidated financial statements also
include applicable disclosure required by the Rules Govemning the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

The following amendments to existing standards are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1
August 2022, but have no material effect on the Group's reported results and financial position for the current and prior
accounting periods.

—  Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use
—  Amendmentfs fo HKFRS 3 Reference fo the Conceptual Framework
—  Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

—  Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements fo IFRS Standards 2018-2020

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

New standard and amendments published by the HKICPA that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted

by the Group are as follows:

Effective for
accounting years
beginning

on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1
HK Int 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Sing\e Transaction

Insurance Contfracts
Insurance Contfracts

Presentation of Financial Statements
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification

1 January 2023

1 January 2023
1 January 2023

January 2023
January 2023
January 2024

1
1
1
1 January 2024

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Confains

a Repayment on Demand Clause
leases (Lease Liability in a Sale and Lleaseback)
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Invesfor and

its Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2024
To be determined

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new or revised standards and amendments,

cerfain of which may be relevant to the Group's operations and may give rise to changes in accounting policies,

changes in disclosures and remeasurement of certain items in the consolidated financial statements.

Cerfain new standards and amendments, which are effective after 31 July 2023, have been published and will be

adopted by the Group from their effective dates. The Group is currently assessing the potential impact of these standards

and amendments but expects their adoption will not have a significant effect on the Group's consolidated financial

statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for the following:

—  investment property (see note 17); and

—  financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") [see note 21).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,

income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other

factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of judgements

about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions fo accounting estimates are

recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated financial

statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note 4.

2.2 Consolidation

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities| over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed fo, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group [note 2.2(v)).

Infra-group fransactions, balances, income and expenses on fransactions between group companies are
eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-company fransactions that are recognised in assets are also
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Associafes

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Invesiments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting (note 2.2 {iii)), after initially being recognised at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
fo recognise the Group's share of the postacquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group's share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured longerm receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated fo the extent of the Group's
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset fransferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary fo ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy

described in note 2.8.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(iv)

(v

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership inferest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is
recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of control, joint
control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured fo its fair value with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained inferest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred fo another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS:s.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is
refained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The Group recognises any non-controlling inferest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
confrolling inferests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present
ownership inferests’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-elated costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in sfages, the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured fo fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any confingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed fo be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS @ either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is nof remeasured, and its subsequent sefflement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair value
of non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Annual Report 2023

65



66

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2

23

2.4

2.5

Consolidation (continued)
(vi)  Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend and receivable.

Impairment fesfing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends from these invesiments
if the dividend exceeds the tofal comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the year the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the invesiment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(a)  Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates [the “funcfional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar which is the functional and the presentation currency of the Group's
entifies.

(b)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are franslated info the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated sfatement of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
within ‘other losses’.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as assets held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stafed at hisforical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly affributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the assefs’ carrying amount or recognised as a separate assef, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of
the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are expensed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during the financial year in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straightline method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Property Lease terms

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Office and laboratory equipment 5 years

leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining period of the lease or useful life
Motor vehicles 5 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5

2.6

27

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting

period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately fo ifs recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than ifs estimated recoverable amount [note 2.8).

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is defermined by comparing the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and buildings which are held for longterm rental yields and/or for capital appreciation,
and which are not occupied by the Group. Investment property is initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. Subsequently, they are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values are
presented in profit or loss as part of other gains/(losses).

Intangible assets
(a)  Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in note 2.2(v). Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in
infangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried af cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity

sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment festing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating unifs or groups of cash-generating units that are expected fo benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified af the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

(b)  Software

Costs associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled
by the Group are recognised as infangible assets when the following criteria are met:

— itis fechnically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use;

—  management intends fo complete the software and use or sell it;

—  there is an ability fo use or sell the software;

— it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits;

—  adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and fo use or sell the
software are available: and

—  the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite] and impairment
losses (note 2.8).

Amortisation of infangible assets with finite useful life is charged to profit or loss on a sfraightline method over the
esfimated useful life of 5 to 10 years from the point at which the asset is ready for use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Intangible assets (continued)

(c]

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see
note 2.8). Expenditures on internally generated goodwill and brands are recognised as expenses in the period
in which they are incurred. Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to the consolidated
income sftatement on a straightline basis over their estimated useful lives. The following intangible asset with finite
useful lives is amortised from the date it is available for use and its estimated useful lives is as follows:

Llicence 5 years

The asset’s useful lives and its amortisation methods is reviewed annually.

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

2.9

Non-inancial assefs that have an indefinite useful life, which are not subject to depreciation or amortisation, are tested
at least annually for impairment and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. All other nonfinancial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the assel’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment,
assetfs are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows [cash-generating unis).
Non-inancial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.

Investments and other financial assets

(a)

(b)

(c]

Classification

The Group's management assessed the Group's business models of management, and the contractual cash flow
characteristics, of each of the Group’s financial instruments, and classified them into the following measurement
categories under HKFRS 9 (2014

—  those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income or through
profit or loss); and

—  those to be measured at amortised cost.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on fradedate, the date on which the Group
commifs fo purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownerships.

Measurement

At inifial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the profit or loss.

Financial assefs with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when defermining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and inferest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(d)

(e

Subsequenf measurement
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments measured at amortised cost as below:

—  Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less loss allowance for expected credit losses (note 2.9(e)). Interest income from these financial assets is
included in interest income using the effective interest rafe method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange
gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the profit or loss.

— liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is
no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue fo be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group's right fo receive payments is esfablished.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised in other income/(losses) in the profit or loss
as applicable. Impairment losses [and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are
not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses ["ECL") associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

At each reporting date, the Group measures the loss allowance of ECL for a financial asset at an amount equal
fo lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition. If, at
the reporting date, the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. ECL is the weighted average credit losses with the probability of default as the weight. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within twelve months affer the reporting date. Assessments are performed based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific o the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions af the reporting date as well as the forecast of future condifions.

For accounts receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS @, which requires
lifetime ECL to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see note 24 for further details.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, the loss allowance of ECL for these financial assets will be determined
based on whether their credit risk are low at each reporting date, and, if so, by recognising a loss allowance
of 12-month ECL. If the financial asset is not subsequently of a low credit risk, the corresponding provision for
doubtful debts will be recognised as equal o lifetime ECL.

The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or
risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.9 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(e)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of an asset and whether there has
been a significant increase in credif risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as af the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supporiable, including hisforical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue

cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly:

*  exisfing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected
fo cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; and

*  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtors.

(i)  Definition of default

For infernal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information
developed infernally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credif—impoired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit

impaired includes observable data about the following events:
e significant financial difficulty of the borrower;

*  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower's financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enfer bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv)  Write-off policy

Financial assefs are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the company. The Group categorises a loan or receivable for
write off when the counterparly is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered info bankruptcy
proceedings. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the Group continues to engage in
enforcement activity fo affempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are

recognised in profit or loss.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an infention fo setile on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future assets and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or

bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Accounts and other receivables

Accounts receivables are amounts due from customers for services rendered in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of accounts and other receivables is expected in one year or less [or in the normal operafing cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assefs. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Accounts and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
confain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds accounts and
other receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

See notes 24 and 25 for further information about the Group's accounting for accounts and other receivables and note
2.9(e) for a description of the Group's impairment policies.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and demand deposits held
at call with banks with original maturities of three months or less.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.14 Other payables

Other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to setile the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in setflement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
oufflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required fo seffle the obligation using
a preax rafe that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as inferest expense.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, nef of fransaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds [net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer seftlement of the
liability for af least 12 months dfter the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.17 Taxation

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred fax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the

extent that it relates fo items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Current income fax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the places where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management pericdically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect fo situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assefs and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. However, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting for taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income fax is defermined using tax rafes [and laws| that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the statement of financial position date and are expected fo apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income fax liability is setfled.

Deferred income fax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investment in a
subsidiary, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assefs are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investment in a
subsidiary only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is
sufficient taxable profit available which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable enfities where there is an
intention to seffle the balances on a net basis.

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sales of goods and rendering of
services in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods or services
is fransferred fo the customer. Depending on the ferms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the goods or services may be transferred over fime or at a point in fime.

The Group recognised revenues on the following bases:

(a)

Private supplementary secondary school education services

The Group provides private supplementary secondary school education services for students from Secondary 1
fo Secondary 6. Revenue is recognised over contract period in which the courses are rendered as the Group's
performance provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer. A contract
liability is recognised for tuition fee received while tuition services are not yet provided at the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

(c)

Private secondary day school services

The Group operates private secondary day schools. Revenue is recognised over contract period in which
the courses are rendered as the Group's performance provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer. A contract liability is recognised for tuition fee received while tuition services are
not yet provided at the end of the reporting period.

Ancillary education services and products

The Group offers various ancillary education services and products. Revenue is recognised in which the relafed
services and products are rendered or sold.

2.19 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.

2.20 Tutor service fees

Tutor service fees are calculated based on certain percentage of revenue from education services, net of cerfain variable

expenses affributable to such tutor.

The tutor service fees are recognised as expense as incurred.

2.21 Employee benefits

The Group operates a single defined contribution pension plan as postemployment scheme.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension
insurance plans on a mandatory, confractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations
once the confributions have been made, and the contributions are fully and immediately vested in the employees.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid confributions are
recognised as an assef fo the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

There are no contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees who leave the plan prior fo vesting
fully in such contributions made by the Group. Hence, there is no forfeited contributions used by the Group to
reduce the existing level of contributions, pursuant to paragraph 26(2) of Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses based on a formula that takes into consideration the
profit attributable to the company’s employees affer certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up fo the statement of
financial position date.

Employee entiflements fo sick leave and matemity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Share-based compensation expenses

The Group operates share optfion schemes [the “Scheme”) under which the Group receives services from its directors,
employees and futors in exchange of equity instruments (options) of the Group to acquire the shares of the Company
af specified exercise prices. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant of the options o acquire
the shares of the Company is recognised as an expense in profit or loss with a corresponding increase in share-based
compensation reserve under equity. The tofal amount to be expensed is determined by reference fo the fair value of the
options.

The fotal expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be safisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
opfions that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision fo original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
fransaction costs are credited fo share capifal,

2.23 leases

leases are recognised as a rightofuse asset and a corresponding liability at the date af which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and the finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period. The rightofuse asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's
useful life and the lease term on a straightline basis. Assets and liabiliies arising from a lease are inifially measured on
a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including insubstance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable

e variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain o exercise that option; and

e payments of pendalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the inferest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be defermined, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to be paid fo borrow the funds
necessary fo obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

Rightof-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;

*  any lease payments made/accrued at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; and
*  any initial direct costs.

The rightof-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight line basis.

Payments associated with shortterm leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a sfraightline basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Shortferm leases are leases with a lease ferm of 12 months or less. low-value assets mainly
comprise small items of office equipment.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of leases across the Group. These terms are used to
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. In determining the lease period, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive fo decide on whether fo exercise an extension opfion (or
not to exercise a termination opﬂon)4 Extension options (or periods after termination opﬁons} are on\\/ included in the
lease ferms if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended [or not terminated).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Leases (continued)

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straightline basis over the
lease ferm. The respective leased assets are included in the consolidated statement of financial position based on their
nature.

2.24 Dividends

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's consolidated financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

2.25 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability, other than that assumed in a business combination, is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

2.26 Related parties

For the purpose of these financial statements, related party includes a person and entity as defined below:
[1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the company if that person:

[l has control or joint control of the Company;

[i)  has significant influence over the Company; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
[2)  An entfity is related fo the company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

[i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) both enfifies are joint ventures of the same third party.
liv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other enfity is an associate of the third entity.

(v]  the enfity is a postemployment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company or an entity
related to the Company. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Company.

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (1).

[viil o person identified in (1(i) has significant influence over the entity or is @ member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.27 Government grants

3.1

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relafing to costs are deferred
and recognised as other income in the profit or loss over the period necessary fo match them with the costs that they are
infended to compensate.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

Risk management is carried out under direction by the Boards of Directors. The directors and management identfify,
evaluate and hedge financial risks in close cooperation with the Group's operating units. The Group has principles
for overall risk management, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and use of derivative financial
instruments.

(a)  Market risk

(i)  Foreign exchange risk

Entiies within the Group are exposed fo foreign exchange risk from future commercial transactions and
monetary assefs and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.
However, the Group's operations are mainly in Hong Kong. Foreign currency transactions and monetary
assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the entities
within the Group are insignificant to the Group.

(i) Inferest rate risk

Other than bank balances, the Group has no significant interestbearing assets. The Group's income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.

The Group's interest rate risk arises primary from borrowings. Borrowings are primarily issued at variable
rates which therefore expose the Group to cash flow inferest rate risk.

At 31 July 2023, if interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the Group's loss for the year would have been approximately HK$59,000 (2022: approximately
HK$244,000) lower/higher. The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in
inferest rate had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied fo the exposure 1o
inferest rafe risk for both derivative and non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date. The
50 basis point (2022: 50 basis poinf] increase or decrease represents management's assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rate over the period until the end of next annual reporting period.

(b)  Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets at the reporting date is the carrying
amounts of deposits with banks, accounts receivables and deposits and other receivables.

Deposits with banks are mainly placed with high-creditquality financial instituions. Management considers that
the credit risk associated with the deposits with banks and financial insfitution is low.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's exposure fo credit risk arising from accounts receivables
are disclosed in note 24.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)

Deposits were mainly rental deposit, utilities and management deposits. For these deposits, the credit quality of
these deposits has been assessed with reference to historical information about the counterparties default rates
and financial position of the counterparties. Therefore, ECL rate of these deposits is assessed to be minimal.

The Group measures the ECL of other receivables based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rafes, and those receivables are assessed individually for ECL. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the past repayment history, the
current market conditions, the valuation of the pledged collaterals, if any, as well as forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period.

The movement of loss allowances for other receivables are as follows:

HK$000
At 1 August 2021 2,479
Reversal of allowance for impairment 460)
At 31 July 2022 and 1 August 2022 2,019
Reversal of allowance for impairment (245)
At 31 July 2023 1,774

Reversal of impairment loss on financial assets recognised in profit or loss.

During the year, the following reversal of losses were recognised in profit or loss in relation fo impaired financia

assefs:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
Reversal of previous impairment loss fnofe 25) (245) 460)
Reversal of impairment loss on financial assets (245) 460)

The maximum exposure fo credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, in the
consolidated sfatement of financial position.

(c)]  Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient working capital. It is the policy of the Group
fo regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and to ensure that adequate working capital is
available for operating, investing and financing activities.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

3.2

3.3

Financial risk factors (continued)
(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
year at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the confractual undiscounted cash flows.

More than More than

Within 1 year 2 years
1 yeor/on but within but within More than
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

At 31 July 2022

Other payables and other
non-current liabilities
lexclude provision for

reinstatement cost) 14,783 — — — 14,783
Borrowings 55,083 — — — 55,083
Lease liabilities 9,442 7,784 5214 — 22,440

At 31 July 2023

Other payables and other
non-current liabilities
[exclude provision for

reinstatement cost) 12,118 — - - 12,118
Borrowings 65,630 — - - 65,630
Lease liabilities 11,585 7,520 1,219 — 20,324

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order o enhance returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

With regard fo maintenance and enhancement of capital structure, the Group considers relevant economic and market
condifions and fakes necessary measures for the beneficial inferest of the Group and its shareholders.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the Group total debt to equity ratio. The Group aims to maintain a
manageable fotal debt to total equity rafio. Total debt is calculated as borrowing and lease liabilities. At 31 July 2023,
the fotal debttofotal equity rafio is 105.7% (At 31 July 2022, the total debtto-total equity ratio is 76.1%.)

Fair value estimation

The Group's financial instruments carried af fair value as at 31 July 2023 and 2022 by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as
follows:

e Quoted prices unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly [that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

. Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the Group's financial assefs that is measured af fair value as af 31 July 2023 and 2022.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

As of 31 July 2022
Financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income fnote 21) — — 194 194

_ — 194 194

As of 31 July 2023
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
[nofe 22) 17,092 — 335 17,427
Financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income fnofe 21) — — 66 66

17,092 — 401 17,493

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the years ended 31 July 2023 and 2022:

FVOCI

HK$'000

Balance as at 1 August 2021 285
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income (@1)
Balance as at 31 July 2022 and 1 August 2022 194
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income (128)
Balance as at 31 July 2023 66

There were also no transfers between categories during the year.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed fo be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes esfimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment fo the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Impairment of other receivables

The loss allowance for other receivables based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the past
repayment history and outstanding confract period of the individual tutors, the current market conditions, the valuation of
the pledged collaterals, if any, as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Management
reassesses other receivables regularly and provision could change significantly as a result of changes in the financial
position and payment sfatus of the counterparties and in response to the local economic conditions.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Assessment of goodwill impairment

The Group fests annually whether goodwill have suffered any impairment and when there is indication that they may be
impaired, in accordance with the accounting policy sfated in note 2.7(a). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating
units have been defermined based on value-in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions. These calculations
require the use of estimates. The key assumptions were disclosed in note 18.

Recognition of share-based compensation expenses

The Group has used the Black Scholes Model and Binomial Model to determine the total fair value of the options
granted, which is fo be expensed over the vesting period. Significant estimates on assumptions, such as the underlying
equity value, riskfree interest rate, expected volatility, dividend yield, exercise multiple and postvesting exit rate, are
required to be made by the Group in applying the models.

Income taxes

The Group is principally subject to income faxes in Hong Kong. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
esfimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and
liabilities in the year in which such determination is made. While deferred income tax liabilities are provided in full on
all taxable temporary differences, deferred income fax assefs are recognised only fo the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. In assessing the amount of
deferred income tax assefs that need to be recognised, the Group considers future faxable income and business plan.
In the event that the Group's esfimates of projected future faxable income and benefits from available business plan are
changed, or changes in current income tax regulations are enacted that would impact the timing or extent of the Group's
ability to utilise the tax benefits of net operating loss camy-forwards in the future, adjustments to the recorded amount of
net deferred income tax assets and income tax expense would be made.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Management defermines the estimated lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant
and equipment and infangible assets (other than goodwill). Management will revise the depreciation and amortisation
charges where useful lives are different from those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolefe or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned.

Impairment of non-financial assets relating to its core business

The Group conducts impairment reviews of non-financial assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. As at 31 July 2023, the recoverable amount of the Group is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on the financial
budget approved by management covering a five-year period and future forecast respectively. Forecast profitability is
based on past performance and expected future changes in costs and revenue. Major cash flow projections are based
on long-range financial forecasts using revenue growth rate of 33.9% in 2024, 10.8% in 2025, 3.9% in 2026, 1.4%
in 2027 and 1.2% in 2028, and terminal growth rate of 2.5%. Future cash flows are discounted at a pre-tax rate of
17% (equivalent fo a postax rate of 15%). Based on the impairment assessment carried out by management, there
is no provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment, rightof-use assefs and intangible assets relating to its
core business. Management believes that any reasonably possible changes in the assumptions used in the impairment
reviews would not give rise fo any impairment as at 31 July 2023.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(g) Estimation of fair value of investment property

The fair value of investment property as at 31 July 2023 is determined by an independent professionally qualified
valuer based on a market value assessment. The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an acfive market for
similar properties. In the absence of such information, the amount is determined within a range of reasonable fair
value esfimates. The valuer has applied the direct comparison method. The fair value derived from direct comparison
approach considers the recent prices of similar properties with adjusiments to reflect the difference in characteristics of
the properties. The carrying amount of investment property at 31 July 2023 was HK$ 18,000,000 (note 17).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors are the Group's chief operating decision-makers ("CODM"). Management has determined the
operating segments based on the information reviewed by the CODM for the purposes of allocating resources and assessing
performance.

The CODM consider the business by nature of business activities and assess the performance of private supplementary
secondary school education services, private secondary day school services and ancillary education services and products.
Ancillary education services and products mainly represent [i) IELTS and foreign language courses under our “Beacon
BExcellent” brand; (i) mock examination services; |iii) education services to schools and institutions in Hong Kong and
mainland China under our “Diverse learning Club” (% 7T2& ), “1% Group Education” (E{k#E) and "Hong Kong
Beacon International Education” (&7 832 BIFR X&) brands respectively; (iv) VIP self-study services; [v) tutorial and consultation
services, inferview preparation, language and supplementary primary school education under our childhood education brands,
educational services under our “Ascent Prep” brand, BTEC Level 3 Certificate in Enterprise and Entrepreneurship and language
courses under “Beacon CAPE” brand, products including but not limited to online course scheduling and management services,
as well we online refail and education business under our “Beacon Living” and "CourseZ” brands respectively. The CODM
consider that the Group operates and is managed as a single operating segment.

In the following table, revenue recognised during the year is disaggregated by major products/service lines and timing of
revenue recognition.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
Maijor products/service lines

Private supplementary secondary school education services 87,008 113,942
Private secondary day school services 11,570 8,784
Ancillary education services and products 32,584 19,103
131,162 141,829
2023 2022
HK$’'000 HK$'000

Timing of revenue recognition:
Over time 124,812 133,508
At a point in time 6,350 8,321
131,162 141,829

Maiority of the Group's revenue from external customers and assets were generated from and located in Hong Kong. All
unsafisfied contracts of the Group are related to education service contfracts and those contracts are for periods of one year
or less. Revenue recognised during the year that was included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the year amounts fo
HK$7,285,000 (2022: HK$15,352,000). As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated fo these unsatisfied

contracts is not disclosed.
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6 OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) - NET
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
Other income
Government subsidies 241 10,700
IT service income (Note (i) 6,140 2917
Interest income 1,440 176
Advertising income 1,637 63
Rental income from investment property 680 574
Sundry income 912 581
11,050 15,011
Other gains/|losses) - net
Decrease in fair value of investment property fnote 1.7) (1,100) (300)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment — [528)
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,583 —
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,506 —
Exchange differences - net (499) (274)
3,490 (1,102)
Note:
(i) During the year ended 31 July 2023, the Group recognised the information technology services provided by Vico Company Limited of
HK$6,140,000 (2022: HK$2,917,000).
7 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS)
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
Salaries, allowances and bonus 64,157 66,241
Share-based compensation expenses (nore 9) — 634
Pension costs - defined contribution refirement plans (Nofe [a)) 3,010 3,172
67,167 70,047

Notes:

(a)  Pension costs - defined contribution retirement plans

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in accordance with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance of Hong Kong. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
in Hong Kong are each required to contribute 5% of the employees’ gross eamings with a ceiling of HK$ 1,500 per
month commencing on 1 June 2014 fo the MPF Scheme.
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7 STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals

The emoluments payable fo the five highest paid individuals are as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances and benefits in kind 8,576 8,509
Pension costs - defined contribution retirement plans 90 Q0
Bonuses — 279
8,666 8,878

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group included 4 directors (2022: 4 directors) for the
year ended 31 July 2023, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in nofe 8(a). The emoluments of

the remaining individual fell within the following band:

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

HK$ 1,500,001 - HK$2,000,000 1 |
1 1

During the year ended 31 July 2023, no emolument was paid by the Group fo any of the Directors or the five highest

paid individuals as an inducement fo join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

8 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive for the year ended 31 July 2023 is set out below:

Employer's
Discretionary Other  contribution Non-cash
bonuses benefit o pension Other benefit
Name Fees Salary (Note (i) (Note (i) scheme  emolument (Note fiif)) Total
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
Execulive directors
Mr. Tam Wai lung - 1,344 — 1,892 18 = = 3,254
Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Wister = 1,200 = = 18 = = 1,218
Ms. Leung Ho Ki, June - 1,680 - — 18 - — 1,698
Mr. li Man Wai = 960 = = 18 = = 978
Independent nonexeculive directors
Prof. Wong Roderick Sue Cheun = 180 = = = = = 180
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong = 180 = = = = = 180
Mr. Li Kai Sing = 180 = = = = = 180
- 5724 - 1,892 72 - - 7,688
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8 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive for the year ended 31 July 2022 is sef out below:

Employer's
Discrefionary Other  confribution Non-cash
bonuses benefit  to pension Other benefit
Name Fees Salary (Note fi)) (Note (i) scheme  emolument (Note {iii)) Tofal

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Executive directors

Mr. Tam Wai lung - 1,322 56 1,894 18 - 13 3,303
Mr. Chan Tsz Ying, Wister — 1,180 50 — 18 - 8 1,256
Ms. leung Ho Ki, June - 1,652 70 - 18 - 4 1,744
Mr. Li Man Wai - 944 40 - 18 - 4 1,006
Independent nonexecuiive directors
Prof. Wong Roderick Sue Cheun - 180 - - - - - 180
Mr. Kwan Chi Hong - 180 - - - - - 180
Mr. Li Kai Sing - 180 - - - - - 180
- 5,638 216 1,894 72 - 29 7,849

Notes:

(i) Discrefionary bonuses are determined on individual performance and approved by the Board of Directors.
[i)  Other benefit represents lease payments to the landlord of the quarter and miscellaneous housing allowance.
lii)  Emoluments include estimated money value of non-cash benefits of share options.

livi  No director waived or agreed fo waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 July 2023 and 2022.

Directors’ retirement benefits

No refirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any director during the year ended 31 July 2023 by a defined
confribution retirement plan operated by the Group in respect of services as a director of the Company and its
subsidiaries (2022: Nil). No other retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any director in respect of other
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings during the year

ended 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No directors’ emoluments, retirements benefits, payments or benefits in respect of the termination of direcfors’ services
were paid fo or receivable by the directors, whether in the capacity of directors or in other capacity while being
directors, during the year ended 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil|.

Consideration provided to or receivable by third parties for making available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties for making available directors’ services or services of a
person in any other capacity while being director during the year ended 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiaries
undertakings of the Company, where applicable, in favour of directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors, their controlled bodies corporate and
connected entities during the year ended 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).
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BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE (CONTINUED)

(f

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements, there were no significant transactions,
arrangements and confracts in relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted af the end of the reporting
period or at any time during the year ended 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES

(a)

Share option plan with staff (including directors)

On 21 June 2018, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the "2018
Share Option Scheme”). The 2018 Share Option Scheme is designed fo provide longterm incentives for staff (including
directors) to deliver longerm shareholder returns. Each grantee shall pay HK$1.00 upon their acceptance of share
opfions. Under the 2018 Share Option Scheme, the options are exercisable once the options become vested and
exercisable subject fo service conditions and expiring affer ten years from the date of grant. 30% of the share opfions shall
vest on the first anniversary of the opfion legal grant date; another 30% of the share options shall vest and exercisable
on the second anniversary of the option legal grant date; and the remaining 40% of the share options shall vest and
exercisable on the third anniversary of the option legal grant date. Share-based compensation expenses are recognised
over the options’ respective vesting period starfing from the confract signing date.

Movements of the share options are set out below:

2023 2022

Average Average

exercise exercise

price per price per
share option Number of share opfion Number of
HK cent options HK cent options
At beginning of the year 54.3 18,640,000 547 19,400,000
Lapsed during the year 58.8 (300,000) 63.6 (760,000)
At end of the year 54.2 18,340,000 543 18,640,000

Vested and exercisable

af end of the year 54.2 18,340,000 54.3 18,640,000

No options is granfed, exercised, forfeited and expired during the years covered by the above tables.

Save as disclosed above, share options outstanding af the end of the year have the following expiry dafe and exercise

prices:

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price 2023 2022
23 January 2019 22 January 2029 HK$0.493 14,520,000 14,700,000
1 April 2019 31 March 2029 HK$0.73 3,820,000 3,940,000

The fair values of the share option as at the grant date were HK$0.0651 and HK$0.0859 respectively. The subjectivity
and uncerfainty of the value of option should be noted to the effect that such value is subject to a number of assumptions
and with regard fo the limitation of the model.

During the year ended 31 July 2023, the tofal expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for share options were Nil (2022: HK$72,000) and were included in staff costs.
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9 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Share option plan with a consultant

On 29 July 2020, the Board of Directors of the Company resolved that the Company grant fo a Strategic Development
Consultant (the “Consultant”) share options under the PosHPO Share Option Scheme, subject to acceptance by the
Consultant and satisfaction of the certain granting conditions, to subscribe for and be allotied 20,000,000 Shares at
an exercise price of HK$0.60 per share. The grant became unconditional on 16 October 2020 upon fuffillment of all
conditions precedent, amongst others, the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the exiraordinary general
meeting convened and held on 28 September 2020 and the listing approval by the Stock Exchange on 16 October
2020. 30% of the share options shall vest in and be exercisable from the dafe on which the grant of the share options
becomes unconditional; another 30% of the share options shall vest in and be exercisable from the first anniversary of
the grant date; and the remaining 40% of the share options shall vest in and be exercisable from the second anniversary
of the grant date. Share-based compensation expenses are recognised over the opfions’ respective vesting period
starfing from grant date. Pursuant to the ferms and conditions of the grant of the 20,000,000 share options fo the
Consuliant, the Consultant undertakes, amongst others, not to fransfer or otherwise dispose of any Shares allotted fo him
pursuant to any exercise of the share option at a price per Share which is lower than HK$1.08, being the final price
per Share offered under the inifial public offering and Listing of the Company on 13 July 2018, during the period of 10
years from the grant dafe.

Movements of the share options are set out below:

2023 2022

Average Average

exercise exercise

price per price per
share option Number of share option Number of
HK cent options HK cent options
At beginning and end of the year 60 20,000,000 60 20,000,000
Lapsed during the year 60 (20,000,000) — —
At the end of the year = = — —

Vested and exercisable

at end of the year — — 60 20,000,000

No options are exercised, forfeited and expired during the years covered by the above tables.

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry date and exercise prices:

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price 2023 2022

29 July 2020 28 July 2030 HK$0.60 = 20,000,000

The fair value of the share option as af the grant date was HK$0.1417. The subjectivity and uncertainty of the value
of option should be noted to the effect that such value is subject to a number of assumptions and with regard to the
limitation of the model.

During the year ended 31 July 2023, the total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for share options were approximately Nil (2022: HK$562,000) and were included in staff costs.
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2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
Inferest expenses on lease liabilities 861 849
Inferest expenses on bank loans 1,809 375
2,670 1,224
11 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging:
Remuneration to the Company's audifor
— audit and auditrelated services 1,000 Q00
— non-audit services 15 14
Remuneration to other auditors
- audit and auditrelated services 204 268
- non-audif services 103 136
Printing and sfationery 6,935 6,794
12 TAXATION
The amounts of taxation charged/(credited) fo the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represent:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
Hong Kong profits tax
— provision for current year 192 Q1
— over-provision in prior years (94) (214)
Current income fax 98 (123)
Deferred income tax (note 23) 71 2,009
169 1,886

Hong Kong profits fax has been provided at a rafe of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the esfimated assessable profit for the year
ended 31 July 2023. Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the
rates of faxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

The taxation on the Group's loss before taxation differs from the theorefical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong

profits fax rafe as follows:

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

Loss before taxation (26,772) (24,325)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (4,417) (4,014)
Effect of different taxation rate in other territory — (292)
Income not subject to taxation (706) (1,825)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 347 140
Tax losses with no deferred tax assefs recognised 4,837 6,860
Derecognition of previously recognised deferred tax 471 1,347
Over-provision in prior years (94) (214)
Others (269) (116)
Income tax expense 169 1,886
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13 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss afiributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. In determining the weighted average number of ordinary
shares, the following have been accounted for:

2023 2022

Loss attributable to owners of the Company (HK$'000) (27,844) (25,500)

Weighted average number of shares in issue (thousand shares) 503,283 500,000
Total basic loss per share atiributable

fo owners of the Company (HK cent) (5.53) (5.10)

Diluted

Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per share to take into account the
weighted average number of addifional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2023 2022
Loss aftributable to owners of the Company (HK$'000) (27,844) (25,5006)
Total diluted loss per share atfributable to owners
of the Company (HK cent/ (5.53) (5.10)
Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator
2023 2022

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator

in caleulating basic loss per share (thousand shares) 503,283 500,000
Adjusiments for calculation of diluted loss per share:

Options fthousand shares) — —

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares
used as the denominator in calculating diluted loss per share fthousand shares) 503,283 500,000

Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 July 2023 are the same since the potential shares from options
are anti-dilutive.
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14 DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).

15

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Office and
Leasehold Furniture  laboratory Motor

Building improvements  and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

As at 31 July 2021
Cost 4,256 38,171 7,496 29,261 2,836 82,020
Accumulated depreciation (145) (31,308) (7,134) (25,315) (1,359) 65,261)
4111 6,863 362 3,946 1,477 16,759

Year ended 31 July 2022

Opening net book amount 4111 6,863 362 3,946 1,477 16,759
Disposal — — (82) [461) — (543)
Additions — 1,230 543 216 379 2,368
Depreciation (159) (4,858) (305) (1,914) (561) (7.797)
Closing net booking amount 3,952 3,235 518 1,787 1,295 10,787

As at 31 July 2022
Cost 4,256 26,251 5,145 26,239 3,215 65,106
Accumulated depreciation (304) (23,0106) (4,627) (24,452) (1,920) (54,319)
3,952 3,235 518 1,787 1,295 10,787

Year ended 31 July 2023

Opening net book amount

Disposal

Addition upon business
combination fnote 37)

Additions

Depreciation

Closing net booking amount

As at 31 July 2023
Cost

Accumulated depreciation
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16 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee.

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

The consolidated sfatement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets 2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000

Properties leases 18,513 20,336
leasehold land 12,353 12,869
30,866 33,205

Lease liabilities 2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000

Current liabilities 10,043 8,758
Non-current liabilities 9,360 12,515
19,403 21,273

During the year ended 31 July 2023, additions to the right-of-use assets were HK$9,813,000 (2022:
HK$18,380,000) and there was no written-off of right-of-use assets (2022: Nil) due to early termination of the leases.

(b)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relafing fo leases:

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

Depreciation 12,152 14,619
Inferest expense (included in finance costs) fnote 10) 861 849
Expense relafing fo shortferm leases 12,229 11,186
Expense relafing to low-value leases 27 48
Variable lease payment — Rent concession under COVID-19 = (222

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 July 2023 was HK$24,573,000 (2022: HK$25,653,000).

(c) The Group's leasing activities and how these are accounted for

The Group obtains right to control the use of assefs including teaching centres, offices, staff quarter and warehouse for
a period of time through lease arangements. lease arrangements are negotiated on an individual basis and confain a
wide range of different terms and conditions including lease payments and lease term ranging from 1 to 6 years.
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17 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

At T August 19,100 19,400
Change in fair value fnofe &) (1,100) (300)
At 31 July (Notes (i), (i) and (iii)) 18,000 19,100

Notes:

(i

(i)

(iii)

The Group measures its investment property at fair value. The fair value of the Group's investment property as at 31 July 2023 was
valued on 31 July 2023 by an independent professional qualified valuer, based on a market value assessment. The valuer applied
direct comparison approach and crossreferenced fo recent sales fransactions where applicable.

The Group's investment property carried at fair value of HK$18,000,000 was valued by fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3). The Group's policy is to recognise transfers info and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the
date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no transfers between Llevels 1, 2 and 3 during the
year.

The valuation method used by the Group to measure the fair value of the investment property is direct comparison method. It is based
on comparing the property fo be valued directly with other comparable properties, which have recently transacted. However, given the
heterogeneous nature of real estate properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required to allow for any qudlitative differences that
may affect the price likely fo be achieved by the property under consideration.

The significant unobservable input used is the unit price, which is HK$7,857 (2022: HK$8,353) per square feet.

As at 31 July 2023, the Group's investment property with carrying value of approximately HK$ 18,000,000 (2022: HK$ 19,100,000
was pledged to secure bank facilities of the Group (note 30).

Particulars of the Group's investment property for fenancy purpose as at 31 July 2023 are as follows:

Location Usage Lease Term

Offices 1, 2 and 3 on the 3rd Floor of Tai Shing Commercial Commercial Short
[Yaumati] Building, Nos. 498 & 500, Nathan Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill Licence Software Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 July 2021
Cost 1,189 — 4,437 5,626
Accumulated amortisation — — (967) (967)
Net book amount 1,189 — 3,470 4,659
Year ended 31 July 2022
Opening net book amount 1,189 — 3,470 4,659
Additions — — 547 547
Amortisation — — (474) 474)
Closing net book amount 1,189 — 3,543 4,732
As at 31 July 2022
Cost 1,189 — 4,984 6,173
Accumulated amortisation — — (1,441) (1,4471)
Net book amount 1,189 — 3,543 4,732
Year ended 31 July 2023
Opening net book amount 1,189 — 3,543 4,732
Additions 3,091 266 675 4,032
Amortisation — — (524) (524)
Closing net book amount 4,280 266 3,694 8,240
As at 31 July 2023
Cost 4,280 266 5,659 10,205
Accumulated amortisation — — (1,965) (1,965)
Net book amount 4,280 266 3,694 8,240

Impairment fest for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from business combination which primarily arises from
the acquisition of Vioo Company Limited ("Vioo"), Ottorino Consultants {International) Limited “Ottorino”) and Beducation Tour
Limited (formerly known as Murah Travel Limited) (nofe 37). Impairment testing is performed annually on goodwill allocated to

each CGU.

For the year ended 31 July 2023, the recoverable amount of the Group is defermined based on value-in-use calculation. These
calculation use cash flow projections based on the financial budget approved by management covering five-year period and
future forecast respectively.

Forecast profitability is based on past performance and expected future changes in costs and revenue. Major cash flow
projections for Vico are based on long-range financial forecasts using revenue growth rate of 2.5% in 2024 to 2026 and 3%
in 2027 to 2028, operating margin of 5.6% in 2024 and 5.4% to 6.1% in 2025 to 2028 and terminal growth rate of 2.5%.
Future cash flows are discounted at a pre-tax rate of 18% (equivalent to a postHax rate of 15%). Maijor cash flow projections
for Ottorino are based on longrange financial forecasts using revenue growth rate of 4.4% in 2024 and 2.0% in 2025 to
2028, operating margin of 17.0% to 17.6% in 2024 to 2028 and terminal growth rate of 2.5%. Future cash flows are
discounted af a pre-ax rate of 17% (equivalent fo a postiax rate of 14%).

Management believes that any reasonably possible changes in the assumptions used in the impairment test would not give rise
fo any impairment.
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19 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 July 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Place and date of Issued and  Principal activifies and Effective interest held
Name of company incorporation paid-up capital  place of operation as at 31 July
Note fi 2023 2022
Directly owned-
Beacon Group Limited BVI US$1  Investment holding company 100% 100%
6 March 2015
Indlirectly owned-
Ascent Prep Infernational Hong Kong HK$4,200,000  Provision of ancillary education 100% 100%
Education Limited 7 February 2017 services
Beacon College Limited Hong Kong HK$30,000  Provision of school business 100% 100%
13 July 1993 management services
Beacon Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Invesiment holdings company 100% 100%
11 May 2001
Diverse Lleaming Club Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000  Provision of school services 51% 51%
23 July 2014
Easy Sky Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Operation of a teaching centre 100% 100%
9 March 2001 in Kowloon Bay
Clocal Development Group Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000  Provision of education consultancy 90% 100%
28 February 2014 services
Huge Profit Asia Pacific Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Property holding 100% 100%
2 March 2020
New Creation Adverising Hong Kong HK$10,000  Advertising agency 100% 100%
Agency Limited 17 November 2005
JR (CB) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000  Operation of a teaching centre 100% 100%
27 September 2002 located in Causeway Bay
Beducation Tour Limited Hong Kong HK$500,000  Provision of fravel four services 51% —
(formerly known as 6 August 2019
Murah Travel Limited) fnote 37)
JR (MK) Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Operation of teaching centres 100% 100%
31 July 2002 located in Mongkok
R (ST) Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000  Operation of a feaching centre 100% 100%
29 May 2002 located in Shatin
JR (TM] Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000  Operation of teaching centres 100% 100%
19 June 2002 located in Tuen Mun,
Tsuen Wan and Tseung Kwan O
R YL Llimited Hong Kong HK$2,000  Operation of a teaching 100% 100%
19 June 2002 centres located in Yuen Long
Ottorino Consultants (International]  Hong Kong HK$3,188,574  Provision of education services 51% —
Limited fnote 37) 15 February 2022
PHD Online Limited [Note (i) Hong Kong HK$25,000  Operation of a online 100% 60%
23 April 2020 learning platform
Vioo Company limited Hong Kong HK$10,000  Provision of information technology 60% 60%
17 April 2008 services
Notes:

(i) All the above subsidiaries’ principal place of operation are in Hong Kong.

(ii) During the year ended 31 July 2023, the Company bought the 40% share PHD Online Limited from Dr Lam Yat Ming with the purchase

price of HK$10,000. After that, PHD Online Limited became the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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20 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

21

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

At the beginning of the year 271 —
Additions (Note (i) 5,100 1
Dividends from associates (200) —
Share of investments accounted for using the equity method (67) 270
At the end of the year 5,104 271

Note [i):  During the year, the Group subscribed 30% of the equity interest in Linkedu Overseas Education Limited ("Linkedu”) at a fotal

(a)

(b)

consideration of HK$5,100,000. Linkedu is principally engaged in provision of services in Hong Kong relating to overseas studies
and immigrafion under the business name of “LINKEDU".

Particulars of associates of the Group as at 31 July 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Issued and Effective inferest held
Name of company Place of incorporation paid-up capital  Principal activities as at 31 July
2023 2022
Honey's Studio Limited ~ Hong Kong $1,000  Provision of childhood inferview 40% 40%
services
King's Cross Academy ~ Hong Kong $1,000  Provision of childhood education 40% 40%
Limited services
linkedu Overseas Hong Kong $5,813,700  Provision of overseas studies 30% —
Education Limited and immigration services

The direcfors of the Company were of the view that as af 31 July 2023, there was no individual associate that was
material to the Group, the Group's share of result of the associates are summarised below:

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
[Loss)/profit and total comprehensive (loss)/income (67) 270

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a)

(b)

Classification of financial assets at FVOCI

A financial asset at FVOCI comprises equity securities which is not held for trading, and which the Group has
irrevocably elected af initial recognition fo recognise in this category. This is a strategic investment and the Group
considers this classification to be more relevant.

Equity investment at FVOCI

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000

Unlisted security
At beginning of year 194 285
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income fnote 34) (128) @1)
At end of year 66 194

The unlisted security represents equity share of an unlisted Hong Kong company, which is denominated in HK dollar.

The fair value is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (see note 3.3).
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
Non-current assets
Contingent consideration receivable (Note (a)) 335 —
Current assets
Listed equity securities 17,092 —
17,427 —
During the year, the following gains were recognised in profit or loss:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fair value changes and disposal gains on equity invesiments at FVPL recognised in
other gains/(losses) - net fnote 6) 5,089 —
Nofe:
[a):  The balance represents the contingent consideration receivable in relation to the acquisition of Ottorino Consultants (International) Limited

["Ottorino”,"Target Company”).

On 25 October 2022, Beacon Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Purchaser”), entered
into the subscription and sale and purchase agreement with the Target Company, and Mr. Cheng Hong Fu and Ms. Ng Mei
Yee (fogether as "Vendors”). Pursuant to which, the Vendors guaranteed fo the benefit of the Purchaser that (i) the operating
cash flow of Ottorino during the period from 15 February 2022 and ending on 31 December 2022 (the “Relevant Cash
Flow") and (i) the audited annual net profit after tax of Otiorino (the “Actual Net Profit’) for each of the three financial years
ending on 31 July 2023, 2024 and 2025 respectively (the “Guarantee Period”), shall each not be less than HK$5,000,000
(the "Guaranteed Sum”). If the Guaranteed Sum could not be met, the Vendor will compensate the Purchaser for the shortfall
for an amount equivalent to the difference between the Guaranteed Sum and the Relevant Cash Flow or each of such financial
years during the Guarantee Period in respect of the Actual Net Profit multiplied by 1.275 times.

The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable was arrived at based on the discounted cash flow of the expected
future economic benefits that would flow info the Group by applying the probability-weighted average method in achieving the
Guaranteed Sum taking info consideration of the credit risk effect of the Vendors.

The estimates are based on a discount rate of 16% and assumed probability-adjusted Guaranteed Sum in Ottorino from Nil to

HK$5,000,000.
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23 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabiliies are offset when taxes relate to the same taxation authority and where offsetting is
legally enforceable. The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown separately on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

Deferred income tax assets 4,594 4,660
Deferred income tax liabilities (16) (1
4,578 4,649

At beginning of the year 4,649 6,658
Charged to profit or loss fnote 12) (71) (2,009)
At end of the year 4,578 4,649

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to offseting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during
the year were as follows:

Deferred income tax assets

(Accelerated)/
decelerated
accounting Share-based  Provision for
depreciation Tax Loss compensation  doubtful debt Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

At T August 2021 2,050 2,285 1,924 409 6,668
Charged to profit or loss (690) — (1,242) (76) (2,008)
At 31 JU|y 2022 1,360 2,285 682 333 4,660
Credited/(charged) fo profit or loss 444 591 (470) (40) 525
At 31 July 2023 1,804 2,876 212 293 5,185

Deferred income tax liabilities

Decelerated Changes in

accounting fair value
depreciation of FVPL Total

HK$’000

At 1 August 2021 (10) — (10)
Charged to profit or loss (1) — ()
At 31 July 2022 (17) — (171)
Charged to profit or loss (5) (591) (596)
At 31 July 2023 (16) (591) (607)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax liabilities (continued)

Deferred income tax assefs are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income fax assets of approximately
HK$21,375,000 (2022: HK$16,956,000) in respect of tax losses amounting to HK$131,356,000 (2022:
HK$101,004,000] as at 31 July 2023. Unrecognised tax losses amounting to approximately Nil (2022: HK$3,433,000)
will be expired within five years from 31 July 2023, while the remaining balance can be carried forward indefinitely for
offsefling against future taxable income. The management considered not to recognise as those companies with losses carried
forward are not expected to generate future taxable income. The Group recognised deferred tax assets only 1o the extent the
management believes it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused
tax credits can be ufilised.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
Accounts receivables 2,626 2,499

There is no credit period granted as the income from private supplementary secondary school education services and private
secondary day school services are normally received in advance through sefflement in cash, cheque or credit cards. As at 31
July 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of the accounts receivables based on invoice date were as follows:

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

1 - 30 days 1,893 2,358
31 - 60 days 422 91
Over 60 days 311 50
2,626 2,499

The Group applies the HKFRS @ simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all accounts receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, accounts receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The ECL rates are based on the past repayment history and the historical credit losses experience. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forwardHooking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to
seffle the receivables. The ECL provided on a collective basis is insignificant as there has been no history of material default
from accounts receivables.

For accounts receivables relating to accounts with objective evidence that the Group is unable to confact some of the students
to recover the debts, they are assessed individually for impairment allowance. Accordingly, no individual provision were made
as at 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).

The carrying amount of the Group's accounts receivables was denominated in the following currencies:

2023 2022

HK$’'000 HK$'000

Hong Kong dollar 2,626 2,482
British Pound = 17
2,626 2,499

The Group does not hold any collateral as security for accounts receivables.
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25 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

Other receivables (i) 9,033 10,896
Deposits and prepayments (i) 11,212 13,442
20,245 24,338

Less: Allowance for impairment (iii) (1,774) (2,019
18,471 22,319

Less: non-current portion (2,068) (2,064)
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables — current portion 16,403 20,255

Notes:

(i) As at 31 July 2023, other receivables of HK$2,126,000 (2022: HK$2,291,000) represent amounts due from tutors which arise from
variable expenses incurred by the Group on behalf of the tutors. Allowance for impairment of HK$ 1,774,000 (2022: HK$2,019,000)
has been made. As at 31 July 2023, other receivable includes an amount of HK$8,000 (2022: 379,000) due from associates and a
loan to an associate of HK$400,000 (2022: HK$400,000).

(ii) Deposits and prepayments mainly represent deposits for utilities, lease payments, building management fees, prepayments for service
fees, renovation, licence fees, advertising and others.

i) Movement in allowance for impairment that has been recognised for other receivables under ECL model is disclosed in note 3.1(b).

As at 31 July 2023, deposits of HK$6,920,000 (2022: HK$8,282,000), prepayments of HK$2,221,000 (2022:
HK$3,096,000) and other receivables of HK$7,262,000 (2022: HK$8,877,000) are expected fo be recovered within
one year.

The carrying amount of the Group's other receivables and deposits was denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

The maximum exposure fo credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above.

26 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
Cash and cash equivalents 75,283 103,888

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances approximate their fair values and are denominated in the following

currencies:
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
Hong Kong dollar 69,856 99,713
Renminbi 1,750 668
British pound 2,001 1,081
Australian dollar 1,473 1,241
United States dollar 162 220
New Zealand dollar 13 53
Canadian dollar 11 12
Swiss Franc 17 —
75,283 103,888
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27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

As at 31 July 2023 and 2022, contract liabilities represents the fee collected for education services that have not yet been
rendered before respective year ends.

The following table shows the amount of the revenues recognised in the current reporting period relating to carriedforward
confract liabilities:

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000

Revenues recognised that were included in the contract liability balance af the
beginning of the year 7,285 15,352

Amount of HK$ 12,896,000 is expected to be recognised as revenue within one year as all related contracts have a duration
of one year or less.

28 OTHER PAYABLES

2023 2022

Nofe HK$'000 HK$'000

Other payables (i) 12,118 14,648
Provision of reinstatement cost (i) 2,071 2,334
Current portion 14,189 16,982

Notes:
(i) Other payables mainly represent accrued staff costs, printing expenses, and advertising expenses, efc.

(i) Included in other payables is a current portion of provision of reinstatement cost of HK$2,071,000 (2022: HK$2,334,000).
Movement of provision of reinstatement cost is as follows:

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

Balance as at beginning of the year 2,784 4,613
Additions 228 401

Utilisation — (2,230)
Balance as at closing of the year 3,012 2,784

Less: non-current portion [nofe 29) (941) 450)
Current portion 2,071 2,334
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29 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

Provision of reinstatement cost [note 28) 941 450

Rental deposits = 135

Other non-current liabilities 941 585
30 BORROWINGS

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

Secured bank loan 6,565 7,074

Unsecured bank loans 57,000 48,000

63,565 55,074

As at 31 July 2023, the secured and unsecured bank loans bears interest on a floating basis and its effective interest rate is
3.54% per annum (2022: 2.67% per annum). The bank loans were classified as current liabilities because the corresponding
bank facilities agreements contain repayment on demand clauses. The carrying amounts of bank loans approximate their fair
values and are denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

As at 31 July 2023, the Group had access to an undrawn bank overdraft facility amounted to Nil (2022: HK$6,000,000).

This facility may be drawn at any time and may be ferminated by the bank without nofice.

As at 31 July 2023, the secured bank loan of HK$6,565,000 (2022: HK$7,074,000) and bank overdraft facility of Nil
(2022: HK$6,000,000) were secured by a pledge of the investment property of the Group (note 17 {ii)) and corporate
guarantee given by the Company.

As at 31 July 2023, the unsecured bank loans of HK$57,000,000 (2022: HK$48,000,000) were 100% guaranteed by
the Hong Kong Government and by three of the controlling shareholders of the Company.

31 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets:
Financial assets at amortised cost
Accounts receivables 2,626 2,499
Deposits and other receivables 16,250 19,197
Cash and cash equivalents 75,283 103,888
Financial asset at FVOCI 66 104
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 17,427 —
Total 111,652 125,778
Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Other payables and other non-current liabilities
[exclude provision for reinstatement cost) 12,118 14,783
Borrowings 63,565 55,074
lease liabilities 19,403 21,273
Total 95,086 Q1,130
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34

SHARE CAPITAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Number of
Note shares HK$’000
Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 at 31 July 2022 and 2023 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares at 31 July 2021 and 2022 500,000,000 120,956
Issue of shares at 30 November 2022 (i) 3,984,000 1,793
Issue of shares at 31 May 2023 (i) 3,648,000 1,386
Ordinary shares af 31 July 2023 507,632,000 124,135

Notes:

(i) On 30 November 2022, the Company fulfilled all of the conditions precedent in relation to the acquisition of 51% equity interest in
Ottorino (note 37(b)). The consideration included issuance of 3,984,000 shares in the Company upon complefion.

i) On 31 May 2023, the Company fulfilled all of the condifions precedent in relation fo the investment of 30% equity interest in Linkedu (nofe

20). The consideration included issuance of 3,648,000 shares in the Company upon complefion.

ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:

2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
At beginning of the year (28,078) (10,737)
Loss for the year (27,844) (25,500)
Transaction with non-controlling interests (572) —
Release of share-based compensation reserve upon
the lapse of share options 2,857 8,165
At end of the year (53,637) (28,078)
OTHER RESERVES
Financial Share-based
asset at compensation
FVOCI reserve reserve Other reserve Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
At 31 July 2021 (215) 11,662 5,229 16,676
Share-based compensation fnote 9) — 634 — 634
Change in the fair value of equity
investment at FVOCI (@71) — — 1)
Release of share-based compensation
reserve upon lapse of share option — (8,165) — (8,165)
At 31 July 2022 (300) 4,131 5,229 Q.054
Exchange reserve — — 506 5006
Change in the fair value of equity
investment at FVOCI (128) — — (128)
Release of share-based compensation
reserve upon lapse of share option — (2,857) — (2,857)
At 31 July 2023 (434) 1,274 5,735 6,575
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35 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 July 2023, the total non-controlling interests was HK$ 1,424,000 (2022: HK$(1,605,000)). For the year ended 31
July 2023, the total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests was HK$Q03,000 (2022: HK$(705,000)).
The non-confrolling inferests as at 31 July 2023 in respect of Ottorino Consultants {Infernational) Limited, Glocal Development
Group limited, Vioo Company Limited, Assessment International (HK) Limited, Music Origin Limited, June Wing Education
Limited and Diverse Leaming Club Llimited (2022: Glocal Education Services Limited, Glocal Development Group Limited, Vioo
Company Limited, Assessment International [HK] Limited, Music Origin Limited, PhD Online Limited, Academic Advisers Limited,
June Wing Education Limited and Diverse Leaming Club Limited) are not individually material.

36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Cash used in operations

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

Loss before taxation (26,772) (24,325)

Adjustments for:

— Fair value gain of financial assefs af fair value through profit or loss (3,583) —

— Gain on disposal of financial assefs af fair value through profit or loss (1,506) —

— Amortisation of intangible assets 524 474

— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,654 7,797

— Depreciation of rightofuse assefs 12,152 14,619

— Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment = 528

— Share-based compensation expenses = 634

— Inferest income (1,440) (175)

— Exchange differences - net 499 274

— Inferest expenses on bank loans 1,809 375

— Inferest expenses on lease liabilities 861 849

— Share of profits of associates (2,535) (270)

— Reversal of impairment losses on financial assets (245) 460)

— Decrease in fair value of investment property 1,100 300

— Variable lease payment - Rent concession under COVID-19 = (222

— Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (213) —
Change in working capital

— Accounts receivables (127) 899

— Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 6,090 (1,762

— Contract liabilities 4,222 (8,067)

— Other payables (3,277) 217

— Other non-current deposits (4) 399

Cash used in operations (8,791) (7,9106)
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36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Liabilities from financing activities

Interest Lease
payable Borrowings liabilities Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
Balance at 1 August 2021 9 7,585 17,085 24,679
Cash flows (375) 47 489 (14,419) 32,695
Non-cash movements 375 — 18,607 18,982
Balance at 31 July &

1 August 2022 9 55,074 21,273 76,356
Cash flows (1,809 8,491 (12,317) (5,635)
Non-cash movements 1,809 — 10,447 12,256
Balance at 31 July 2023 9 63,565 19,403 82,977

Non-cash transactions

Other than addition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities described in note 16 and the issue of shares as
consideration for acquisition of Ottorino and Linkedu as described in note 32, there were no material non-cash
transactions for the year ended 31 July 2023.

37 BUSINESS COMBINATION

(a)

Acquisition of 100% interest in Beducation Tour Limited (formerly known as Murah Travel Limited)
(“Beducation”)

Pursuant to the share purchase agreement dated 15 May 2023, Diverse learning Club, a subsidiary of the Group,
acquired 100% equity interest in Beducation af a cash consideration of HK$333,000. Beducation is principally
engaged in the provision of fravel four services in Hong Kong including the provision of overseas exchange four, local
travel tour. The fransaction was completed on 15 June 2023.

(i) Details of net assets acquired and related goodwill

Net assets
acquired

and goodwill
as at the
acquisition date

HK$'000

Total purchase consideration 333
Less: Fair value of net assefs acquired (261)

Goodwill on acquisition 72

None of the goodwill is expected 1o be deductible for tax purposes.
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37 BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Acquisition of 100% interest in Beducation Tour Limited (formerly known as Murah Travel Limited)
(“Beducation”) (continued)

(i) Details of net assets acquired and related goodwill (continued)

The assets and liabilities of Beducation at the acquisition date were as follows:

Fair value

as at the

acquisition date

HK$'000

Cash and cash equivalents 2
Infangible assets 266

Other payables (7)
Total identifiable net assets 261

Net cash outflow

HK$000
Purchase consideration seffled in cash 333
less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired (2)
Total nef cash outflow for the year ended 31 July 2023 331

(i) Revenue and profit contribution

Beducation contributed revenue of approximately HK$ 138,000 and profit before taxation of approximately
HK$37,000 to the Group for the period from the completion date of the acquisition on 15 June 2023 1o 31 July
2023.

(b)  Acquisition of 51% interest in Ottorino Consultants (International) Limited (“Ottorino”)

Pursuant fo the share purchase agreement dated 25 October 2022, the Group acquired 51% equity inferest in Otforino
at a cash consideration of HK$3,187,500 and issue of 3,984,000 shares in the Company upon completion.
In addition, the vendors provided certain guarantees on cash flow and profit on Ottorino which are valued at
HK$335,000 and as a deduction to the purchase consideration. Ottorino is principally engaged in the provision of
educational services in Hong Kong, which include those relating to top-up degrees, professional or vocational fraining,
onhe-job English training, professional examination courses and other professional courses, and academic, interest and

activity-based classes, in different indusiry disciplines under the business name of “1% Group Education”. The fransactfion
was completed on 30 November 2022.
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37 BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

(b)  Acquisition of 51% interest in Ottorino Consultants (International) Limited (“Ottorino”) (continued)

(i) Details of net assets acquired and related goodwill

Net assets
acquired
and goodwill
as at the
acquisition date
HK$'000

Purchase consideration:
49% of cash paid 1,562
Ordinary share issued 1,793
less: contingent consideration receivable fnofe 22) (335)
3,020
less: 51% of net identifiable assets acquired )
Goodwill on acquisition 3,019

The goodwill is mainly affributable to the workforce and the expected future profitability of the acquired business.

It will not be deductible for tax purposes.

The assefs and liabilities of Ottorino at the acquisition date were as follows:

Net assets

acquired

and goodwill

as at the

acquisition date

HK$'000

Property, plant and equipment 361
Rightofuse assets 2,296
Deposits, prepayment and other receivable 1,993
Cash and cash equivalents 102
Other payables (1,068)
Contract liabilities (1,389
lease liabilities (2,294)

Total identifiable net assets

1

Net cash outflow

HK$000
Purchase consideration settled in cash 3,188
less: cash and cash equivalents acquired (102)
Tofal net cash outflow for the year ended 31 July 2023 3,086
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37 BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

(b)  Acquisition of 51% interest in Ottorino Consultants (International) Limited (“Ottorino”) (continued)
(i) Revenue and profit contribution

Ottorino contributed revenue of approximately HK$5,092,000 and profit before taxation of approximately
HK$826,000 to the Group for the period from the completion date of the acquisition on 30 November 2022 to
31 July 2023.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 August 2022, consolidated proforma revenue and profit for the year ended
31 July 2023 would have been HK$8,066,000 and HK$660,000 respectively.

38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control, jointly control or exert significant influence over the other party
in holding power over the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable refurns from its involvement with the investee; and the ability
fo use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the invesfor's returns. Parties are also considered to be related if they
are subject to common control or joint control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

[a)  Save as disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report, the major related parties that had transactions and balances with the
Group were as follows:

Name of the related parties Relationship with the Group
Dragonway Bliss Limited (“Dragonway Bliss”) A related company partially owned by Ms. Leung Ho Ki, June
Dragon Field Corporation Limited A related company owned by Ms. leung Ho Ki, June, Mr. Tam Wai

Lung, and Mr. Ng King Hang

The following is a summary of significant related party fransactions during the years ended 31 July 2023 and 2022
carried by the Group in the normal course of its business:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

Licence income from Jiangxi Dragonway Bliss [Note (i) 91 Q1
Payments of lease liabilities to Dragon Field Corporation Limited (Note fiij) 2,400 2,400

Notes:
(i) Licence income are recognised with reference to market rates of similar projects.

li)  The payments of lease liabilities to the related company were charged at a rate as mutually agreed.

(b)  The Group considers the executive direcfors as the key management and their compensation are disclosed in note 8(al.
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39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY

Statement of financial position

As at 31 July 2023

2023 2022
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Assets
Non-current asset
Investment in a subsidiary 20,700 20,700
Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 57,551 111,190
Cash and cash equivalents 291 322
57,842 111,512
Total assets 78,542 132,212
Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 124,135 120,956
Other reserves (a) 21,974 24,831
Accumulated losses (b) (67,612) (13,620)
Total equity 78,497 132,167
Current liability
Other payables 45 45
Total liability 45 45
Total equity and liability 78,542 132,212

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 27 October 2023 and were
signed on ifs behalf.

Mr. Tam Wai Lung Mes. Leung Ho Ki, June
Director Director
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(a) Other reserves

Share-based
compensation Other reserve
reserve (Note (i) Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 July 2021 11,662 20,700 32,362
Share-based compensation 634 — 634
Release of share-based compensation reserve upon
lapse of share option (8,165) — (8,165)
At 31 July 2022 4,131 20,700 24,831
Release of share-based compensation reserve upon
lapse of share opfion (2,857) — (2,857)
At 31 July 2023 1,274 20,700 21,974
Note:

(i) Other reserve of the Company mainly represents the difference between the value of the issued share capital of Beacon Group
Limited acquired and the value of the Company’s shares in exchange, adjusted for dividends declared and sefiled during the
year ended 31 July 2017.

(b)  (Accumulated losses)/retained earnings

Movements in refained eamings were as follows:

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

At beginning of the year (13,620) 13,340
Loss for the year (53,992) (26,960)
At end of the year (67,612) (13,620)

40 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 July 2023 (2022: Nil).

41 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no material events from 31 July 2023 up fo the date of these financial statements.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited results and of the assets and liabilities of the last four financial years as extracted from the published
audited financial statements, is set out below. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

RESULTS
For the year ended 31 July
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue 131,162 141,829 177,398 287,036 371,728
Other income 11,050 15,011 19,579 13,753 5,290
Other gains/(losses) - net 3,490 (1,102) (325) (4,521) (29)
Operating expenses and share of profits/(losses)
of associates (172,47 4) (180,063) (225,442) (318,437) (364,5706)
[Loss)/profit before taxation (26,772) (24,325) (28,790) (22,169) 12,413
[Loss)/profit for the year (26,941) (26,211) (27,555) (19,791) 10,530
OPERATIONAL INFORMATION
For the year ended 31 July
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Total number of session enrollments (‘000) 132 179 225 405 546
Average number of sessions enrolled per student 7.8 9.9 9.8 11.6 10.9
Maximum classroom capacity (Nofe i) 2,208 2,411 3,032 3,595 3,866
Revenue (HK$'000) per average
classroom capacity 39 47 48 o7 82

Note:

(i) Being the average of the maximum number of students permitted in our classrooms as at beginning and closing of the year pursuant fo the
certificates of accommodation issued to our schools, and for school(s) in which the application for the certificate(s) of accommodation is/are
being made, the maximum number of students in our classrooms that we have applied for.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Non-current assets 78,295 /75,013 /9,678 104,642 68,134
Current assets 111,405 126,664 103,643 144,436 181,252
Total assets 189,700 201,677 183,321 249,078 249,386
Total equity 78,497 100,327 125,094 155,849 187,521
Current liabilities 100,886 88,239 50,917 76,030 58,194
Non-current liabilities 10,317 13,111 6,410 17,199 3,671
Total equity and total liabilities 189,700 201,677 183,321 249 078 249,386
Net Current assets 10,519 38,425 52,726 68,406 123,058

OPERATING CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 July
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities (8,793) (6,956) 13,321 33,658 19,300

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

For the year ended 31 July
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Payments for property, plant and equipment

and leasehold land 1,932 2,368 20,553 5,245 4,598
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GLOSSARY

Unless specified otherwise, capitalised terms used in this Annual Report shall have the same meanings as ascribed in the Prospectus.

This glossary contains certain definitions and other terms used in this Annual Report in connection with our Group and our business.

The terminology and their meanings may not correspond to standard industry meanings or usage of those ferms.

"academic year(s)”

AGM”
"Articles of Association”
"Board”

"Companies Ordinance”

“Company” or “our Company”

"Deed of Acting in Concert”

"Director(s)"
"EDB"

"Exemption Order”

“Education Ordinance”

"Group”, "our Group”,

" nou

" u o
we our , or us

’

“"HKDSE"

"HKDSE Examinations”

"HKEAA"

infensive course(s)

“|ELTS”

”lT”

“lesson(s)”

the academic school year in Hong Kong which typically commences in Sepfember and
concludes in June of the following year

the annual genero\ meefing of the Company
the articles of association of the Company, as amended or supplemented from time to time
the board of Direcfors

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited #5354 & B1ER G BR 22 B (formerly known as Beacon
Group Holdings Limited 32 & EiFR AR 2 F]), an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman lslands with limited liability on 15 April 2015

the deed of acting in concert dated 2 October 2015 executed by the Core Shareholders,
whereby they confirmed the existence of their acting in concert arrangements

the director(s) of the Company
the Education Bureau of the Government

the Education (Exemption) (Private Schools Offering Non-Formal Curriculum) Order
(Chapter 279F of the Llaws of Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time

the Education Ordinance (Chapter 279 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

the Company and ifs subsidiaries

Hong Kong Diploma of Secondary Education

examinations administered by the HKEAA in each subject offered under the HKDSE

curriculum

the Hong Kong Examinations and Assessment Authority, an independent, selffinancing
statutory body which administers public examinations in Hong Kong

courses which are normally organised several months before school assessments or the
HKDSE Examinations are held, and they are designed to help students review the key areas
of a subject. The courses focus on specific topics of each subject, and provide insight on
examination techniques and topics as well as providing additional preparation materials.
Infensive courses typically comprise three to four individual lessons, or an individual lesson
each running for approximately 75 to Q0 minutes

International English language Tesfing System, an international standardised fest of English
language proficiency

information technology

a lesson typically runs for approximately 60 to 75 minutes
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“Listing”
“listing Date”

"Listing Rules”
"Main Board”

“maximum classroom capacity”

"Model Code”

“Prospectus”

“regular coursels)”
"Secondary (1, 2, 3, 4, 5 or )"
or“S(1,2,3,4, 50r6)

"secondary day school education”

"session(s)"

session enrollment(s)
SEQ”

"Share(s)”
"Shareholder(s)”
"Stock Exchange”

"summer course(s)”

“Top Five Tutors”

“Top One Tutor”
“unique student(s)”

"VIP self-study servicels)”

BExcellent Group Holdings Limited

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board on the Listing Date
13 July 2018

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchonge of Hong Kong Limited,
as amended or supplemented from time fo time

the stock market [excluding the option market] operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operated in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

the maximum number of students permitted in our classrooms pursuant to the certificates of
accommodation issued to our schools, and for school(s) in which the application for the
certificate(s) of accommodation is/are being made, the maximum number of students in our
classrooms that we have applied for

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

the prospectus of the Company dated 30 June 2018

courses which are offered from September fo June. In general, regular course consists of four
individual lessons, each running for approximately 60 to 75 minutes

the respective secondary 1 to ¢ [as the case may be] school levels under the 334
System

secondary school education under the formal secondary school curriculum set forth by the

EDB

for supplementary secondary school education services, a session represents an independent
course which consists of a number of lessons each running for no longer than a month; for
day school services, a session represents a monthly duration of a course which runs in the
academic year

a student may enroll in a number of our sessions resulfing in a number of enrollments. As
such, the number of enrollment(s) may not correspond fo the number of student(s)

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from fime to time

ordinary share(s) of nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company
holder(s) of the Sharel(s)
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

courses which are designed to prepare students for the forthcoming academic year and
are typically offered from mid-July until August and occasionally ended in September. In
general, a summer course typically comprises three to six individual lessons, each running for
approximately 60 to 75 minutes

our fufors who generated the fop five highest revenues for our Group from courses and
products

our tutor who generated the highest revenue for our Group from courses and products
students who paid for at least one session

"videorinduced-pedagogy” selfstudy services, which enable students fo view pre-recorded
lessons on an individual basis on computer terminals af selected teaching centres
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